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RESPONSE OF VERIZON PENNSYLVANIA INC. TO SET I, INTERROGATORY NO.
WORLDCOM NETWORK SERVICES, INC. DATED NOVEMBER 25, 2003 SUBMITTED 
1-00030099 BEFORE THE PA PUC (UNE)

ANSWERED BY: Carlo Michael Peduto, II
POSITION: INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT

REQUEST:

For each Verizon wire center in Pennsylvania, please identify the 
available unused collocation space, in terms of total square feet 
and type(s) of collocation for which available space can be used.

VERIZON STATED THE FOLLOWING OBJECTION ON 12/05/03:

See Specific Objections 6 and 7. Subject to and without waiving the 
foregoing General and Specific Objections, Verizon will provide a response to 
this interrogatory.

RESPONSE:

The total amount of unused space for collocation at any given time, in any 
given office, is difficult to determine due to the numerous variables that 
impact space availability. Providing this information would require a 
special study and would only be valid for a very short period of time.
Verizon makes every attempt to provide collocation space when requested by 
converting administrative space, removing unused obsolete equipment and by 
making structural adjustments to an office.
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RESPONSE OF VERIZON PENNSYLVANIA INC. TO SET I, INTERROGATORY NO. 46 OF MCI 
WORLDCOM NETWORK SERVICES, INC. DATED NOVEMBER 25, 2003 SUBMITTED IN DOCKET 
1-00030099 BEFORE THE PA PUC (UNE)

ANSWERED BY: Carlo Michael Peduto, II 
POSITION: INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT

Of the dedicated transport routes listed in Verizon's Attachment 5 to its 
testimony, please state the total number of routes that have one end in 
Pennsylvania and the other end in another state. Please provide a listing of 
all interstate routes.

VERIZON STATED THE FOLLOWING OBJECTION ON 12/05/03:

Subject to and without waiving its General Objections, Verizon will provide 
non-public, non-privileged information.

There are 33 routes (INTRALATA) with one end in PA and the other end in DE. 
The listing is provided as Attachment MCI-46.

REQUEST:

RESPONSE:

48
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AMBLPAAM AMBLER WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
ARMRPAAR ARDMORE 1 WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
BCYNPABC BALA CYNWYD WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
HTBOPAHB HATBORO WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
PHLAPALO LOCUST 1 WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
PHLAPAMK MARKET 1 WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
PHLAPAPE PENNYPACKER1 WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
AMBLPAAM AMBLER NWRKDENB NEWARK
AMBLPAAM AMBLER TLVLDETV TALLEYVILLE
ARMRPAAR ARDMORE 1 NWRKDENB NEWARK
ARMRPAAR ARDMORE 1 TLVLDETV TALLEYVILLE
BCYNPABC BALA CYNWYD NWRKDENB NEWARK
BCYNPABC BALA CYNWYD TLVLDETV TALLEYVILLE
BRYMPABM BRYN MAWR WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
CNSHPACN CONSHOHOCKEN WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
HTBOPAHB HATBORO NWRKDENB NEWARK
HTBOPAHB HATBORO TLVLDETV TALLEYVILLE
KGPRPAKP KING OF PRUSSIA WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
NRTWPANR NORRISTOWN WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
NWRKDENB NEWARK PHLAPALO LOCUST 1
NWRKDENB NEWARK PHLAPAMK MARKET 1
NWRKDENB NEWARK PHLAPAPE PENNYPACKER 1
NWRKDENB NEWARK WAYNPAWY WAYNE
NWRKDENB NEWARK WCHSPAWC WESTCHESTER
PAOLPAPA PAOLI WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
PHLAPALO LOCUST 1 TLVLDETV TALLEYVILLE
PHLAPAMK MARKET 1 TLVLDETV TALLEYVILLE
PHLAPAPE PENNYPACKER 1 TLVLDETV TALLEYVILLE
TLVLDETV TALLEYVILLE WAYNPAWY WAYNE
TLVLDETV TALLEYVILLE WCHSPAWC WEST CHESTER
TRPRPATR TROOPER WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
WAYNPAWY WAYNE WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
WCHSPAWC WESTCHESTER WLMGDEWL WILMINGTON
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D. C.

January 23, 2004

Via Facsimile 215.563.2658

Suzan DeBmk Paiva, Esqi 
Verizon Pennsylvania Inc.
1717 Arch Streel 32 NW 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103
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Rc: Investigation into the Obligation of Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers to
Unbundle Network Elements, Docket No. 1-0030099

Dear Ms. Paiva:

In response to Vehzon's subpoena, this forwards the additional information 
provided on behalf of the five (5) TelCove operating companies within die 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The five (5) companies are Adelphia Business 
Solutions Operations, Inc. (the entity which provides services pursuant to the 
Commonwealth Telecommunication contracts); Adelphia Business Solutions 
Investment, LLC (the entity which provides service to general business customers 
in Pittsburgh/Erie market and Central Pennsylvania); Adelphia Business Solutions 
Operations, Inc. (the rural certificate holder); PECO TelCove (the entity which 
)rovidcs_service to general business customers in the Philadelphia/Allentown 

d Susquehanna Adelphia Business Solutions (the entity which provides 
general business customers in the York market) (collectively, 

). This information is provided as a supplement to infomiation provided 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s ("PUC or 

data requests in the above proceeding (which prior 
information is detailed below). TelCove submits that the infomiation provided 
herein is as complete and comprehensive as possible. TelCove regrets that the 
information could not be produced sooner.

IAN 3 0 m resPonse t0 tlie *
Commission”) preliminary da

TelCove. however, would like Verizon and the other parties involved in diis 
proceeding to understand the challenges which TelCove faced in gathering this 
information. First, TelCove understands and appreciates the importance of this 
information to the parties and to the Commission in this proceeding. However, at 
ihis time, TelCove is in the process of emerging from bankruptcy. To accomplish 
this emergence, it is endeavoring to timely provide required infomiation and filings 
to the Bankruptcy Court and to the parties in ’.he bankruptcy pursuant to established 
time constraints over which TelCove has no control. Meeting these deadlines is 
critica: to TelCove’s ability to emerge from the bankruptcy a stronger and more 
robust provider of telecommunication services within the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania. Moreover, in an effort to he both responsive and cost effective, 
TelCove is meeting these herculean demands with limited resources both internally 
and externally. As such, the information which was originally requested in the 
Commission's Discovery Requests directed to non-parties had to be generated by
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means of these same limited resources, while at the same time meeting the 
deadlines imposed by the Federal Bankruptcy Court.

Additionally, the information requested in the Commission’s data requests was not 
information that was readily available to the TelCove companies. To be able to 
respond, TelCove was required to allocate significant resources including extensive 
man hours and personnel to gather and develop the information. TelCove regrets 
that the information was not able to be provided as timely as everyone had hoped, 
but requests a measure of accommodation from the Commission and the parlies 
because of the other exigent circumstances with which the TelCove companies are 
dealing.

Also, as a point of clarification, Jeffrey Heins is not the Custodian of Records for 
the companies. However, Mr. Heins voluntarily accepted service of the subpoenas 
and in response thereto has done a yeoman's task of gathering the information from 
the various business units of the company. As such, in response to the 
Commission's data requests and the subpoena issued to Mr. Heins by Verizon.
TelCove has provided the following information.

1. One January 13, 2004, Mr. Heins provided an Affidavit which confirms 
that none of the TelCove companies provide voice-grade service to residential 
customers. A copy of the Affidavit is attached hereto as Exhibit 1;

2. Via e-mail, Mr. Heins provided Verizon with additional information which 
the TelCove companies had filed with the Commission on November 14, 2003, in 
response to the Commission's original data requests, but which information, for 
reasons unknown, was not distributed to Verizon and the other panics. Copies of 
that information is attached hereto as Exhibit 2;

3. An e-mail dated January 15, 2004, from me to Verizon with respect to 
clarification of some of the information which had originally been provided to the 
Commission. A copy of that e-mail is provided as Exhibit 3; and

4. The enclosed additional information which is being forw-arded today 
(Exhibit 4 attached).

for purposes of analyzing this information, TelCove's reference to LSOs is 
equivalent to the definition of Wire Center set forth in the PUC’s data requests. 
Additionally. Exhibit 4 (which is a revision of old Exhibit D) contains answers to 
the Commission's Transport questions 1-5 as TelCove read/understood those 
questions. In an attempt to err on the side of providing an overabundance of 
information, TelCove has provided the specific transport equipment at each 
location. However, if a generic request was intended, the generic description of the 
equipment is Sonet.

Please be advised that TelCove considers this information to be confidential 
and proprietary and requests that it be treated as such in accordance with the 
proprietary order in this matter.

ECKERT SEAMAN’S
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On behalf of the TclCovc companies, we appreciate Verizon's accommodation with 
respect to providing the information and trust that Verizon, the other parties to the 
proceeding and the Commission appreciate the exigent circumstances under which
TelCove is providing this information to the Commission and the parties.

Should you have any questions respecting the information, please do not hesitate to 
contact me.

Very truly yours,

1/ i , /AAi e^-v k

Kathleen Misturak-Gingrich

KMG:smb:jmc
Enclosures
cc: The Honorable James McNulty (w/cnclosures)

The Honorable Michael C. Schrtierle (^/enclosures)
Jeffrey Heins, Esquire (-^'/enclosures)

ECKERT SEAMANS
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Exhibit 1
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BEFORE THE PENNSYLVANIA 
PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION

Investigation into the Obligation of Incumbent :
Local Exchange Carriers to Unbundle Network : Docket No. 1-00030099
Elements :

AFFIDAVIT OF JEFFREY J. HEINS

I, Jeffrey J. Heins, an adult individual, do hereby affirm that the information set forth 

below is true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information and belief:

1. I am currently the Manager of Legal and Regulatory Affairs for TelCove (f/k/a 

Adelphia Business Solutions) and for the five Pcnnsylvan.a operating companies listed below in 

footnote number 1 (collectively, "TelCove").1

2. My business address is 712 North Main Street, Coudersport, Pennsylvania 16915.

3. At the request of counsel for Verizon Pennsylvania, Inc. and Verizon North, Inc. 

(collectively, "Verizon"), I agreed to accept service of process, via federal express, of a subpoena 

issued on January 7, 2004, by Administrative Law Judge Michael C. Schnierle of the 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission ("PUC") in connection with the above-captioned 

proceeding.

4. Pursuant to discussions with counsel for Verizon, it was agreed that I could

iprovide this Affidavit in lieu of attendance on January' 14, 2004, at 10:00 a.m. as directed by the 

referenced subpoena.

Adelphia Business Solutions of Pennsylvania, Inc.. Adelphia Business Solutions Investment, 
LLC, Adelphia Business Solutions Operations, Inc., PECO TelCove; and Susquehanna Adelphia 
Business Solutions.

iLfi275l29.H

JAM 23 2004 17:13
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5# October 3, 2003, the PUC issued a Procedural Order in the instant matter,

directed designated competitive local exchange companies ("CLECs") to respond to

certain requests for information.

6. Among the CLECs designated to provide infonmation were Adelphia Business 

Solutions of Pennsylvania, Inc. and PECO Hyperion Telecommunications.

7. TelCove provided information in response tb the requests in the Procedural Order 

and continues to gather information to provide additional responses.

8. Due to various corporate restructurings approved by the PUC, the information 

provided in this affidavit is provided for the five operating companies currently certificated in 

Pennsylvania as identified in footnote number 1.

9. None of the noted TelCove companies provide voice-grade service to residential

customers.

10. To the contrary, all of TelCove’s lines are business lines, which are defined as 

lines provided to customers engaged in commercial or institutional enterprise.

11. Upon providing this Affidavit, I understand that I am excused from attendance at 

the January 14, 2004, deposition date set forth in the subpoena duces tecum.

Further deponent saith no more.

n. Heii
/lahager of L'feil and Regulatory Affairs 

TelCove (t/lc/4 Adelphia Business Solutions)

Sworn to and subscribed before this 
/jl day of January, 2004

otary Public 

My Commission Expires:

Commcn'.vp^lth nf Fgnn^y
NotariaJSeal 

Roxanne Bencardlno-Whener, Noiary Public 
Coudersport Boro, Porter Courtv 

My Commission Expires Od, 31.2005

2

JAN 23 2004 17:13
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Exhibit 2
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November 14, 2003

VIA UPS

Mr. James McNulty, Secretary 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street 
Harrisburg., PA 171.20

RE: Docket No. 1-00030099; Investigation into the Obligations of
Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers to Unbundle Network Elements

Dear Mr. McNulty:

In accordance with the October 2, 2003 Procedural Order in the above referenced 
docket, Adelphia Business Solutions of Pennsylvania, Inc. d/b/a TelCove and its 
affiliates, including PECO TelCove (formerly known as PECO Hyperion 
Telecommunications)(collectively “TelCove”), hereby files its responses to the 
Preliminary Discovery Requests for CLECs contained in Appendix A. TelCove 
has not been able to compile the information necessary to respond to all the 
discovery requests in the time allotted to do so, but will supplement its responses 
with additional infonnation as soon as we are able.

The attached information is provided pursuant to the Protective Order issued in 
this docket, and all information is accordingly marked.

Please date stamp and return the enclosed extra copy of this filing in the enclosed 
postage-paid envelope.

Should you have any questions in this mailer, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Regards,

Jeffrey J. Heins 
Manager of Legal Affairs

cc: Terry Romine, Esq. 
John Glicksman, Esq.

JAN 23 2004 17:13
717 237 6013 PAGE.09
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PRELIMINARY DISCOVERY REQUESTS

Switching

1. Please see Attachment A.

2. Please see Attachment B.

3. Please see Attaclunent C.

4. Please see Attachment A, 

Transport

1. Please see Attachment D.

2. Please see Attachment D.

JAN 23 2004 17:13
?1? 237 8013 P A '3 E . 0 3
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Screnlon PA 1180 Sathers Drive, Pltlston. PA. 1B643 5E-15 1140

Allentown PA RSM/EXM 657

Harrisburg PA 1037 N. Seventh St., Harrisburg PA 17102 5E-15 11 3680

Philadelphia PA 3020 Market St. 3rd Floor, Philadelphia PA 191DB 5E-15 4276

Pittsburgh PA 200 Technology Drive, Pittsburgh, PA 15219 5E-15 2240

SI. College PA 101 Innovations Blvd., State College. PA 16803 5E-15 960

York PA RSM/EXM 740
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ATTACHMENT B
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-•RATe-CENTEBS SWITCH ^ L- fr.:---. SW;STREET:%F?.‘.‘: . T:..;-TV rSW. STATE SW.IZIP
A'RVILLE ARVLPAXARSO 1.5 Ml S OF AIRVILLE ON STHWY 74 AIRVILLE PA 17302
ALLENTOWN ALTWPAALCSO 723 W LINDEN ST ALLENTOWN PA 18101
ALLENTOWN ALTWPAMTDSO 2338 S LAW ST ALLENTOWN PA 18103
ALLENTOWN KHVLPAKUCSO OLDRT 22 KUHNSVILLE PA 18031
ALLENTOWN PHLAPAMK1WD 900 RACE ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19107
ALTOONA ALNAPAALDS1 111916TH ST ALTOONA PA 16601
AMBRIDGE AMBRPAAMRSO 9TH-MERCHANT ST AMBRIDGE PA 15003
ANNVILLE ANVLPAANRS1 N REAR 31 N ULRICH ST ANNVILLE PA 17003
ASHLAND ASLDPAALRS1 631 CENTER ST ASHLAND PA 17921
AVIS JRSHPAJSDSO 170 MT PLEASANT AV JERSEY SHORE PA 17740
AVONDALE AVDLPAAVRSO 131 MORRIS ST AVONDALE (CHESTER) PA 19311
BATH BATHPABTRSO HORNER & BLAIR ST BATH PA 18014
BEAVER FLS BVFLPABFDSO 620 5TH ST BEAVER FALLS PA 15010
BEDMINSTER BMNSPABMRSO KELLERS CHURCH RD BEDMINSTER PA 18910
BELLEFONTE BLLFPA8EDS0 217 N ALLEGHENY ST BELLEFONTE FA 16823
BELLEFONTE PLSGPARGRS1 156 E COLLEGE AV PLEASANT GAP PA 16823
BeLLEVRNON BLVNPABVDSO 722 BROAD AV BELLE VERNON PA 15012
BELLWOOD BLWOPABERS1 CAMBRIA ST BELLWOOD PA 16617
BERWICK BEWKPABRDSO 135 6 2ND ST BERWICK PA 18603
BETHLEHEM BHLHPABEOSO 525 N NEW ST BETHLEHEM PA 18018
3UMRSVL BLVIPABLRSO 158 E BROWN ST BLAIRSVILLE PA 15717
BLOOMS9URG BMBGPABLDSO 5 W THIRDS! BLOOMSBURG PA 17815
0OALSBURG BOALPABORS1 CHURCH ■* ROCKEYS ALL BOALSBURG PA 16827
BRADFORD BRFRFABRDSO 30 E CORYDON BRADFORD PA 16701
BROGUE BROGPAXBRSO STHWY 74 i BROGUE RD BROGUE PA 17309
BROWNSVL BWVLPABRRSi 300 2ND ST BROWNSVILLE (FAYETTE) PA 15417
BUSHKILL BSHKPA8UDS0 CHURCH LN & PUB SCHOOL BUSHKILL PA 18324
CALIFORNIA CLFRFACARSO 650 WOOD ST CALIFORNIA-WASH PA 15419
CANONSBURG CN0GPACADSO 150 N CENTRAL AV CANONSBURG PA 15317
CARBONDALE CRDLPACADSO 58 CHURCH ST CARBONDALE PA 13407
CAR'/ERSVL CRV'/PACARSO COR SUGAR 4 SAWMILL RD CARVERSVILLE PA 18913
OATASAUQUA CTSQPACTDSO 321-331 2ND ST CATASAUQUA PA 18032
CENTER =T CNPNPACERSO 1715 VALLEY FORGE RD EAGLEVILLE PA 19403
CENTREHALL CTHLPACHRS1 LOGAN AL CENTRE HALL PA 16828
CHESTERSPG CSSPPACSRSO 1634 YELLOW SPRINGS RD CHESTER SPRINGS PA 19425
CLARION CLARPAAFCM6 RD3 80X9 CLARION PA 16214
CLARION CLARPACLDSO 495 L18ERTY&5TH ST CLARION PA 1S214
CLEARFIELD CLFDPACLDSO 20 S 2ND ST CLEARFIELD PA 16830
CLEARFIELD WDLDPAWORS1 WOODLAND RD WOODLAND PA 16881
COATESVL CTVLFACVDSO 500 CHESTNUT ST COATESViLLE PA 19320
collegevl CG'/LPACLDSO 332 MAIN ST COLLEGEVILLE PA 19473
CORRY CRRYPAXCDSO 16 E PARK PL CORRY PA 16407
COUDERSPT CDPTPACORS1 309 N MAIN ST COUDERSPORT PA 16915
CRESCO CRESPAESRS1 CRESCO-CANADENSIS RD CRESCO PA 18326
CRESSON CRSNPACRRS1 2ND ST CRESSON PA 16630
DANVILLE DAVLPADADSO 200 E MARKET ST DANVILLE PA 18721
DAUPHIN DAPHPAOARS1 ALLEGHENY ST 4 SWATARA ST DAUPHIN PA 17018
DELTA OELTPAXDRSO S MAIN ST DELTA PA 17314
DiLLSBURG DLBGPAXDDSO 21 S CHESTNUT ST OILLSBURG PA 17019
DOVER DOVRPAXDOSO 12 N RESERVOIR OR DOVER PA 17315
DOWNINGTN DWTWPAOTDSO 201 WHITELAND AVE DOWNINGTOWN PA 19335
DOYLESTOWN dytwpadbdso 255 UNION ST DOYLESTOWN PA 18901
DUBLIN PSVLPAPVRS1 SESIDE OF STUMP RD PLUMSTEADVllLE PA 18949
DUBCHS DUBSPADUDSO 115 E SCRIBNER AV DUBOIS PA 15801
EAGLE EAGLPAEGDSO 101 POTTSTOWN PIKE EAGLE(CHESTER) PA 19430
EASTBERLIN EBRLPAXERSO THIRD ST EAST BERLIN (ADAMS) PA 17316
EASTON estnpaeadso 59 N 4TH ST EASTON PA 18042
EBENSBURG EBNSPAEBRS1 129 W OGLE ST EBENSBURG PA 15931
ELIZABETH ELZBPAELRSO 118 S 2ND ST ELIZABETH PA 15037
ELLWOOD CY ELCYPAECRSO 2C9 FIFTH AV ELLWOOD-CITY PA 16117
ERIE ERIEPAXEDSO 3617 BUFFALO RD ERIE PA 16510
ERIE ERIEPAXMDSO 20 E 10TH ST 4 ERIE MAIN ERIE PA 16515
ERIE ERIE*AXSDSO 801 W S2NO ST ERIE PA 18509
ERIE ERIEPAXTOSO 5143 WATTSBURG RD ERIE PA 16504

JPN 23 2004 17:13
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ERIE 6RIEPAXWDS0 3805 W 12TH ST ERIE PA 16505
EXTON extnpaexdso TOO E SWEDESFORD RD EXTON PA 19341
PAYETTE CY FYCYPAFCRSO MIDDLE ST FAYETTE CITY PA 15438
FLEETWOOD FLWDPAFLRSO MYRTLE ALLEY REAR 19 E MAIN FLEETWOOD PA 19522
FRACKVILLE FAVLPAFRRS1 SPRING + NICE ST FRACKVILLE PA 17931
FRANKLIN FKLNPAXFOSO 1278 ELK ST FRANKLIN (VENANGO) PA 16323
FRENCHVL FCVLPAFRRS1 RTE 879 FRENCHVILLE PA 16836
GALETON GATNPAGARS1 196 W MAIN ST GALETON PA 16922
GIRARD GRRDPAXGOSO 12 S PARK ROW GIRARD PA 16417
GLEN ROCK GLRKPAXGDS0 2 Ml SEO GLEN ROCK ON STHWY 616 GLEN ROCK PA 17327
GLENMOORE GLNMPAGLRSO FAIRVIEW ST SW OF MAIN ST GLENMOORE PA 19343
GREENSBURG GNBGPAGRDS0 111 W PITTSBURGH ST GREENSBURG PA 15601
GROVE CITY GVCYPAGRRSO 303 S CTR GROVE CITY PA 16127
HALIFAX HLFXPAHXRS1 CHERRY ALLEY W OF 2ND ST HALIFAX PA 17032
HAMBURG HMBGPAHBRSO 152 N 4TH AVE HAMBURG PA 19526
HARlSBGZNI CPHLPACHDS0 125S30TH ST CAMP HILL PA 17011
HARISBGZN1 ENOLPAENDSO 16 E MANOR AVE ENOLA PA 17025
HARISBGZN1 FSCKPAFCRS1 FISHING CREEK VALLEY FISHING CREEK PA 17112
HARlSBGZNI HREGPAHADSO 210 PINE ST HARRISBURG PA 17101
HARISBG2N1 NCLDPANCDS0 902 FRONT ST NEW CUMBERLAND PA 17070
HARlSBGZNI PXTGPAPGDSO 111 N 40TH ST HARRISBURG PA 17111
HARlSBGZNI PXTNPAPADS0 4806 JONESTOWN RD HARRISBURG PA 17109
HARISBGZN2 SLTNPASTDS0 10Q S 2ND ST STEELTON PA 17113
HAWLEY HWLYPAHWD50 214 MAPLE AV HAWLEY PA 18428
HAZLETON HZTNPAH2DS0 126 W GREEN ST HAZLETON PA 18201
HELLERTOWN HLTWPAHERS0 OAK ST 4 ELM ALLEY HELLERTOWN PA 18055
HOLLIOYSBG HLBGPAADCM8 BRUSH MTN SUMMIT HOLLlOAYSBURG PA 16648
HOLJDYSBG HLBGPAHODSO 512-514 WALNUT ST HOLLIDAYS BURG FA 16643
HONESDALE HSDLPAhODSO 609 PARK ST HONESDALE PA 18431
HONEYBROOK HYBKPAHBRSO NE SIDE OF MAIN ST HONEY BROOK PA 19344
HOUTZDALE HTDLPAHZRS1 619 BRISBIN ST HOUTZDALE PA 16651
HUMMELSTN HUMLPAHMRS1 W LONG ALLEY HUMMELSTOWN PA 17035
HUNTINGDON HNTGPAHLDSO 807 WASHINGTON ST HUNTINGDON PA 16652
INDIANA INDIPAINDSO 625 CHURCH ST INDIANA PA 15701
JEANNETTE JNNTPAJERS1 3RD ST & BULUTT AVE JEANNETTE PA 15644
JEFFERSON SPGVPAXSDS0 2$ YORK AVE SPRING GROVE PA 17362
JERMYN JRMYPAjEDSO 405 MADISON AV JERMYN PA 16433
JERSEYSHOR JRSHPAJSDS0 170 MT PLEASANT AV JERSEY SHORE PA 17740
JIM THORPE JMTHPAJTRS1 15 E 2ND ST JIM THORPE PA 18229
JOHNSTOWN JHTWPAXBDS0 2110 FRANKLIN ST JOHNSTOWN (CAMBRIA) PA 15905
JOHNSTOWN JHTWPAXGDSO 204 BELMONT ST |S> CLEARWATER ST JOHNSTOWN (CAMBRIA) PA 15904
JOHNSTOWN JHTWPAXJOSO 421 LOCUST ST JOHNSTOWN (CAMBRIA) PA 15901
JOHNSTOWN JHTWPAXNRSO 1828 WILLIAM PENN AVE JOHNSTOWN (CAMBRIA) =A 15909
JOHNSTOWN JHTWPAXWDSO GOUCHER ST & CHRISTOPHER ST JOHNSTOWN (CAMBRIA) PA 15905
JONESTOWN JNTWPAXJDS0 WALNUT ST 4 W MARTIN ALY JONESTOWN (LEBANON) PA 17038
KEMBLESVL KMVLPAKVRS0 NE SIDE RTE 896 KEMBL6SVILLE PA 1S347
KENNETT SQ KNSQPAKSDS0 209 W LINDEN ST KENNETTSQUARE PA 19348
KINGSTON KGTNPAESDSO WYOMNG + DIV1SON ST KINGSTON PA 18704
KUTZTOWN KZTNPAKZRS0 41 HERRING AVE KUTZTOWN (BERKS) PA 19530
LANCASTER EPBGPAEPDSO 480 BUCHAV EAST PETERSBURG PA 17520
LANCASTER LNCSPABYCM8 ONE PENN SQ LANCASTER PA 17602
LANCASTER LNCSPALAOSO 126 N DUKE ST LANCASTER PA 17602
LANCASTER WLSTPAWSRS1 WYNNWOOD DR WILLOW STREET PA 17584
LANDENBERG LDNBPALBRS0 LANDENBERG RD LANDENBERG PA 19350
LANDISVL LDVLPAESRSl 1630 NISSLEY RD LANDISVILLE PA 117538
LANSDALE LNDLPALDDS0 100 S BROAD ST LANSDALE PA 19446
LATROBE LTRBPALADS0 1400 LIGONIER ST LATROBE PA 15650
LEBANON LBNNPAESDS0 30-34 S 8TH ST LEBANON PA 17042
LEEPER LEPRPALERSl STATE ST I LEEPER PA 16233
LEHIGHTON LHTNPALERSI 185 S FOURTH ST LEHIGHTON PA 19235
LENAPE WCHSPAWCDS0 401 S HIGH ST WEST CHESTER PA 19280
LEWISTOWN ALFAPAALRS1 ALFARATA DECATUR TWP ALFARATA PA 17044
LEWI STOWN LWTWPALEOSO 200 N GRAND ST LEWISTOWN (MIFFLIN) PA 17044
UGONIER LGNRPALIRS0 400 E MAIN ST LIGONIER PA 15658
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LINELXNGTN LNLXPALNOSO 201 NEW GALENA RD LINE LEXINGTON =>A 18932
LOCK HAVEN LCHNPAACCM1 GLEN RD LOCK HAVEN PA 17745
LOCK HAVEN LCHNPAESRS2 525-601 BELLEFONTE AVE LOCK HAVEN PA 17745
LOGANVIUE YORKPAXSOSO 2557 S GEORGE ST YORK PA 17403
MAHANOY CY MHCYPAMCRS1 122 W CENTER ST MAHANOY CITY PA 17948
MANCHESTER MNCHPAXMDSO 112 COOPER ST MANCHESTER PA 17345
MARIENVL MRVLPAMARS1 WALNUT ST MARIENV1LLE PA 16239
MCMURRAY MCMRPAMCDSO 630 E MCMURRAY RD MCMURRAY PA 15317
MECHANCSBG MBRGPAELCM8 5040 RITTER RD MECHANICS3URG PA 17055
MEGHANCSBG MBRGPAMEDSO 14 N HIGH ST MECHANICS3URG PA 17055
MENDENHALL MNDNPAMHRSO 279 KENNETT PIKE MENDENHALL PA 19357
MERCER MRCRPAMERSO 130-132 E MARKET ST MERCER PA 16137
MIDDLETOWN MDTNPAMIDSO 135 W MAIN ST MIDDLETOWN (DAUPHIN) PA 17067
MIDLAND MDLDPAMIRSO 128 W MURPHY HILL RD MIDLAND-BEAVER PA 15059
MILLERSVL MM.PAMIDS0 227 HIGH SCHOOL AVE MILLERSVILLE PA 17551
VILLHE1M MLHMPAMIRS1 PENN ST OF MAIN MILLHE1M L PA 16654

IMOOSIC MOSCPAMCDSO 215 SPRING ST MOCSIC PA 18507
MORRISVL MRSLPAMVDSO 230 STOCKHAM AVE MORRISVILLE (BUCKS) PA 19067
MORTONVL CTVLPACVOSO 500 CHESTNUT ST COATESV1LIE PA 19320
MOUNTANTOP MNTPPAMORS1 62 MAIN ST MOUNTAIN TOP PA 18707
MOUNTUNION MTUNPAMURS1 17 N FRANKLIN ST MOUNT UNION PA 17066
MT CARMEL MTCRPAMCRS1 30 W 2ND ST MOUNT CARMEL PA 17851
MT JEWETT MTJWPAMJRS1 OBERG ST MOUNT JEWETT PA 16740
MT POCONO MTPCPAMPDS1 FAIRV1EW AVE MOUNT POCONO PA 16344
MT POCONO TBYHPATORS1 MILL ST NEAR MAIN ST TOBYHANNA PA 13466
MTPLEASANT MTPTPAMPRSO 18 COLLEGE AV MOUNT PLEASANT -WEST FA 15666
MTPLEASANT NWSTPANSRSO PAINTERSVILLE RD NEW STANTON PA 15672
NANTICOKE GLLYPAGLRSl 51 W MAIN ST GLEN LYON PA 18617
NANTlCOKE NNTCPANADSO 108 PROSPECT ST NANTlCOKE PA 18634
NAZARETH NZRTPANADSO 127 N WHITFIELD ST NAZARETH PA 16064
new castle NWCSPANCDSO 40 S MERCER ST NEW CASTLE PA 16103
NEWFOUNDLO NPLDPANEDSO RD 6302 NEAR RT 90 NEWFOUNDLAND PA 18445
NEWKNSNGTN NWKNPANKDSO 1060 5TH AV NEW KENSINGTON PA 15068
NEWTOWN NWTWPANWDSO 369 WASHINGTON CROSSING RD NEWTOWN (BUCKS) PA 18940
northamptn NATNPANRDSO E 18TH ST & MAIN ST NORTHAMPTON PA 18067
northwales NWLSPANWDSO 216 S 3RD ST NORTH WALES PA 15454
OIL CITY OLCYPAXOOSO 260 SENECA ST OIL CITY PA 16301
OLYPHANT OLYPPAOLDSO 420 DELAWARE ST OLYPHANT PA 1&447
OXFORD OXFRFAOXRSO 2ND ST & OCTORARO AVE OXFORD PA 19363
PALMYRA PLMYPAPADSO 124 N LOCUST ST PALMYRA PA 17078
PATTON PATNPAPARS1 LANG AV PATTON PA 16668
PERKASIE PRKSPAPEDSO 431 N 5TH ST PERKASIE PA 18944
PH1UPS8G PHBGPAPHRS1 110 S 4TH ST PHILIPSBURG PA 16866
PHLDLPHZN1 PHLAPABADSO 3429 N17TH ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19140
PHLDLPHZN1 PHLAPADEDSO 2000 S BROAD ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19108
PHLDLPHZN1 PHLAPALOOSO 1631 ARCH ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19103
PHLDLPHZN1 PHLAPALODS1 1631 ARCH ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19103
PHLDLPHZN1 PHLAPALODS2 1631 ARCH ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19103
PHLDLPHZN1 PHLAPAMK1WO 900 RACE ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19107
PHLDLPHZN1 PHLAPAMK2AD 900 RACE ST PHILADELPHIA DA 19107
PHLDLPHZN1 PHLAPAMKDSO 900 RACE ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19107
PHLOLPHZN1 PHLAPAMKDS3 900 RACE ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19107
PHLDLPHZN1 PHLAPAPEDSO 423 S 17TH ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19146
PHLOLPHZN1 PHLAPAPOOSO 1601 W JEFFERSON ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19121
PHLDLPHZN1 PHLAPAPEDSO 2514 EMERALD ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19125
PHLDLPHZN2 PHLAPAEVDSO 3610 CHESTNUT ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19108
PHLDLPHZN2 PHLAPAEWDSO 3400 ISLAND AVE PHILADELPHIA PA 19106
PHLDLPHZN2 PHLAPASAOSO 5400 WOODLAND AVE PHILADELPHIA PA 19143
PHLDLPHZN2 PHLAPASHOSO 5650 CHESTNUT ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19139
PHLOLPHZNZ PHLAPATRDSO 5152 LANCASTER AVE PHILADELPHIA PA 19131
PHLDLPHZN3 PhLAPACHOSO 3318 GERMANTOWN AVE PHILADELPHIA PA 19118
PHLDLPHZN5 PHLAPADBOSO 4908 N BROAD ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19141
PHLDLPHZN3 PHLAPAGEDSO 26 W CHEL7EN AVE PHILADELPHIA PA 19106
PHLDLPHZN3 PHLAPAIVDSO 4334 TERRACE ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19128
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PML0LPHZN3 PHLAPAWVDSO 6468 N BROAD ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19126
PHLDLPHZN4 PHLAPAJEDSO 4808 LEIPER ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19124
PHLDLPHZN4 PHLAPAKRDSO 11016 KNIGHTS RO PHILADELPHIA PA 19108
PHLDLPHZN4 PHLAPAMYDSO 7180 CHARLES ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19135
PHLDLPH2N4 PHLAPAORDSO 2210 LOTT AVE PHILADELPHIA PA 19115
PHLDLPHZN4 PHLAPAPIDSO 7254 RISING SUN AVE PHILADELPHIA PA 19111
PHOENIXVL PXVLPAPVOSO 118 GAY ST PHOENlXVILLE PA 19460
PMPHSBZN10 CHTTPACTDSO 82 BALTIMORE PIKE CHESTER HEIGHTS PA 19017
PHPHS8ZN11 CHESPACADSO 512-518 WELSH ST CHESTER PA 19013
PHPHSBZN11 CHESPACBDSO 920 WARWICK ST CHESTER PA 19013
PHPHSBZN11 RDPKPARPDSO 400 S SELLERS AVE RIDLEY PARK PA 19078
PHPHSBZN12 MEDIPAMEDSO 200 W STATE ST MEDIA PA 19063
PHPHSSZN13 SPFDPASFDSO 480 ETHOMPSONAVE SPRINGFIELD IDELAWARE) PA 19064
PHPHSBZN14 GLLDPAGNDSO 28 S CHESTER PIKE GLENOLDEN PA 19036
PHPHSBZN14 RDPKPARPDSO 400 S SELLERS AVE RIDLEY PARK PA 19078
PHPHSBZN17 KRLNPAKLDSO 9225 W CHESTER PIKE KIRKLYN PA 19082
PHPHSBZN17 lnsdpaldoso 48-58 N LANSDOWNE AVE LANSDOWNE PA 19050
PHPHS8ZN21 KRLNPAKLDSO 9225 W CHESTER PIKE KIRKLYN PA 19082
PHPHSBZN22 LARCPALMDSO 31 S MEDIA LINE RD LARCHMONT PA 19073
PHPHSBZN23 BCYNPABCDSO 321 LEVERING MILL RD BALA-CYNWYO PA 19004
PHPHSBZN23 PHLBPAALCM3 1872 CALLOWHILL ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19103
FHPMSBZN24 ARMRPAARDSO 116 E LANCASTER AVE ARDMORE PA 19003
PHPHSBZN25 BRYMPABMDSO 1102 E LANCASTER AVE BRYN MAWR PA 19010
PHPHSBZN26 WAYNPAWYDSO 300 W LANCASTER AVE WAYNE PA 19087
PHPHSBZN28 PAOLPAPADSO 125 W CIRCULAR AVE PAOLI PA 19301
PHPHSBZN29 KGPRPAKPDSO 540 ALLENDALE RD KING OF PRUSSIA PA 19406
PHPMSBZN29 TRPRPATRDSO 50 BR1MFIELD RD TROOPER PA 19401
PHPHSBZN30 KGPRPAKPDSO 540 ALLENDALE RD KING OF PRUSSIA PA 19406
PHPHSBZN30 NRTWPANRDSO 400 DEKALB ST NORRISTOWN PA 19401
PHPHSBZN30 TRPRPATRDSO 50 BRIMFIELD RD TROOPER PA 19401
PHPHSBZN31 CNSHPACNDSO 131 NORTH LN CONSHOHOCKEN PA 19428
PHPHSBZN32 PHLAPACHDSO 8318 GERMANTOWN AVE PHILADELPHIA PA 19118
PHPHS8ZN33 AMBLPAAMDSO 20 N SPRING GARDEN ST AMBLER PA 19002
PHPHSBZN34 JENKPAJKOSO 100 GREENWOOD AVE JENKINTOWN PA 19046
PHPHSBZN34 PHLAPAPIDSO 7254 RISING SUN AVE PHILADELPHIA PA 19111
PHPHSBZN34 PHLAPAWVDSO 6468 N BROAD ST PHILADELPHIA PA 19126
FHPHSBZN37 BTHYPABHOSO 2400 MURRAY AVE BETHAYRES PA 19006
PHPHSBZN3a wlgrpawgdso 229 OLD YORK RO WILLOW GROVE PA 19090
PHPHSBZN39 HTBOPAHBDSO 29 E MORELAND AVE HATBORO PA 19040
PHPHSBZN40 CHVLPACHDSO 1518 BUSTLETON PIKE CHURCHVILLE PA 18966
FHPMSBZN4T EDTNPAEDDSO 2920 FORREST AVE EDDINGTON PA 19020
PHPHSBZN42 BRSTPABRDSO 220 POND ST BRISTOL PA 19007
PHPHSBZN43 LANGPALADSO 149 N BELLEVUE AVE IANGHQRNE PA 19048
PHPHSBZN44 TULYPATUDSO 7843 NEW FALLS RD TULLYTOWN PA 19007
PHPHSBZN45 WGTNPAWRDSO 1412 STUCKER! RD WARRINGTON PA 18976
PITTSTON PTTNPAPIOSO 10 CHARLES ST PITTSTON PA 18640
PLUMSTEDVL PSVLPAPVRS1 SE SIDE OF STUMP RD PLUMSTEADVILLE PA 18949
PLYMOUTH PLM0PAPLRS1 37-39 WILLOW ST PLYMOUTH PA 18651
POTTSTOWN PTTWPAPTDSO 235 KING ST POTTSTOWN PA 19464
POTTSVILLE PTTVPAPODSO 300-318 W NORWEGIAN POTTSVILLE PA 17901
PTGSBNZN10 ELZTPAETDSO 2432 GRENOCK-BUEN VI ELIZABETH TWP-ALLEG PA 15135
PTGSBNZN10 MCPTPAMKDSO 520 6TH AV MCKEESPORT PA 15132
PTGSBNZN10 WMFLPAWMDSO 2607 SKYLINE DR WEST MIFFLIN PA 15122
PTGSBNZN12 BTPKPABPDSO 5112 W LIBRARY RD BETHEL PARK PA 15102
PTGS8NZN13 BGVLPA8RDS0 408 WASHINGTON AV BRIDGEVILLE PA 15017
PTGSBNZN14 CARNPACADSO 201 E MAIN ST CARNEGIE PA 15106
PTGSBNZN14 RBTPPARTDSO RT 60 CAMBELLS RD ROBINSON TWP -ALlEGH PA 15136
PTGSBNZNIS CRPLPACODSO 410 BROADWAY CORAOPOLIS PA 15108
PTGSBNZN15 GPIAPAMARSO LA.NDSIDE BLDG PITTSBURGH PA 15231
PTGSBNZNIS GPIAPAMTRSO PGHINT.L AIRPORT MIDFIELD TERM PA 15231
PTGSBNZNIS RBTPPARTDSO RT 60 CAMBELLS RD ROBINSON TWP -ALLEGH PA 15136
PTGSBNZNIS SWKYPASERS1 621 BEAVER ST SEWICKLEY PA 15143
PTGSBNZN17 PYVLPAPEDSO 1104 PERRY HWY PERRYSVILLE -ALLEGHE PA 15237
PTGS8NZN20 OKMTPAOADSO 360 DELAWARE AV OAKMONT -ALLEGHENY- PA 15139
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PTGSBNZN21 PEHLPAPHDSO 5970 SALTSBURGRD PENN HILLS PA 15235
PTGSBNZN22 MOVLPAMOOSO 4206 NORTHERN PIKE MONROEVILLE PA 15146
PTGS0NZN22 TRCKPATCDSO 801 PENN AV TURTLE CREEK PA 15145
PTGS6NZN23 IRWNPAIRDSO 616 OAK ST IRWIN PA 15642
PTTSBGZ0N1 PITBPAALDSO 719 WARRINGTON PITTSBURGH PA 15210
PTTS8GZ0N1 PITBPADT333 «16 7TH AV PITTSBURGH PA 15219
PTTSBGZ0N1 PITBPADTDS0 416 7TH AV PITTSBURGH PA 15219
PTTSBGZ0N1 PITBPADTDS1 416 7TH AV PITTSBURGH PA 15219
PTTSBGZ0N1 PITBPADTDS2 416 7THAV PITTSBURGH PA 15219
PTTSBGZ0N1 P1TBPADTDS6 416 7TH AV PITTSBURGH PA 15219
PTTSBGZON1 PITBPANSDSO 15 E MONTGOMERY AV PITTSBURGH PA 15212
PTTSBGZ0N1 PITBPAOKDSO 520 N NEVILLE ST PITTSBURGH PA 15213
PTTSBGZ0N1 PITBPAOKDS1 530 N NEVILLE ST PITTSBURGH PA 15213
PTTSBGZON1 PITBPAOWCM7 1485 CRANE AVE PITTSBURGH PA 15216
PTTSBGZ0N1 P1TBPASQD50 5741 POCUSSET PITTSBURGH PA 15217
PTTSBGZ0N2 BLLVPABEDSC 22 S BALPH AV BELLEVUE FA 15202
PTTSBGZON2 WSVWPAWERSO 44 CENTER AV WEST VIEW PA 15229
PTTSBGZ0N3 GLNSPAGLOSO 1003 CHARLES ST GLENSHAW PA 15116
PTTSBGZON3 MLVAPAMIRSO KLOPFER ST-EVERGREEN MILLVALE =>A 15209
PTTSeGZONS SHSAPASHOSO 1346 MAIN ST SHARPSBURG-ALLEGH. PA 15215
»TTSBGZON4 BRDOPABRDSO 515 4TH AV BRADDOCK-ALLEGHENY PA 15104
P'TSBGZON4 WKBGPAWKDS0 1026 HAY ST 15221 WILKINSEURG PA 15221
PTTSBGZONS HMSTPAHODSO 303 E 9TH AV HOMESTEAD PA 15120
PTTSBGZON6 DRMTPAOODSO 3151 PIONEER AV DORMONT PA 15225
PTTSBGZONS PIT8PACADS0 2256 BROWNSVILLE RO PITTSBURGH PA 15210
PTTSBGZOM6 PLHSPAPHDSO 128 TELSTAR DR PLEASANT HILLS -ALlE PA 15236
PTTSBGZON7 CARNPACADSO 201 £ MAIN ST CARNEGIE PA 15106
PTTSBGZON7 CRAFPACRDSO 11 SIONEY-UNION ST CRAFTON PA 15205
PTTSBGZON7 MCRKPAMROSO 745 CHARTIERS AV MCKEES ROCKS PA 15136
PTTSBGZONS PITBPAELOSO 223 N HIGHLAND AVE PITTSBURGH PA 15206
PUGHTOWN PGTWPAPTRSO 807 PUGHTOWN RD SPRING CITY PA 19475
PUNXSUTWNY PUNXPAPURS1 103-105 W UNION AV PUNXSUTAWNEY PA 15767
QUAKERTOWN QKTWPAQTDSO 428 JUNIPER ST QUAKERTOWN PA 18951
READING LROLPALBDSO 823 BELLEVUE AVE LAURELDALE PA 19605
READING RDNGPAREDS0 401-409 WASHINGTON ST READING PA 19601
READING shlnpashdso 216 W WALNUT ST ShILLINGTON PA 19607
READING SLWBPASLDS0 3004 OLEY TURNPIKE RD SAINT LAWRENCE (BERKS! PA 19606
READING SNSPPASSDS0 571 PENN AVE SINKING SPRING PA 19608
RED LION ROLNPAXRDSO 839 W BROADWAY RED LION (YORK) PA 17356
RENOVO RENVPARERS1 133 SIXTH ST RENOVO PA 17764
REW REW PARERS'! DAVIS RD REW PA 16744
reynoldsvl RYVLPARERS1 JACKSON ST FEYNOLOSViLLE PA 15851
RIEGELSVL RGVLPARIRSO CHURCH RD & DELAWARE RD RiEGELSVILLE PA 13077
ROCHESTER MDLDPAM1RSO 128 W MURPHY HILL RD MIDLAND-BEAVER PA 15059
ROCHESTER ROCHPARCOSO 123 W MADISON AV ROCHESTER PA 15074
ROULETTE RLTTPARORS1 MAIN & OLEASANT ST ROULETTE PA 16746
ROYERSFORD PRFDPAPFRS0 1621 OLD SCHUYLKILL RD PARKER FORD PA 19457
ROYERSFORO RYFRDARFRSO 34 2ND AVE ROYERSFORD PA 19468
SAXTON SXTNPASARSl ALLEY W OF 8TH ST SAXTON PA 16678
SCHUYLKHVN SCHNPASCRS1 411 E UNION ST SCHUYLKILL HAVEN PA 17972
SCHWENKSVL SCHWPASVRS0 393 MAIN ST REAR SCHWENKSVILLE PA 19473
SCRANTON SCTNPASCDS1 121 ADAMS AV SCRANTCN PA 18510
SHAMOKIN SHMKPASHDS0 107 W ARCH ST SMAMOKIN PA 17872
SHARON SHRNPASHDSO 29 S DOCK ST SHARON PA 16146
SHENANDOAH SHNDPASHRSl 221 S JARDIN ST SHENANDOAH PA 17976
SLATINGTON SLTTPAESRS0 221 2ND ST SLATINGTON PA 18080
SMETHPORT SMPTPASMRS1 202 N STATE ST SMETHPORT PA 16749
SNOW SHOE SWSHPASSRS1 4TH ST NEAR OLIVE SNOW SHOE PA 16874
SOMERSET SMRTPAXSDSO 145 W CHURCH ST SOMERSET PA 15501
SOUDERTON SDTNPASDDS0 18-22 W DIAMOND ST SOUDERTON PA 18964
SPRING GRV SPGVPAXSDS0 26 YORK AVE SPRING GROVE PA 17362
SPRING ML SPMLRASMRS1 RTE45 SPRING MILLS PA 16875
SPRINGTOWN SPTWPASPRS0 RTE412 4TWPRD404 SPRINGTOWN (BUCKS) PA 18081
statecollg STCGPAESDS0 250 S ALLEN ST STATE COLLEGE PA 16801
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STEWARTSTN SWTWPAXSRSO 68 N MAIN ST STEWARTSTOWN PA 17363
STRASBURG STBGPAESRS1 GAP & FAIRV1EW RD STRASBURG PA 17579
STROUDSBG MRCKPAMCRS1 W SIDE RT 402 MARSHALLS CREEK PA 18335
STROUDSBG SRBGPASTDSO 20 S 7TH ST STROUDSBURG PA 16360
STROUDSBG TNVLPATADSO RTE611+T537 TANNERSVILLE PA 13372
SUNBURY SNBYPASUDSO 240 WOODLAWN AV SUNBURY PA 17801
TAMAQUA TAMQPATARS1 1 W BROAD ST TAMAQUA PA 18252
TARENTUM TRNTPATADSO 468-470 E 7TH AV TARENTUM PA 15084
TAYLOR TAYLPATARS1 23S S MAIN ST TAYLOR PA 13518
TIONESTA TNSTPATIRS1 HIGHLAND ST TIONESTA PA 16353
TYRONE TYRNPATYRS1 900 S LINCOLN AV TYRONE PA 16686
ULYSSES ULYSPAULRS1 MAIN ST W SIDE ULYSSES PA 16945
UNIONTOWN UNTNPAUNOSO 23-29 W CHURCH ST UNIONTOWN-FAYETTE PA 15401
UNIONVILLE KNSQPAKSDSO 209 W LINDEN ST KENNETT SQUARE PA 19348
UPBLCKEDOY RGVLPARIRSO CHURCH RD & DELAWARE RD RIEGELSVILLE PA 10077
vandergrft VNDGPAXMDSO 135 WASHINGTON AVE VANDERGRIFT PA 15690
VANDERGRPT VNDGPAXSRSO STHWY 356 4 MUNSON CORNER VANDERGRIFT PA 15613
W CHESTER WCHSPAWCOSO 401 S HIGH ST WEST CHESTER PA 19280
WARREN WRRNPAWAD30 5 EAST ST WARREN PA 16365
WASHINGTON WASHPAWADSO 41 E BEAU ST WASHINGTON PA 15301
WEST GROVE WGRVPAWGRSO 153 ROSEHILL AVE WEST GROVE PA 19390
WESTTOWN WCHSPAWCOSO 401 S HIGH ST WEST CHESTER PA 19380
WHITEHAVEN ABVLPAESRS1 -ESS KIDDER TWP ALBRIGNTSVILLE PA 18210
WHITEHAVEN whhnpawhrs" R30S-10 BERWICK ST WHITE HAVEN PA 18861
WILKSBARRE BRCKPAESDSO BEAUPLANO ♦ COVE RD BEAR CREEK PA 16602
WILKSBARR6 WLBRPARPCMS 136 S MAIN ST WILKES-BARRE PA 18701
WILKSBARRE WLBRPAWBOSO 222 S MAIN ST WILKES-BARRE PA 18701
WILUAMSPT HPVLPAHERSl LYCOMNG CR +N BEAUTY HEPBURNVILLE PA 17728
WILLIAMSPT MUVLPAESRS1 CRAWFORD-UPDEGRAF A MONTOURSVILLE PA 17754
WILLIAMSPT WLPTPAWIDSO 404 W4TH ST WILLIAMSPORT PA 17701
WINBURNE WNBRPAWIRS1 RTET711 WINBURNE PA 16879
WM1DDLESEX WMDLPAWMRSO 404 W MAIN ST WEST MIDDLESEX PA 16159
WRIGHTSVL WGVLPAXWDSO 208 N 4TH ST WRIGHTSVILLE (YORK} PA 17368
WYOMING WYNGPAWYRS1 37 W 6TH ST WYOMING PA 18644
YARDLEY YRDLPAYLDSO 8 BREECE DR YAROLEY FA 19067
YORK YORKPAXEDSO 3025 E MARKET ST YORK PA 17402
YORK YORKPAXERLO 3027 E MARKET ST YORK PA 17402
YORK YORKPAXMDSO 31 S BEAVER ST YORK PA 17401
YORK YORKPAXMDS1 31 S BEAVER ST YORK PA 17401
YORK YORKPAXNDSO U70 ROOSEVELT AVE YORK PA 17404
YORK YORKPAXNRLO 1470 ROOSEVELT AVE YORK PA 17404
YORK YORKPAXSDSO 2557 S GEORGE ST YORK PA 17403
YORK YORKPAXWDSO 3820 W MARKET ST YORK PA 17404
ZEUENOPLE ZlNPPAZERSO 234 S CLAY ST ZEUENOPLE PA 16063
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PA On-Switch Lines by LSO

ALL PA

LSO Total

ADBNPAOICMO 11

ALNAPAALDS1 2,463

ALTWPAAEDSO 430

ALTWPAALDSO 1,983

ALTWPAHSDSO 45

ALTWPAMTDSO 412

AMBLPAAMDSO 593

AMBRPAAMRSO 11

ARMRPAARDSO 2,086

AVDLPAAVRSO 20

BATHPABTRSO 49

BCYNPABCDSO 460

BDFRPAXB2MD 22

BDFRPAXBDSO 82

BGVLPABRDSO 97

BHLHPABEDSO 1,468

BLLFPABEDSO 312

BLLVPABEDSO 39

BLVIPABLRSO 193

BLVNPABVDSO 58

BLWDPABERS1 81

BMBGPABLDSO 1,030

BMNSPABMRSO 22

BOALPABORS1 13

BRDDPABRDSO B3

BRFRPABRDSO 33

BRSTPABRDSO 491

BRYMPABMDSO 81

BTHYPABHDSO 44

BTLRPAXBDSO 121

BTLRPAXBSMD 1

BTPKPABPDSO 101

BVFLPABFDSO 346

PA On-Switch Lines by LSO 
PTR & TelCove Separated

Q

Owner LSO Total
PTR ADBNPAOICMO 11

PTR ALTWPAAEDSO 430

PTR ALTWPAALDSO 1,015

PTR ALTWPAHSDSO 33

PTR ALTWPAMTDSO 255

PTR AMBLPAAMDSO 589

PTR ARMRPAARDSO 2,086

PTR BATHPABTRSO 49

PTR BCYNPABCDSO 460

PTR BHLHPABEDSO 1,241

PTR BMNSPABMRSO 22

PTR BRSTPABRDSO 292

PTR BRYMPABMDSO 81

PTR BTHYPABHDSO 44

PTR CGVLPACLDSO 11

PTR CHESPACADSO 447

PTR CHESPACBDSO 304

PTR CHTTPACTDSO 115

PTR CHVLPACHDSO 452

PTR CNPNPACERSO 1

PTR CNSHPACNDSO 461

PTR CPHLPACHDSO 22

PTR CRLSPAXCDSO 6

PTR CTSQPACTDSO 134

PTR CTVLPACVDSO 98

PTR DLBGPAXDDSO 100

PTR DOVRPAXDDSO 41

PTR DWTWPADTDSO 101

PTR DYTWPADBDSO 132

PTR EAGLPAEGDSO 6

PTR EDTNPAEDDSO 547

PTR EMMSPAXEDS1 143

PTR ESTNPAEADSO 432

u

<r
o.
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c
&

BWVLPABRRS1

CARNPACADSO

CDPTPAC0RS1

CGVLPACLDSO

CHBGPAXCDSO

CHESPACADSO

CHESPACBDSO

CHTTPACTDSO

CHVLPACHDSO

CLARPACLDSO

CLFDPACLOSO

CLFRPACARSO

CNBGPACADSO

CNPNPACERSO

CNQNPAXCRSO

CNStIPACNDSO

CPHLPACHDSO

CRAFPACRDSO

CRDLPACADSO

CRLSPAXC5MD

CRLSPAXCDSO

CRLSPAXCXOX

CRPLPACODSO

CRRYPAXCDSO

CRSNPACRRS1

CTHLPACHRS1

CTSQPACTDSO

CTVLPACVDSO

DAVLPAOADSO

DLBGPAXDDSO

DNRAPADORSO

DOVRPAXDDSO

DRMTPAOOOSO

DUnSPAOUDSO

DWTWPADTDSO

DYTWPADBDSO

EAGLPAEGDSO

EBNSPAEBRS1

8
504

62

98

—1
f-rT’

133

886

304

189
lZj

518

174

384

' . T) 2

291

57

19

971

1,832

220

129

4
508

5

68

15

66

17

142

360

108

100

99

41

18

45
101

152

6

357

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

P1K

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

PTR

EXTNPAEXDSO

FTWSPAFWDSO

GLLDPAGNDSO

GLNMPAGLRSO

GLRKPAXGDSO

GTBGPAXGDSO

HLTWPAHERSO

HNVRPAXHDSO

HRBGPAGUDSO

HRBGPAHADSO

HTBOPAHBDSO

JENKPAJKDSO

KGPRPAOODSO

KGPRPAKPDSO

KHVLPAKUDSO

KNSQPAKSDSO

KRLNPAKLDSO

KZTNPAKZRSO

LANGPALADSO

LARCPALMDSO

LNDLPALDDSO

LNLXPALNDSO

LNSDPALDDSO

LRDLPALBDSO

MEDIPAMEDSO

MNCHPAXMDSO

MRSLPAMVDSO

NATNPANRDSO

NRTWPANRDSO

NWHPPANHRSO

NWLSPANWDSD

NWRKDFWWDSO

NWSMPAXNRSO

NWTWPANWDSO

N/RTPANAUSO

PAOLPAPADSO

PGTWPAPTRSO

PHLAPA03DS0

in

r-

Q
Q
fVJ

n
oj

a

305

6,312

320

AB

321

25

65

410

5

10

243

1,204

1
161

661

81

193

19

306

716

664

4

761

11
620

7

19

104

469

22

186

1
21

17

135

477

40

46

71
7 2

37
 60
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HSDLPAHODSO 292 BKptr

HTBOPAHBDSO 380
BIptr

HTDLPAHZRS1 41 ggpTR

HWLYPAHWDSO 321 ggPTR

HZTNPAHZDSO 1,245
BESptr

INDIPAINDSO 1,047
BHIptr

IRWNPAIRDSO 1
BpTR

JENKPAJKDSO 1.204 Mptr

JHTWPABLCM1 44 IMptr

JHTWPAXGDSO 12 giPTR

JHTWPAXJDSO 347
ojpTR

JHTWPAXWDSO 102
^Bptr

JMTHPAJTRS1 30
nlpTR

JNNTPAJERS1 1
Sptr

JNTWPAXJDSO ■: 178
j^aPTR

JRSHPAJSDSO 12
ggpiR

KGPRPADODSO 1 H PTR

KGPRPAKPDSO 802 m ptr

KGTNPAESDSO 48
SH PTR

KHVLPAKUDSO 701
^Hptr

KNSQPAKSDSO 81 HjPTR

KRLNPAKLDSO 193 MPTR

KZTNPAKZRSO 176 Hptr

LANGPALADSO 306
m

LARCPALMDSO 739
IgfpTR

L8NNPAESDS0 125
8Bptr

LCHNPAESRS2 66 SgPTR

LDVLPAESRS1 19

LGNRPAURSO 4
IH PTR Total

LHTNPALERS1 565

LNCSPALADSO 1.669 iPg||TftlCove

LNDLPALDDSO 664 SiMTelCove

LNLXPALNDSO 4 BHTelCavfl

LNSDPALDDSO 776 HaTelCove

LRDLPALBDSO 12 ^gjTelCo^e

LWPXPAACDSO 16 ^^TelCove

LWPXPAACDSE 6 g^TelCove

LWTWPALEDSO 108 ^^TelCo'/e

ru
RDNGPAREDSO 702 OJ

rdpkparpdso 161 Hi

RYFRPARFRSO 54 <r
a.

SDTNPASDDSO 27

SLWBPASLDSO 6

SNSPPASSDSO 3

SPFDPASFDSO 727

STCGPADNDSO 2

SWTWPAXSRSO 8

TRPRPATRDSO 177 cn
TULYPATUDSO 460 a
WAYNPAWYDSO 248 (D

WCHSPAWCDSO 455 r-
o

WGRVPAWGRSO 102 ro

WGTNPAWRDSO 06

WGVLPAXWDSO 98 r-

WLGRPAWGDSO 460

WNRTPAAHCM4 14

YORKPAHUDSO 3,806

YORKPAXEDSO 74

YORKPAXERLO 4

YORKPAXMDSO 960

YORKPAXMDS1 24

YORKPAXNDSO 300

YORKPAXSDSO 51

YORKPAXWDSO 93

YRDLPAYLDSO 16

51,190

ALNAPAALDS1 2,463

ALTWPAALDSO 920

ALTWPAHSDSO 12 in
ALTWPAMTDSO 157

AMBLPAAMDSO 4

AMBRPAAMRSO 11

AVDLPAAVRSO 20 a

BDFRPAXB2MD 22 ro

n
(\j

a.
—>
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LYSVPAXLRPO

MBRGPAMEDSO

MCBGPAXMRS1

MCMRPAMCDSO

MCPTPAMKDSO

MCRKPAMROSO

MDTNPAMIDSO

MEDIPAMEDSO

MFTWPAXMDSO

MHCYPAMCRS1

MHSPPAXMRS1

MIVLPAMIDSD

MNCHPAXMDSO

MNTPPAMORS^

MONSPAMORSO

MOSCPAMCDSO

MOVLPAMODSO

MRCRPAMERSO

MRSLPAMVDSO

MTJWPAMJRS1

MTPCPAMPDS1

MTPTPAMPRSO

MTUNPAMURS1

MUVLPAESRS1

MYVIPAXMRS1

NATNPANRDSO

NBFDPAXNRPO

NCLDPANCDSO

NNTCPANADSO

NRTEPAXNDSO

NRTWPANRDSO

NWCSPANCDSO

NWHPPANHRSO

NWKNPANKDSO

NWLSPANWDSO

NWPTPAXNRPO

NWRKDPWWDSO

NWSMPAXNRSO

: u

58

513

24

62

266

19

175

682

24

53

16

144

7

33

8
188

140

134

19

7 

63

20

8
127

49

104

11

127

134

33

1,060

498

22
123

186

19

1
21

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

o
BDFRPAXBDSO 82 cu

BGVLPABRDSO 97 w
o

BHLHPABEDSO 227 a
Q_

BLLFPABEDSO 312

BLLVPABEDSO 39

BLVIPABLRSO 193

BLVNPABVDSO 58

BLWDPABERS1 81

BMBGPABLDSO 1,030

BOALPABORS1 13 01
BRDDPABRDSO 83 Q
BRFRPABRDSO 33 10

BRSTPABRDSO 199 n
BTLRPAXBDSO 121 OJ

BTLRPAXBSMD 1

BTPKPABPDSO 101 r-

BVFLPABFDSO 346

BWVLPABRRS1 8

CARNPACADSO 504

CDPTPACORS1 62

CGVLPACLDSO 87

CHBGPAXCDSO 133
CHESPACADSO 439

CHTTPACTDSO 74

CHVLPACHDSO 66

CLARPACLDSO 174

CLFDPACLDSO 384

CLFRPACARSO 2

CNBGPACADSO 291

CNPNPACERSD 56

CNGNPAXCRSO 19

CNSHPACNDSO 510

CPHLPACHDSO 1,810
in

CRAFPACRDSO 220

CRDLPACADSO 129 r-

CRLSPAXC5MD 4

CRLSPAXCDSO 502 o
CRLSPAXCXOX 5 (\J

n
OJ

a
—>
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T
CJo

NWSTPANSRSO

NWTWPANWDSO

NZRTPANADSO

OKMTPAOADSO
OLCYPAXODSO

OLYPPAOLDSO

PAOLPAPADSO

PGTWPAPTRSO

PHBGPAPHRS1

PHLAPA03DS0

PHLAPA45DSO

PHLAPAAZDS2

PHLAPABADSO

PHLAPACHDSO

PHLAPADBDSO

PHLAPADEOSO

PHLAPADKDSO

PHLAPAEVDSO

PHLAPAEWDSO

PHLAPAFGDSG

PHLAPAGEDSO

PHLAPAIVDSO

PHLAPAJEDSO

PHLAPAKRDSO

PHLAPALODSO

PHLAPAL0DS1

PHLAPAL0DS2

PHLAPAMKDSO

PHLAPAMKDS3

PHLAPAMYDSO

PHLAPAORDSO

PHLAPAPIDSO

PHLAPAPODSO

PHLAPAREDSO

PHLAPASADSO

PHLAPASHDSO

PHLAPASLBMD

PHLAPATRDSO

113 

17 

157 

266 

89 

20 

508 

40 

88 

48 

10,155

502 

79 

87 

69

222
35

262

503 

29

296

121
35

254

1,107

746

190

5,596

526

261

979

135

115

67

185

75

1
159

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

TelCove

CRPLPACODSO 68 rv

CRRYPAXCDSO 15 w
o

CRSNPACRRS1 66 (X
Q_

CTHLPACHRS1 17

CTSQPACTDSO 8

CTVLPACVDSO 262

DAVLPADADSO 108

DNRAPADORSO 99

DRMTPADODSO 18

DUBSPADUDSO 45 cn
DYTWPADBDSO 20 Q
EBNSPAEBRS1 357 10

EDTNPAEDDSO 9 r-
o

ELCYPAECRSO 50 OJ

ENOLPAENDSO 59 r-

EPBGPAEPDSO 10 r-

ERIEPANKH02 474

ERIEPAXEDSO 464
ERIEPAXMDSO 1,188

ERIEPAXSDSO 200

ERIEPAXTDSO 27

ERIEPAXWDSO 579

ESTNPAEADSO 175

EXTNPAEXDSO 75

FAVLPAFRRS1 103

FCVLPAFRRS1 26

FGTPPA01DS0 28

FKLNPAXFDSD 200

FLWDPAFLRSO 12

FRERPAXFRSO 14

FTWSPAFWDSO 101

FYVLPAXFRS1 17

GLLOPAGNDSO 195
ID

GNBGPAGRDSO 684

GRROPAXGDSQ 12 r-

GTBGPAXGDSO 49
HLBGPAHODSO 695 o

a
HLFXPAHXRS1 10 OJ

o
OJ

z
a



m<M
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a
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oCD
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r-
K
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r-

o
04

PHLAPAWVDSO 167 ffij TelCove

PITBPAALDSO JelCove

P1TBPACADS0 TelCove

PITBPADGDS3 7 B
TelCove

PITBPADGDS6 1 B
TelCove

PITBPADTDSO . ...J
2,304 B TelCove

PITBPADTDS1 -“'U
136 JBm

TelCove

PITBPADTDS2 r -
164 B

TelCove

P1TBPADTDS6 • /" 207 gjl
TelCove

PITBPAELDSO 33 n TelCove

PITBPAMADS1 • 16 B TelCove

PITBPAMADS2 i b TelCove

PITBPANSDSO • ' ** 516 H TelCove

P1TBPA0KDS1
1.248 jggj

TelCove

PITDPANGDSO
3,953 B

TelCove

PITFPA01DS0
2 B

TelCove

PIVLPAPVRSO 2° H TelCove

PLM0PAPLRS1 24 TelCove

PLNSPAARDSO
6 mBt

TelCove

PLSGPAPGRS1 33 TelCove

PRFDPAPFRSO
18 B

TelCove

PRKSPAPEDSO
82 B

TelCove

PSVLPAPVRS1 21 TelCove

PTTNPAARDSO
2,581 B

TelCove

PTTNPAPIDSO 85 m
TelCove

PTTVPAPODSO
308 B

TelCove

PTTWPAPTDSO 42 TelCove

PUNXPAPURS1 142 TelCove

PXTGPALRCM1
is b

TelCove

PXTGPAPGDSO 393 g| TelCove

PXTNPAPADSO
1,378 B

TelCove

PXVLPAPVDSO
431 hB

TelCove

PVVLPAPEDSO IB B TelCove

GKTWPAGTOSO 408 B TelCove

RBTPPARTDSO 125 m TelCove

RDLNPAXRDSO 73 gg TelCove

RDNGPAREDSO 1.182 B TelCove

RDPKPARPDSO
161 B

TelCove

C

HMBGPAHBRSO 58

HMSTPAHODSO 59

HNTGPAHUDSO 377

HRBGPAGUDSO 13,353

HRBGPAHADSO 35.161

HRBGPAHAXFY 2

HRSHPAXHDS1 4.725

HSDLPAHODSO 292

HTBOPAHBDSO 137

HTDLPAHZRS1 41

HWLYPAHWDSO 321

HZTNPAHZDSO 1,245

INDIPA1NDS0 1,047

IRWNPAIROSO 1

JHTWPABLCM1 44

JHTWPAXGDSO 12

JHTWPAXJDSO 347

JHTWPAXWDSO 102
JMTMPAJTRS1 30
JNNTPAJERS1 1
JNTWPAXJDSO 178
JRSHPAJSDSO 12

KGPRPAKPDSO 641

KGTNPAESDSO 48
KHVLPAKUDSO 40

KZTNPAKZRSO 157
LARCPALMDSO 23

LBNNPAESDSO 125

LCHNPAESRS2 86

LDVLPAESRS1 19

LGNRPAURSO 4

LHTNPALERS1 565

LNCSPALADSO 1,670

LNSDPALDDSO 15

LRDLPALBDSO 1

LWPXPAACDSO 16

LWPXPAACDSE 6

LWTWPALEDSO 108

in

o
Q
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n
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a

71
7 2

37
 60

13
 

PA
G

E
.2

5



CD REW PARERS1 17 j^jj&|TelCcn/e

O RGVLPARIRSO a ggSBTeiCcwe
s

ROCHPARCDSO 444 HagTelCove

RYFRPARFRSO 120 UsSlelCove

SCBGPAXSRS1 _______ i 26 gSglTelCove

SCHNPASCRS1
r.-ri-

50 SSTelCove

SCTNPASCDS1 1,605 iggiTelCavc

SCTNPAXARSO ' u 2 BSTelCove

SDTNPASDDSO 27 l&iSTelCove

SHIPPAAHCM1 • J 2 KB TelCove

SHIPPAXSDSO 8 &B TelCove

SHMKPASHDSO R7 Bb TelCove

SHRNPASHDSO 260 S| TelCove

SHSAPASHOSO 79 BMTelCove

SLGVPAXSDSO M2 SMTelCove

(f! SITNPASTDSO 1.387 isHTelCove

<S SLWBPASLDSO 6 SraTelCove

<C
<v SMRTPAACCM1 11 BBTelCove
(A SMRTPAXSDSO 56 g^BTelCove

i-. SNBYPASUDSO 282 aEwTelCove

u SNSPPASSDSO 29 B^HTelCove
U)

SPFDPASFDSO 727 BBaTelCove

SRBGPASTDSO 1.543 RfiTelCove

STCGPADNDSO 5,923 BgaTelCove

STCGPAESDSO 857 SSgiTelCove

a> STSTPASSRS1 8 Bln TelCove
a
so SWTWPAXSRSQ 6 j^HTelCove

h- TAMQPATARS1 B BSlelCovs

CM TAYLPATARS1 672 SSHTelCove
r-
i—f TNSTPATIRS1 31 TelCove

TNVLPATADSO 40 BBTelCove
<
u. TRCKPATCDSO 40 ^UlelCove

TRPRPATRDSO 183 ^BlelCove

TULYPATUDSQ 473 ^SlelCove

•—f TYRNPATYRS1 267 BH TelCove

c UNTNPAUNDSO B12 SraielCove

C4 WASHPAWADSO 418 SBleiCove
o
CM WAYNPAWYDSO 248 ^TelCove

o

LYSVPAXI.RP0 58
ID
ai

MBRGPAMEDS0 526 UJ

MCBGPAXMRS1 24 <1
Q.

MCMRPAMCDS0 62

MCPTPAMKOSO 266

MCRKPAMRDS0 19

MDTNPAMIDS0 175

MEDIPAMEDSO 62

MFTWPAXMDSO 24

MHCYPAMCRS1 53 cn

MHSPPAXMRS1 16 ©
MIVLPAMIDSO 144 ID

MNTPPAMORS1 33 n

MONSPAMORSO 6 CM

MOSCPAMCDSO 188 r-

MOVLPAMODSO 140 r-

MRCRPAMERSO 134

MTJWPAMJRS1 7
MTPCPAMPDS1 63

MTPTPAMPRSO 20

MTUNPAMURS1 0

MUVLPAESRS1 127

MYVIPAXMRS1 49

NBFDPAXNRPO 11

NCLDPANCDSO 127

NNTCPANADSO 134
NRTEPAXNDSO 33

NRTWPANRDSO 591

NWCSPANCDSO 498

NWKNPANKDSO 123

NWPTPAXNRPO 19

NWSTPANSRSO 113

NZRTPANADSO 22

OKMTPAOADSO 266

OLCYPAXODSO 89

OLYPPAOLDSO 20

PAOLPAPADSO 31 o

PHBGPAPHRS1 88 ©
OJ

n
M

a
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ALIEN! OWN ALTWPAAl VERIZON
c-i

FLM740IL. 2nFLMIS0 140 r.2 723 UNOLN SI Alt ENFOU'N PA 1HI01

AUENTOWN BIILHPABE VEHIZON n Miw. riMCoo ICS 24 ?25 N. NEW Si. fiBioieiiem P.n HiOlB

AUENTOV/N CTSOPAC1 VERIZON ELMI5U. HAWOfl IGF 24 321.331 2ND ST. CATASAUQAU. PA 18037

ALlENTO'/ZN EMiVSPAXE VERI/ON GTE 1 LW3im 04 8 409 Soylli Railrnad Si. Fmsus, PA 16049

All EMTOWN KHVLPAKU VERIZON FLMiso. n i.'snrj ICO 24 S7:w MEMORIAL HO KUHNSViLLfe PA 18031

ALLEffTOWN HDNGPARL VERIZON nwtco 84 419 V.'ash nylon SI Roadino PA 19846

COUOERSPOK CDPTPACO VEHIZON fiwiso. rir.-wo 84 16 3H9 NORTH MAIN STREET CGUDERSPORI. PA 10915

Ll/IE I'RIEPAXt VERIZON-GTE ELM-Vta 84 \? 38 17 FiUFEALO RD tlHF PA 16510

ERIC FRIEPAJtMWD? VERIZON GTE FI.MISI). H i.u^ao 64 4H 70 K KITM GF LHlF PA 16SI5

ERIC EJJIEPAXS VERIZONGTE FLVnOll 64 1? 80UVS2NUSI F Hlf. PA 16509

CRIC LHIEPAXW VTRIZON-GTV FLVSOn 64 17 3805 W 12THSI I.RIE. PA1GOI5

HARHISRURQ CHnGPAXCV<?< SPRINT fLMCt'O 17 2S0 E 11NCOLN V.'AV CHAMdERSaUHO PA 17201
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HARRISBURG HKSHPAXH VER1ZON-GIE FLMSOO 12 509 CHERRY DR HtHSHEY. PA 17038

HARRISBURG WHRGPANt VERIZON 1 1 LNOOOIn Scjpo. 1 HM ISP anil 1 H M 2.100 in virtual. 1 SLC2000 84 fly 768 14 (4 HIGH SI MfcCHANlCSaURGPA 17USS
LANCASTER LNCSPALA VERIZON rLV24W Wiin FLM COO liih sMIl and 1 HD lull slicll 24 4 176 NDUKE SI IANCASIEH PA17ft/0

PHILADELPHIA AMBI PAAM VPRtZON (1)FLM-T50,(2)FLM 2dOO.SlC2«IO 64 OS 152 70 N SPRING GAHnr.N S.AMBLLR PA 19002

PHILAOfclPHIA OO'NPABC VERIZON fnrLM.ISO.LUFLM 2400.5102000 B4 12 192 321 LEVERING MILL HOAD BALA CYNWYO PA 19004

PIIIIADCLTHIA ClinPACl VERIZON (l> IM-150. |1iFLM-240n. SLC2000 84 17 192 BALTIMORE PlKt ONSWSlL>fc CHESTER HEIGHTS PA

PHILADELPHIA CIIVIPACH VERIZON (IIFIM ISfl.lUFIM 7401). SLC2000 84 17 192 1516 eUSILfc (ON PIKE CHUHCHVllLE PA 18966
PHILADELPHIA CNSHPACN VERIZON MlfLM ISO. (I)FLM 2400. SI C2000 64 12 192 !«1 E NORTH IN CON5HOHOCKCN. PA 19478

PHILADELPHIA EOTNPAEO VERIZON (I1FLM ISO. (1|FU,4 2400. SLC2000 64 1? 192 2920 FORREST AVt EDDINGTON PA T9020

PHILAOfl PHIA FXTNPAEX VERIZON (UFLM-150, (J)KW 2400. SLC2000 64 12 192 ICO E SWEDESFORO AVE, EX TON PA 19341

PHILADELPHIA mCOI’AHB VERIZON <UFtM-1S0. (1)FLM-?4IHJ. SLC2000 28 38 1.920 29? MORELAND AVt HATHORO. PA I9n40

PHILADELPHIA JENKPAJK VtRIZON 11 IFLfd tO(l. 11 lFLM-2400. SI 021)00 64 17 192 t IKI GREEt/WOOl) AVE JENK1NTOV/N. PA 19046

PHUAOELPHLA KOPRPAKP VERIZON (IIFIM ISO. |1)FLM 2400. SI C20W) 28 36 1.920 540 ALLENDALE HO KING OF PRUSSIA. PA t«M06

PHILADELPHIA LANGPAIA VERIZON OIL LM 15ll.01FlM.24no. St C2000 84 12 1« I49N REt LEVUE AVE LANGHORNC.PA 19048

PHILADELPHIA INDU’ALI) VLHIZON (11L LM.ISO OlFLM 2400 MC2000 ?fl 33 1.970 100 S BROAD ST LANSOAIF. PA 19446
PHIIADELPH'A NRTWI'ANR VEHIZON OIL LM-1SU. OIFIM 2400, SICZIHJU 1 1? 76 76ft 400 DEKALB SI MOHRISFOWN. FA 19401

PHIIAOELnilA PAOLPAPA VERIZON O1FLM-150. OIFLM.2400. SLC2IXI0 28 SG 1.92'! 175 W CIRCULAR AVC PAOI1, PA 19301

PHIIAOELPHIA PHLAPAOE VERIZON OlFLM-ISO. 0)ELM.2400. SLCZDOO 26 30 1.970 2000 S UKOAO StnCEl PHILADELPHIA, PA 19108

PHIIAOELPII'A PHIAPALV VLHIZON OIFIM-ISD OirLM-2400. Si CZOOO 78 3C 1.970 3810 CHESTNUT. PHILAnFI PHIA. PA 19104

PIIILADfIPI HA PHIAPAGfc VLRI/.ON (1irLM-l5n. OlftM 2400. SI.C2000 11? 76 7i;n 20 W. CHH TON AVE FHIIADELPHIA PA 19108

PHIIADEI PHIA I’HLAPAJE VtRIZON din M-ISO. Oil 04 7400. SI.C2000 07 2ft 7Gn 4808 LI-tPER ST PHILAOLLPHIA. PA 19108

PHILADELPHIA PHLAI’ALO VtRIZON (1|FT M-ISO. OIK M ?4n0. 5LC2IJ00 117 26 7QH ICTI ARCH STREET PFIILADEI PHIA PA 19103

PHIl AOnPHIA nilAPAMXIICf VERIZON ■/ - n M240C S. FLMISO. SLC2000

112 64 1.P2C 900RACL SllltFf PHILAOtU'HIA. PA 19107

PHILADELPHIA PHLAPAOR VERIZON OlFIM iso. (IIFIM 74011. SLC2O0O ?S 3fi 1.020 2210 LOT I AVL-NUE PHILADEI PH'A. PA 191C3

PUILADEH'HiA PHLAPAPE VERIZON OlFLM ISO. 01FLM-2400. 5102000 28 U. 1,920 423 17THS1 PtlUAOELPH'A. PA 19108

PHILADELPHIA PHIAPAPI VERIZON Oil LM-160. (IIFIM 2400. SI 02000 112 7ft 7G8 7754 RISING SUNAVE PIULAOEtPHIA. PA 19108

I’HIIADLLPHIA PHIAPA7R VERIZON OIF LM-1SU. O1FIM-24C0. S1C20O0 02 28 766 SIS? IANCASICR AVE PHILAOf l PICA. PA 19100

PHILADELPHIA PH1APAVW WRIZON OH LM-ISU. IIVFl M-2400. SI 07000 O? 78 7fl6 r,4i;8 NORTH BROAD STREEI Fllll ADELPHIA. PA 19I0B
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PHILADELPHIA PTTWPAPT VEHIJOH MIFLM-150. (liriMTMDI). SLC20U0 1)2 29 768 235 KING STREET POTTSTOIVN. PA 1W64
PHIIADELPHIA ROPKPARP VERIZON diHM-ifti). mriM-jAoa slczom H2 7H 76S

400 W SfcLLARS RIDLEY PARK. PA 10878
PHILADELPHIA TRPRPA1R VERIZON oiHM-tsio. mriw 2400. siczooo 112 28 769 80 BRlMFIELG. ROAD NORRISTOWN. PA 10403

PHILADELPHIA TULYPATU VERIZON (TirLM-ISO. n)RfA2400. 5UV008 112 28 768 7643 79 NEW TAILSRD lUllYTOWN. PA 1CW3D7

PHILADELPHIA WAYNPAWY VERIZON PIUIM). Fl W2AOO 112 28 300 VV LANCASTER AVF. WAYNE PA 19083
PHILADELPHIA WCHSPAWG VERIZON muM-Tso. (nriM-2400. slczooo 20 3a 1.920 401 S HIGH STREET WESTCHESTER. PA 13300

PHILADELPHIA WLGRPAWG VERIZON FLMT50. FLM7400 112 28 229 OLD YORK HOAU WUIOW GROVE. PA. I9Q30
PITTSBURGH BGVLPABR VERIZON FLMIOO.FIM60I) A4 8 ABS CO 408 Wash. Ave . BnJocvillo Pa 15017
PITTSBURGH Rn.RPA.X0 SPRINT ADXS00 84 48 718 R WASHINGTON ST BUTLFR. PA 16001
PITTSBURGH BTTKPABP VERIZON FLMtSO.Flf/OOrt 84 8 5112 W. LihrnfY Hd. Bellwl Park. PA 1S102
PITTSBURGH CARNPACA VERIZON HMisn.FiMeoo 84 8 201 t. Mam SI . CsnieT*. F'A 15100
PITTSBURGH CHPLPACO VERIZON FLf.1160. PLNfiOO 84 6 4 10 BROADWAY 51. CORAOPOl IS. PA 15108
PITTSBURGH GNBRPAGR VERIZON ADXfcOO 81 H m wHriseuHGH si grcensburg.pa istos

PITTSBURGH l/CPTTAWK VERIZON FIMI50. FIMC00 84 6 570<;'.li Avif. fi/rK«*soi)A. PA 15137
PITTSBURGH l/OVLPAMO VERIZON FLMIOO. HM&nO 04 B 4206 NORTHERN PIKE MONROEVILLE. PA 15146

PinseilRGH OLCYPAXO VERIZON Af)X«IO 84 14 2C0SLNLCAST OIL CITY, PA *6301
PITTSBURGH PlTBPAOTHPQ VERIZON n Mi.Ao.<:»rLM’4oo 04 60 41C7THAVL f’lUSHURGH.PA 15239

PfTTSRURGH PITBPANS VERIZON I LMI50. Fl MbPC 64 8 15 MONTGOMEHY PL PITTSBURGH. PA 15717
PITTSBURGH T'lTBHAOKHPP VERIZON FLUIM. riM2400 84 60 530 N NEVILLE ST Pit ISRURCH, PA 15236
PITTSBURGH PLHSPAPH VERIZON FLA1150. FLM600 &4 6 128 TEL STAR DRIVE PLEASANT HILLS PA 15736
PITTSBURGH ROCHPARC VERIZON AOXSW 84 14 178-142 W MADISON AVE ROCHESTER, PA 15074

PITTSBURGH SHRNPASH VERIZON ADX600 84 14 29 S DOCK ST SHARON.PA 16)48
PITTSBURGH WASHPAWA VERIZON AOXtOO 84 14 41 E PFAU ST WASHINGTON. PA 15J40
SCRANTON H7TNPAHZ VERIZON A0X600 84 14 120 W. GREEN ST. HAZELTON PA 18201

SCRANTON SCTNPASCHPM VERIZON f LMI50. Fl M2400(scOue). FLM1SO.FLM240O.SLC20CO fvrtnall 84 48 768 12 121 ADAMS SI SCRANTON PA

SCRANTON SRSGPAS1 VERIZON FLM50O 12 20S7THST STROUDSBURG. PA 18380

SCRANTON WlBRPAWfl VERIZON ADXC00 84 14 777 S MAIN ST WILKES BAHRE. PA 18789

SCRANTON WIPTPAWI VERIZON AOXflQO £4 14 404 W FOURTH ST WILLIAMSPORT. PA 17 701

STATTECOUEC ALNAPAALHVA VERiZON FLM600. fl.M130.FI W2AM.SLC2000 84 84 760 1119 16)11 STREET ALTOONA. PA 16601

STATE COT l£C DUBSPADUHPC VERIZON AOX600 04 14 115 SCRIBNER AVE. DUBOIS. PA. 15801

STATE COl.LPC •IHTWPAXG VfcRIZON-GTF FLMI30. H.M74IHI 64 48 204 BEIMON1 SI ©CLEARWATER ST JOHNSTOWN. PA

SIA1E CULL! C SIUJI-AES VLMIZON n Mono n uiori r i m?400 ni 1:2000 84 64 768 250 SOUIH ALLEN STREfc 1 SIATf-COII FGF. PA 10801

YORK HNVRPAXH SPRINT riMLOO 12 120 UAL 1IMOI ll: ST HANOV1 II PA 1/332

YORK Y0HKPAXMYV03 VFHIZONKHl I nm2400»/ilii 3 FLM ISO1* tihfrt of). 1 flash 600 and 1 SLC 7001) 232 40 786 31 BLAVLH STHTf T. YORK. PA 17401
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Sent by: Starr Bel!

01/15/2004 04:43 PM

iiturak-Gingrfch/ESCM

Misturak-Gif-grich/£SCM@ESCM

bcc

To su2an.d.paiva@veri20n.com 

cc jeff.heins@l£lcove,com. Kathleen

Subject ^0: ^o’low up on TeiCove's Aopendix A responsesCi

Hi Susan: Thanks for your follow up e-mail. In response to your inquiry, this advises that TelCove Is 
working on the answers to the follow up questions which we-had discussed. As soon as that information 
is available, it will be forwarded to you. Telcove understands the time sensitivity of the requests and is 
attempting to gather the responsive information as quickly as possible.

Additionally, in response to the specific questions In your e-rr.ai.. TelCove has confirmed that Attachment 
"D" is the TelCove attachment which identifies the collocations, termination equipment and the transport 
facilities of the various Telcove companies. Jeff Heins understands that Attachment ”0'' represents 
TeiCove's answers to questions 1 and 2 of the Commission's Transport requests. Jeff further 
understands that Telcove is still gathering information to respond to transport questions 3-6.

I will be in touch as soon as the additional information is available . Many thanks for your professional 
courtesy in this matter. Talk to you soon.

Kathleen Misturak-Gmgrich, Esquire
Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott. LLC
213 Market Street
Harrisburg. PA 17101
717.237.6067
717.237.6019 fax
kmg@iescm.com

—- Forwarded by Kathleen Misturak-Gingrich/ESCM on 0V15/200 * 03:32 PM

Kathleen and Jeff,

I an ;ust checking in to see if you have made any progress on the follow-up 
questions we had about the switching responses.

Also, I had promised to get back to you if we had any questions on the 
transport responses. Am 1 correct that the attached spreadsheet depicts 
Telcove's collocations, the termination equipment utilized in each one and 
the transport facilities* Is this Attachment C? Dees this attachment 
respond to all Che questions asked in Transo^-c Questions 1 through 4? If 
these assumptions are correct: could you clarify that in writing (or correct 
me if I am wrong)

suzan.d.paiva@verizon.com 

01/14/2004 03:14 PM Kathleen } .is:uraK-Gtrgrich/ESCM@ESCM. 
jeff.hens@'e cove.com

cc
Subject follow up c ».felCove's Appendix A responses

JAM 23 2004 17:17 717 23? 6019 PAGE.31



. 01/23/2004 17:17 FAX 717 237 6019 Eckert Seamans (2)032

Exhibit 4

7 1 7JAN 23 2004 17:18 237 6013 PA6E.32



E
c
k
e
r
t
 
S
e
a
m
a
n
s

on
oo
19

<7l

<o

oC4

1-1

U.

ccfl
o

■■■■J
■ 'J~

•'-osj:

SsSSfSil®

or 6'*Tiid (fiSinert TiiFliv?'.'^T.CHyV— •'•-iiiic’ •;-r,v i.'rMsdri.TVDi-. OuaoWv Qvantifv - oso * OC (ib'si

Al m?AAL V€»?0H L ^ HMnon. SnHMISO 140 57 721 LINDEN SI AUffUOWN PA lOUil

HlENrCK.U BHIHPAOE VERNON FLMISO.HI.GUD 1«5 24 52S H. NEW Si. D*if'«h»mP.i 18018

AUEMO.vrj CTSaPAUT VERIZON TIMlAO.TL'ZSOO um T4 121-211 1*7(0 ST. CATAAAUOAU. PA 10037 OAHOd

AJ UNTO'.VN fcMMSPMb VERIZON GTE HMM'P bi 0 407 SorCrt RdliOtO £l . E't'«m\ CA 1004*) fW.fTM

ALLl H rO'A^J KHVLPAKU VTRiZGN 1 iMlAU.FL^fln \r,c iM 5718 MEMORIAL HU KUHNSVII1 (_ PA 18911

AUFMOV.N DDHCPAflP VEftiZOH H 1/1^0 119 Wish nrjlun SI. RosOnj. PA 19545

COUDSRSFOK COPTPACO VERIZON KMlSO H-VQIJO m ir- y»9 NORTH MA'HSUafT COUDIRSPOHT. PA 1CPI' OAA^il

f:RIF rRILPAXE VFR1ZO/PGTE EU'tno e< t: 1817 0UrFALO RD CRIt.PA 16510 r>»n"ii

rRlFPAAMATJ? VEHIZON-G1E riMiso fuzjmo n< A* 70 E. TOTH ST ERlI . PA 16M5 OArlPH

CRIfcPAXS VERIZON-GTE ft V.MjO t* 12 81'1 VV 52NO ST ERIE. PA 1ASn»

rmtP/AW VERIZON GIF FL'.'MO AJ 12 1805 W. 12TII ST FRlf. PA 16508

KAFRISfltJflC CfHSC/'AtCLV7i SPRINT f LL’ilOO 12 280 E UNLOINVVAY CHAWit'-RShURR. PA 1/291 UiJ-d • Co.Tr&All

HARRISbliHC CPIt'.PACH VERIZON 1 fl M50U m Si/’nt. 1 HMliP ind 1 11 U r*OOin k«iur-l 1 LLC.'iino e' OO 7h*i 128 S M1HS1 CAMP HILL PA Iaii4’] Cnm-a*il

HARRI5L*U FfG CRI SPAXC SPRINT FLMCuO K' IZOVVKLLH ST CARI ISU .PA nun Ir*wr3 • CwtcaM

KARfiisauac HRfiGPAHAIIVC VERIZON 3 IlM ISII'I. 1 ELUC'ID. 1 riurmn 1 SLCZHOOIn Wl'irl S,mi» 8re.> lisi J Fl fAl'IO'Ts 252 144 768 12 210 PINE SIHiET HARRISBURG. I’A 17101 Corcjvl

HARRISBURG HS:,HPA':il VtHlZON-GTE H i.'WLI 1? SmCIHRHYUH IIERMli Y. I’A 17<J65 . C(ZJP/Jlfl

HARRISPUIIG »,>nHr,i'A».iE VERIZON 1 F[ WEOb rt Sonw 1 11 MT-9 rr4 I FIM Z1UP n, k/IimI. I SLCZ"0n ei so /C^ 14 N HIGH 51 MFCIIANILSBUKCPA 17058 [•m-i • (5omc4»l

LANCASTER INC.SPALA VERIZON FLMZinbwnh FlVAiVlInt) irnl t,ml 1 H|i life iliMI 4 126 71 DUAL SI LA/ICASTCH. PA 1/6/0 ETlfOrl

I'HILADFIPHLA AM6LPAAM VERIZON mi LM-lM.(Zil LM-Z*'I» SlCVOdil « 1HZ 70 NSPrllhG GARDEN S AMBLER. PA loop/ (•AfPlJ * F.tHoA

HCYNPABC VERtZOH llirLM->». (1).LLM-?AM. SICZDOO 94 \0? 121 itL'cRiNG l/ILl ROAD bALA-LYNAYD PA l?Y'4 kivad L«48c-9

PHIIAOriPHPA CHTTPAC! VERIZON (DTLFAISO. mFlM-i-400. SLCZHOO M 1: 197 BALTIMORE PIKE ON SV/JUDE CHEStTR HFICH1S. PA 1rM*d . b'<«<«n

PMIIADCIPH'A CHV1PACH VERIZON THUZA lSl). (HUAVZIDO. SLCrOOR ?4 V 19? 1518 BUSTLE ION PIKE CHURCHVIUE PA lOSEi - EjHo/i

HHHAOELPHIA CNSHPACN VERIZON ma.M-150.(HFiM zmo glczroo fti 1? \?’i 1*1 F NORTH IN CONRHDHOCKLN PA 19178 irop*d €»H9n

PHILADELPHIA EOIHPAEO VERIZON IIIHM-T50. (I)FLV 2<00 SLCZnnO 04 12 1V4» /'ZO FORREST AVE LODINGTON. PA 1907H Iwrd - L>t4An

PHILADELPHIA EXTNPAEX VERIZON (Ilf LM 1511. IHFIM 2100. SLCZHOO Q4 u 197 llinr SV.tOLSfOROAVE. LMONPA 191(1 l«Uf90 - ltdoft

PHltAnfLPH'A HTSOPAH8 VERIZON ml LM-ISi. (||FLM.?in9 SI.CZOOO 2* 30 1.720 29 E MORELAND AVL HAIBOHO. PA 19049 ktt*d- E>«4«fl

PHHAOCLPHIA JEIJAPAJK VERIZON nil IM.ISO. (m LM 2400. SLC200O H 12 192 100 GREENWOOD AVE JEN-ONTOV/N, PA 19016 * EjeJon

PHIIAOELPIILA KGPRPAKP VERIZON IllELW-HO, (HILIZ 7400, SLCZCOO ?p 35 1.970 540 Al l ENOAlb RT) W.'IG OF PRUSSIA PA 19408 m**d - Exeton

PHILADELPHIA LANGPALA VERIZON (Hr LM-1F0. 1DFLM-740O. SlCZOUO %4 12 >92 149 11 BLLIEVUF. AVc LANGHORNE. PA H048 l»ji»d - Exelon

PHILADELPHIA LNOLPAlD VERIZON (UFIAMS0 (TIFLM.2400 SLCZDOO 70 1* t.MO ■ 60S BROAD ST LANSDAI E. PA 19446 Imod Lx Hon

PHI LADELPH'A HRTWPANR VERIZON (DELM-TSO (t)FLM-24P(». SLCZOOO HZ 28 76B 400 01 KALB ST NORRISTOWN. PA 19401 lei i«d- Eidon

PHIIAOCLPHIA PAOLPAPA V£fli/0N MI^LM 150. 111! LM.2400. SLCZOOO 28 ES 1.S20 125 VV CIRCULAR AVE. PAOLI PA IBIOT

PHUAOriPHlA FHLAPADt VFRiZON 111FLM-I50. (1JFLM 2400. SLCMOO 20 3S 1.920 7000 S BROAD STREPT PHilAOELPHIA PA 19108 lined - ErHcn

rmLAOCL phia PHLAPAiV VERIZON OIFLM-IW. mi lV-2400. SLCZOOO 28 35 1.920 3810 CHESTNUT. PHIlAaELPH'A. PA 19101 ld*Md - Ew'sn

PHILADELPHIA PHLAPAGf VERIZON (lin.M-150. (11FLV-Z400. SLCZOOO 112 ?i zer, W W CHELTOTJ AVE PHIIAOELPH'A PA 19108 Ifned- Eie'on

PHLLADD PH'A PIKAPAJt VERIZON (()rLFAl50.(im« 24O0. SICJflOO 112 71 7f>B 4509LEIPERSI PH LADF( PHIA. PA 191(19 • Curort

PlUAPALU VERIZON (ITTIM-IVI. (uriM.24iiQ SLCjroo 117 78 zue 1631 ARCH STREE 1 PHII AOElVH'A PA 19101

PHIlAOELPHiA PMIAPAMKHCF VERIZON 7 HV:4fiaS.FLVlW.SICZ(JCI0 1 rj SI I.U.’U uijoracf smter piuAorLPH'A.pA ioiot Mted • Endon

PHLAPAUR VERIZON mcLM 150. mriM-24oc siczoou 20 3C 1.9ZO 2710 ion AVLTIUE PIMADELPHIA PA 1*101 k-iMd - rrHin

VfHLZOH (l)TLM-150. (IIFLM-ZAOO. .MC70TO 20 5« 1.920 423 17111 ST PHILAOVLPH'A. PA 19108 1 oiled • F'4'ai>

rillLAOeLPH’A CMI APAPj VrHiZON (l)FLM 1SU.mriM.2400. SLC700O 117 ?( 7£" 7ZS4 RISING SUN AVE PHtlAOri PHIA. PA 1*106 l«*»ed - Eif'en

Prill ADFl PIMA PHI/.PAIR VERIZON mn m.150. mrin 7400. r.iczooo HZ 2* 768 S1S2 lAUCASItH AVP PHKA0F1PH A. PA 19108 lelied • E/i’gn

VtWZON (1JFIM liO.mnM.J40O. SICZUOO 112 70A r.489 NOR1H WIOAD STREET PIIU AOFLPHIA. PA 19106 JMVO0 •
(IlflM 1S0 mrtM 2400 SLCJOUO 117 2* at 215 KING 5IRCC1 POTiaiOV.N CA 11746 4 AmiM <

PllllAr>=lPHlA RDFXPARP VLRIZON (uriM-isii mnu.741111.siczooo 117 70 Z(J 400'.VSFUARS RIDLfc> HARK PA 190/A |PVM< -
HHIl/iUn I’MIA THPIIPATM VfHiZON IDFtU ISO. mn M-24U0. SLCJOOO 117 21 roo 8l» BRIMTiELO. ftOAD NURRISIDWN. PA 1V401 lined • Fr*lnn

PHIlAnEIPHIA IU1VPATU VIHIZON muM iso.mnv ;4oo slC7ooii 1 12 20 res 7641-79 NFW FAl 1 S RQ TULLYTOAN. PA 19607 lined Ln'^n

PHILAUf IPHIA WAYNPAWY VERIZON ILMISU. riM?400 11/ V*
. .

300 W LANC AS 1 7R AVf WAYNE PA l«fA8 Irairf - fa*1 w>
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PKILAOFIPH'A lACHSI'AYJC VCRiZON Mlfl M ISO. (TIFtM HVO. SLCZOOO :« 2C I.OZO 4IH S HIGH STRrrr WtST CHESTER PA IP'90 Idt.btd -Ei**<in

PrtlLADEtPH'A V.T.GHPAWG VfcftIPON FU.IISO. riMZXOO 11? :« ??9 OLD YORK ROAD WILLOWGROVf Pa. |PB30 Imud - Fx»'on

PinSSURGM RT.VLPA9R VFRIZON HM1S0. r-uzooo A4 b ABSCO409 Waiti.Ave . Brtrlaev.V P.i 1511? o»mM

rinsBURC-H B1IRPA.X0 SPRINT AOXSOD et 49 Zlfl S LVASHIIJCrON ST RUTIER.PA F&XJI iw) TLior b’t'rf

nitTSB'JHOH BVPKPA9P VEfllZOH riMIJO FlMSOO m « 51IZW. Library Kd.Bf'hdPsiK, PA I510Z oa i\i*t 1m '4

I'll 1SWIRGH UARNFACA VERIZON Fl MIST. FI UBuO e-i P 701 E. M»n Si, Civn/fi ■ PA 1 MU* nq f f«f tnj''4 >•!

Pll IS8URGH URPIPACO VERIZON FLMISO.FI MCOO i>4 6 410 BT40ATJWAY ST. COSAfiPOllS PA 15161 CMnqJ

PirrSHURGH GNBfiPAGR VERIZON AOTTOO A-4 14 111 IVPITTSBURGH S1 G-RFENSfiURG. PA 1 THIS no rrui t%'j /«t

PITTSBURGH NC PTPAUK VtRIZOH mtlFO. 1 LM900 M B 5?a BIFi Av« . Mr.Kjyirnrl. PA 1513Z riofiorr txld yel

pimuui<r.ii W'i'/U’AMO VLIIlZON fLMtSO, FI MCOli <M ft 4 JUS NOR 1 HERN PIKF MOUriOLVILlf KA IM41! <n»nfd

pininuRGH OLCTPAKO VERIZON AIKCUO (fi 14 JSOStNLC* ST OH CM V. PA 16301 rv) filter b'l'-d

Pi rrs BURGH PlTBPAOTl IPO VERIZON FLMli-O.TZlftU'ZFOa vt *0 iHOZIHAW PMISBURGH. PA *4?J6
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Q: Please state your names and business addresses.

Dr. Loube: My name is Robert Loube. My business address is 10601 Cavalier Drive, Silver

Spring, Maryland 20901.

Mr. Curry: My name is Rowland Curry. My business address is 1509 Meams Meadow Blvd.,

Austin, Texas 78758.

Q: By whom are you employed and in what capacity?

Dr. Loube: I am the Director, Economic Research, Rhoads and Sinon, LLC.

Mr. Curry: I am self-employed as the Principal of Curry & Associates, an independent

telecommunications consulting firm.

Dr. Loube and I have been retained by the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer

Advocate (“OCA”) to provide assistance and expert analysis in this proceeding

concerning the petition of Verizon Pennsylvania, Inc. (“Verizon”) to undertake the

targeted, granular unbundling analysis and other related work assigned to the

Pennsylvania PUC (“PUC” or “the Commission”) by the Federal Communications

Commission’s (“FCC’s”) Triennial Review Order (“7720”)'.

!n the Matter of Review of the Section 251 Unbundling Obligations of Incumbent Local Exchange 
Carriers, Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, and 
Deployment of Wireline Set-vices Offering Advanced Telecommunications Capability, CC Docket Nos. 01- 
338, 96-98 & 98-147, Report and Order and Order on Remand and Further Notice of Proposed 
Rulemaking, FCC 03-36 (rel. Aug. 21, 2003) (hereinafter “Triennial Review Order" or “TRO”).
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Q:

Dr. Loube:

Mr. Curry:

Q:

Dr. Loube:

Mr. Curry:

Please provide us with information regarding your relevant experience.

My consulting practice centers on providing expert advice to state agencies 

involved in telecommunications regulation. Prior to joining Rhoads and Sinon, 

LLC, I have worked for the FCC, the Public Service Commission for the District of 

Columbia, and the Indiana Utility Regulatory Commission. At those commissions I 

worked on issues associated with incremental cost, rate design, competition, 

universal service and separations. My vita is attached to this testimony.

I have 34 years experience in the telecommunications industry, predominantly 

focusing on state and federal regulatory policy and technological issues. Prior to 

beginning my consulting career in 2001,1 worked on the staff of the Public Utility 

Commission of Texas (Texas PUC) for almost 25 years. My vita is attached to this 

testimony.

Have you ever participated in proceedings before the Pennsylvania Public 

Utility Commission or other regulatory bodies?

Yes. I have testified as a staff witness in 18 cases before the Indiana Utility 

Regulatory Commission and 8 cases before the Public Service Commission for the 

District of Columbia. I am currently involved as a telecommunications consultant 

in proceedings in California and Nevada. I have also submitted affidavits attached 

to comments filed with the FCC.

Yes. I have provided advice and testimony for the OCA in several proceedings, 

including the collaborative workshops in (M-00011582), the proposed rulemaking

2
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on telephone service quality (P-00021985), Verizon’s Network Modernization Plan 

(P-00930715F0002), and the investigation into CLEC calling areas (1-00030096). 

While employed on the staff of the Texas PUC, I testified in, or was otherwise 

involved in, hundreds of proceedings. In addition, I am currently or have been 

involved as a telecommunications consultant in proceedings in California, Florida, 

Nevada, and Texas, as shown on my vita.

Q: What specific issues do you intend to address in this joint testimony?

Mr. Curry: We will address a number of technical and regulatory issues in support of the 

OCA’s position in this proceeding, including the importance of Unbundled Network 

Elements (UNE) switching and Unbundled Network Element - Platform (UNE-P) 

to mass market residential customers, the definition of market areas, our analysis of 

the FCC defined triggers in Pennsylvania, the importance of batch hot cuts in these 

deliberations, and our overall findings as to impairment of competition in 

Pennsylvania.

In preparing this testimony, we have reviewed Verizon’s initial Petition dated 

October 31, 2003 and Verizon’s supplemental testimony dated December 19, 2003, 

as well as other filings, pleadings, and data responses in this proceeding.

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099
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I. THE TRO'S IMPACT ON MASS MARKET RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMERS

Q. What is the OCA’s primary interest in this proceeding?

Mr. Curry: The decisions made by the Pennsylvania PUC in response to the FCC’s TRO may 

have a very significant impact on the availability of competitive options for 

residential telecommunications customers.

Competition for residential customers relies heavily on the ability of competitive 

carriers to purchase UNE-P services from the incumbent carrier. The FCC’s TRO 

proceeding essentially focused on determining whether competitive carriers are able 

to provide service without using UNE-P and the incumbent carrier’s switch. To the 

extent that adequate competitive options are available, there should be no harm to 

the ability of customers to select competitive options. However, the OCA is very 

concerned that if the UNE-P elements are eliminated, Pennsylvania customers will 

no longer be able to benefit from competitive choice. In particular, the UNE-P for 

many customers is their only competitive option for local telephone service.

Q: How important is the role played by UNE-P in Pennsylvania’s competitive

market for residential and small business customers?

Mr. Curry: Data submitted in this proceeding show that there are over 315,600 residential lines,

and over 128,700 business lines being served in Pennsylvania using UNE-P. Over 

half of the local customers served by CLECs in Verizon’s Pennsylvania territory are 

served using UNE-P service.

Testimony of Loube and Cuiry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099
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(Source: Verizon Response to MCI 1-41)

Q: Have you been able to calculate an index of competition for the Pennsylvania

markets?

Dr. Loube: Yes, I calculated the Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (HHI) for each market in 

Pennsylvania. The HHI ranges from 0 to 10,000. As the value approaches 10,000, 

the existence of a monopoly is indicated. Low values indicate competitive markets. 

In perfect competition, where each firm’s market share is equal to 1 percent or less, 

the HHI would be at or below 100. The Department of Justice uses a post-merger 

value of 1,800 to indicate when a market has become highly concentrated and when 

further mergers in that market will raise significant competitive concerns.2 The 

number of effective firms in a market can be determined by dividing the HHI into 

10,000. For example, if there are five firms, each with a 20 percent share of the 

market, the HHI will be 2,000. Dividing 2,000 into 10,000 produces five equivalent 

firms.

5



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099

Q: How did you calculate the HHI for Pennsylvania markets?

Dr. Loube: I used the Verizon retail residential lines and the Verizon count of Competitive

Local Exchange Carrier (“CLEC”) mass market lines by market. The Verizon

count of retail residential lines underestimates the Verizon share of the facilities-

based mass market because it excludes the Verizon mass market business customers.

The Verizon count of CLEC mass market lines over-estimates the CLEC counts

because, in many instances, the CLECs report fewer lines than Verizon reports for

the same CLECs. [Begin Proprietary Information]

3 [End Proprietary

Information] Therefore, by using Verizon line counts, my calculations will report

more competition than actually exists. This example also demonstrates how the

Commission cannot rely upon Verizon’s line number estimates.

Q: What were the results of your calculations?

Dr. Loube: My results demonstrate that Verizon continues to dominate every Pennsylvania

market. The HHI ranges from 5,719 to 9,238, and the number of equivalent firms

ranges from 1.08 to 1.75, depending on the market. The lowest HHI is 3 times

U.S. Department of Justice and the Federal Trade Commission, Horizontal Merger Guidelines, 
Issued: April 2, 1992, revised April 8, 1997, page 16.

3 Supplemental Direct Testimony of Harold E. West, III and Carlo Michael Peduto, II on behalf of

Verizon Pennsylvania Inc. and Verizon North Inc., Exhibit 1, Part A.
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Q:

Mr. Curry:

Q:

Mr. Curry:

higher than the Department of Justices’ indicator of a highly concentrated market. 

Because the number of effective firms is less than 2 in every market, the sum of the 

impact of all other firms never generates a second firm that is equal to Verizon. 

Individual market results are shown in Exhibit RL-1, Table A.

In what ways do the TRO issues threaten the availability of UNE-P?

In the Triennial Review proceeding, the FCC examined whether CLECs are 

impaired or not impaired without access to incumbent carriers’ network facilities 

and switching on an unbundled basis. With respect to circuit switching, a finding of 

“no impairment” would indicate that competitors should be able to provide service 

without using UNE-P and the incumbent carrier’s switch. Based on that decision, 

the incumbent carrier would no longer be required to offer the circuit switching 

element on an unbundled basis at Total Elemental Long Run Incremental Cost 

(TELRIC) prices to competitors. With a finding that competitors are, in fact, 

impaired without access to the incumbent carrier’s network, the incumbent carrier 

would be required to continue offering the UNE-P option at TELRIC prices.

How was this issue resolved by the FCC?

From the standpoint of circuit switching, which is the key to UNE-P service, the 

FCC first found “on a national basis, that competing carriers are impaired without 

access to unbundled local circuit switching for mass market customers ... based on 

evidence in our record regarding the economic and operational barriers caused by

7
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the cut over process.”4 Further, the FCC recognized that a more geographically 

specific record may identify particular markets where there is no impairment and 

asked states to apply FCC-defined triggers measuring existing switch deployment 

serving this market and, if necessary, “consider operational and economic barriers 

to switch deployment to serve this market.”5

Q: Who are “mass market” customers?

Mr. Curry: Generally speaking, residential and small business customers are referred to as

“mass market” customers, while medium and large business customers are called 

“enterprise” customers. The FCC defines mass market customers as those who 

purchase a limited number of “POTS” (Plain Old Telephone Service) voice-grade 

lines, and can only be economically served using DS0 (single-line, voice-grade) 

loops. The FCC left to the states the more precise identification of the cross-over 

point where it may be more economical to use DS1 (digital carrier) systems to serve 

a number of customers rather than individual single lines. Absent significant 

evidence to the contrary, however, the FCC established a default cutoff of four 

lines.6 Customers with three or fewer DS0 lines are to be considered mass market 

customers, unless the PUC determines otherwise.

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099

4 7HCM459.

5 Id, U 494.

6 Id, H 497. In the UNE Remand Order (15 FCC Red at 3822-31), the FCC determined that 
incumbent LECs that make the EEL combination available are not obligated to provide unbundled local 
circuit switching to requesting carriers for serving customers with four or more DS0 loops in density zone 
one of the top fifty MSAs.
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Q: What do you see as the overall key to this proceeding?

Mr. Curry: This proceeding, alongside similar proceedings in other states, will determine 

whether the competitive plan adopted by Congress in the 1996 Telecommunications 

Act7 has progressed to the point where the incumbent carriers no longer are required 

to provide unbundled switching.

Competition has not yet gained a strong enough foothold to eliminate the key local 

circuit switching element in any market in Pennsylvania. If the Commission finds 

“no impairment” and retracts that element, then competition will be diminished and 

customers will no longer receive the benefits of competitive choice: lower prices 

and improved services.

II. THE DEFINITION OF MARKET AREA

Q: What Is the purpose of defining the market area?

Dr. Loube: As indicated by Mr. Curry, the FCC has found “on a national level, that requesting 

carriers are impaired without access to unbundled local circuit switching when 

serving mass market customers. This finding is subject to a more granular review 

by the states...in specific geographic markets.”8 Therefore, the FCC directs state

Telecommunications Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-104, 110 Stat. 56, codified at 47 U.S.C. §§251

et seq.
8 77?O, H 419.

9
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commissions to perform a “granular market-by-market analysis of impairment.”9 In 

order to perform such analysis, a definition of “market” is required.

Q: How does the FCC TRO define “market?”

Dr. Loube: The TRO does not define “market.” Instead, the FCC directs state commissions to 

define “market.” “State commissions must define the markets in which they will 

evaluate impairment by determining the relevant geographic area to include in each 

market.”10 The FCC “delegatejs] authority to state commissions to ensure that the 

unbundling rules are implemented on the most accurate level possible while still 

preserving administrative practicality.”’1

Q: Does the FCC provide guidance for the state commissions in determining the

definition of “market?”

Dr. Loube: Yes. The FCC offers state commissions guidance in determining the definition of 

market to be used in the granular impairment analysis.

Q: Please elaborate on the FCC’s guidance to state commissions.

Dr. Loube: Broadly, the TRO states, “state commissions have discretion to determine the 

contours of each market, but they may not define the market as encompassing the 

entire state.”12

Id, U 424.

Id, H 495.

Id n 130.

Id 1495.

10
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More specifically, as described in the TRO, and codified in new §51.319(d)(2)(i),13 

the FCC directs state commissions to define the markets in which it will evaluate 

impairment by taking into consideration the location of mass market customers 

actually being served by competitors, the variation of factors affecting competitors' 

ability to serve each group of customers, and the competitors' ability to target and 

serve specific markets profitably and efficiently using current technologies.14

Q: Does the FCC provide additional guidance?

Dr. Loube: Yes. The FCC further advises that “[w]hile a more granular analysis is generally 

preferable, states should not define the market so narrowly that a competitor serving 

that market alone would not be able to take advantage of available scale and scope 

economies from serving a wider market.”15 Moreover, “state commissions should 

consider how competitors’ ability to use self-provisioned switches or switches 

provided by a third-party wholesaler to serve various groups of customers varies 

geographically and should attempt to distinguish among markets where different 

findings of impairment are likely.”16

The FCC acknowledges that state commissions may have already established 

methods to identify markets, such as UNE loop rate zones, intrastate universal

See Part 51 of Title 47 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

TRO, 495.

H 1)495.

W, 1495.

11
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service mechanisms, and retail ratemaking, and concludes that “already defined 

markets would be appropriate to use...” in the granular impairment analysis.17

Lastly, the FCC TRO asserts, “the market definitions used for the analysis of the 

triggers must also be used for the second step of the analysis, if the triggers are not 

satisfied.”18

Q: How should the PUC use the FCC’s guidelines to determine reasonable

geographic markets?

Dr. Loube: The PUC should establish markets that facilitate the determination of whether new 

entrants are impaired without the ability to secure the use of the combined UNEs, 

commonly known as UNE-P. Impairment occurs “when lack of access to an 

incumbent LEC [local exchange carrier] network element poses as a barrier to entry, 

including operational and economic barrier, that are likely to make entry into a 

market uneconomic.”19 Thus, the geographic boundaries of the market should 

reflect those factors that affect the profitability of competitive entry. Such factors 

as retail and wholesale rates, economies of scale and sunk cost drive the 

profitability of entry and should be important attributes impacting the PUC’s 

market determination. The PUC must focus on these conditions that allow new 

entrants the opportunity to establish long term profitability. At the same time, the 

markets should be as granular as possible, allowing the new entrants to minimize

17 Id, H 496.

18 TOO at footnote 1540.

19 TOO. H 84.
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Q:

Dr. Loube:

Q:

Dr. Loube:

their need to obtain large scale investments that might be beyond their ability to 

finance in the capital markets. Overall, the market should be defined as such so that 

it does not remove the only available competitive alternative for a customer, as the 

ultimate objective of this proceeding should be to promote competition, not hinder 

competition.

What factors affect the profitability of the new entrants?

The two most important factors affecting the entrants’ profitability are the revenue 

it might be able to obtain and the cost of serving its customers. Its revenue 

opportunities are dependent on the incumbent’s rates because a new entrant will not 

be able to charge as much as the incumbent and in many instances must charge less 

than the incumbent in order to attract the customers away from the incumbent. The 

entrant’s costs are the sum of any self-provisioned facilities and overhead costs 

along with any network elements its purchases from the incumbent. The element 

that most entrants will likely continue to purchase is the loop. Thus, in defining an 

appropriate market, the factors that affect the entrant’s profitability and that the 

PUC should be concerned with are the retail local rate and the UNE Loop rate.

Please explain how economies of scale affect cost and profitability.

Economies of scale refers to the decrease in average cost associated with increases 

in output. For example, using the switching equations embedded in the FCC’s 

synthesis model, when the number of lines served increases from 1000 to 5000, 

average monthly investment related cost decreases from $6.46 to $2.07. However,

13
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when the number of lines served increases from 20,000 to 25,000, the average 

monthly investment-related cost decreases from $1.25 to $1.20, showing that 

economies of scale are important at low levels of output, but after a certain 

minimum efficient scale, become relatively unimportant. Of course, scale 

economies in one function can be offset by diseconomies in another. The large 

switch could put pressure on transport and marketing, causing increases in the costs 

of these functions. Therefore, the market should be large enough to allow firms to 

exploit scale economies but not too large that the size of the market starts 

endangering profitability.

Q: Please explain sunk costs and how they affect profitability.

Dr. Loube: Sunk costs are costs that cannot be recovered when a carrier exits a market. Sunk

costs may include advertising to create brand loyalty, and spending to create a 

marketing network. Costs such as switches are generally thought to be fixed rather 

than sunk because the carrier may be able to sell the switch to an alternative carrier 

upon exiting the market. However, installation costs and out-of-date software 

associated with a switch can be sunk. Further, if the remaining carriers have 

sufficient switch capacity to meet the market demand, the exiting carrier may not be 

able to recover a significant portion of its switch investment. Moreover, if switch 

manufacturers refuse to support the resold switches, then the market for those 

switches will not be robust.

Given the existence of these sunk costs, an entrant will have to make large

investments to enter the market and the capital markets could evaluate these

14
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investments as risky compared to the incumbents’ investments. The high risk 

associated with the sunk investments will increase the entrant’s cost of capital and 

reduce its profitability.

Q: What geographic region should the PUC use to define “market?”

Dr. Loube: The PUC should define the markets as the density cells within the MSAs. Such a 

definition is consistent with the FCC’s guidelines and will facilitate any impairment 

analysis that the PUC might undertake during further phases of this proceeding.20 

The local retail rates and UNE-Loop rate are fairly constant across the density cells. 

Therefore, the opportunity to earn a profit or to judge whether an entrant is 

impaired without access to the local circuit switching and common transport UNEs 

can be evaluated. The CLECs can make reasonable decisions about whether they 

should enter the market because they determine what alternatives the customers 

may choose from in a consistent manner. Due to the relatively small size and 

compactness of density cells 1, 2 and 3, it appears that a CLEC should be able to 

build a reasonably efficient backhaul network to bring the traffic back from the 

incumbent’s wire centers to the CLEC switch. The boundaries of the market are 

administratively easy to determine and are available to all current or potential 

entrants. Moreover, if the incumbent decides to change any retail rates, those 

changes will usually occur at the density cell level. Therefore, any changes in the 

expected profits of the entrant can also be evaluated at the density cell level.

20 The FCC encourages the use of UNE zones as markets when UNE loop rates vary significantly 

across the state. See TRO, footnote 1538.
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Q: Are there any exemptions to your general recommendation to use density cells

to define geographic markets?

Dr. Loube: Yes. In the Scranton-Wilkes-Barre MSA, the wire centers that serve the city of

Hazleton, which are in Density Cell 3, should be excluded from the list of wire

centers that are included in the Scranton-Wilkes-Barre density cell 3 market. The

exemption is due to the fact that Hazleton is not contiguous or located close to the

other cities in the MSA. Therefore, the ability to build a compact and efficient

backhaul network for the MSA would be compromised if Hazleton were included in

the market definition. The failure to build an efficient backhaul network could lead

to a finding of impairment when the more granular market that includes only

Scranton and Wilkes-Barre would not. Thus, because of the general direction to

establish markets that are granular and because of the difficulties that might be

incurred in building an efficient backhaul network, I recommend that the wire

centers that serve the city of Hazleton be excluded from the Scranton-Wilkes-Barre

market.

Q: Should the PUC use the entire Metropolitan Statistical Areas (MSAs) for the

definition of geographic markets?

Dr. Loube: No. The MSAs are not granular enough to be used as markets for the purposes of

determining whether an entrant is impaired without access to a particular UNE.

Within each MSA there are at least two density cells and in the case of Philadelphia

and Pittsburgh MSAs, there are four density cells. It is possible that an entrant

could be impaired in one of the cells but not the others. If the decision to determine
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whether to eliminate the access to the local circuit switching UNE was made on the 

MSA level, then there could be areas where impairment exists but the switching 

UNE is not available. On the other hand, if the PUC determined that entrants were 

entitled to access to the local circuit switch UNE, then there could be areas where 

no impairment exists, but carriers still had the right to use the UNE.

In addition, the MSAs contain many small towns and rural areas that are in density 

cell 4. For example, the town of Smithfield in Fayette County is at the edge of the 

Pittsburgh MSA. Using a MSA market definition would include it within the 

Pittsburgh MSA and could deny a CLEC the use of the UNE-P to serve Smithfield 

customers. Obviously, given the difference between the UNE Loop rate in 

Smithfield and downtown Pittsburgh, the ability for a CLEC to serve a customer is 

significantly different in these areas and these two communities should not be 

placed in the same market.

Moreover, the MSA boundaries are controlled by the United States Office of 

Management and Budget (“OMB”) rather than by the PUC. They are not designed 

to evaluate impairment issues, and can be changed without regard to telephone 

market realities. The OMB statistical area design criteria are based on population 

and commuter standards.21 These standards do not necessarily follow telephone 

traffic patterns and do not follow the factors that determine impairment such as 

local retail rates and UNE rates.

Federal Register, Vol. 65, No. 249, 82228-82238, Wednesday, December 27, 2000.
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Finally, if MS As were adopted as market areas, the PUC would have to re-evaluate 

its impairment findings every time OMB changed the MSA boundaries, as OMB 

recently did when it removed Lebanon from the Harrisburg-Carlisle MSA, and 

added Armstrong County to the Pittsburgh MSA.

Q: Does the FCC direct the state commissions to rely on its access pricing rules

and the MSA guidelines in those rules to establish markets in this proceeding?

Dr. Loube: No. Verizon witnesses West and Peduto were incorrect when they tried to transfer 

the FCC’s reasoning related to access pricing to UNE impairment analysis.22 The 

FCC rejected using the access rules because the pricing flexibility rules “go to 

protecting consumers from anticompetitive pricing, which is not the same as our 

unbundling rules, which go to asking whether entry into a market is economic and 

to serving a host of statutory goals beyond protecting consumers from 

anticompetitive pricing.”23

Q: How does your definition of the market differ from Verizon’s definition?

Dr. Loube: In practice, excluding my Hazleton exception, Verizon and I support the same 

market definition, the density cells within the MSAs. Verizon’s preference, 

however, is to use MSAs as market areas. Verizon’s witnesses West and Peduto 

state that “[ajmong the existing definitions, Metropolitan Statistical Areas (“MSAs”)

Direct Testimony of Debra M Berry and Carlo Michael Peduto II on behalf of Verizon 
Pennsylvania Inc. adopted by Harold E. West III, page 11 line 14topage 12 line 1.

23 TRO, t 104.
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and Density Cells are the most appropriate.”24 Thus, it appears that Verizon is

supporting two different market definitions, MSAs and density cells within MSAs.

Of these two alternatives. West and Peduto explain why MSAs are the preferred

market area because “MSAs meet each of the three criteria for defining the market

established by the FCC.”25 I disagree with West and Peduto. As I stated above, the

MSAs should not be used as market areas because they do not provide a sufficient

granular playing field for the determination of impairment.

Verizon witnesses West and Peduto offer as an alternative to MSAs that “the

Commission may choose to define the market more narrowly, by differentiating

among the pricing Density Cells within those MSAs.”26 My position is that the

PUC not only may but should choose to use the Density Cells within the MSAs

because the density cells more closely match the need to define markets according

to the requirements of the impairment standard. Moreover, in each instance where

Verizon asks the PUC to determine that the trigger mechanism has been met,

Verizon uses the density cells within the MSAs as the market.27

Q: Should the PUC use individual wire centers to define the geographic market?

Dr. Loube: No. While an individual wire center is the most granular area that could be used to

define the market, it should not be used to define the market because the factors that

Direct Testimony of Debra M. Berry and Carlo Michael Peduto II on behalf of Verizon 
Pennsylvania Inc., adopted by Harold E. West III, page 11, 7-8.
25 Id, page 12, lines 3-4.
26 Id, page 13, lines 6-7.

Id, page 33, lines 12-14, and Supplemental Direct Testimony of Harold E. West, III and Carlo 
Michael Peduto, II, on behalf of Verizon Pennsylvania Inc, and Verizon North Inc., page 6, lines 2-8.
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Q:

Dr. Loube:

affect an impairment analysis generally affect a geographic area that is larger than 

the wire center. First, the ILEC’s retail rate is not unique to a particular wire center 

level. Second, because UNE loop rates are set at the density cell level, the major 

cost of service does not change from wire center to wire center within the density 

cell. Third, efficient backhaul networks would not be created for an individual wire 

center. Rather they would be established for a group of wire centers that are 

geographically related. Finally, marketing expenses are usually incurred over an 

area much larger than the wire center.

Is there another method for the determining geographic markets that could 

guide the PUC in its search for reasonable markets?

Yes. Antitrust investigations have long analyzed the problem of determining a 

geographic market. The principles used in these investigations are incorporated in 

the Horizontal Merger Guidelines (HMG). These guidelines start at the most 

granular level and increase the size of the market until it is possible to establish 

market power with a sustained price increase. The ability to sustain the price 

increase is dependent on cost advantages that are to some extent generated by 

economies of scale and sunk costs that we have used to determine that density cells 

are best. Our analysis also starts with the most granular and then stops when a 

threshold is reached. That is, I have analyzed whether the market should be defined 

at the most granular level, the wire center and compared that market to larger 

markets, such as the density cell and the MSA. Following the FCC’s guidance, I 

provide a different analysis than is used in antitrust work due to the fact that the
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threshold we are seeking is the profitability of the entrant rather than the ability to 

sustain a non-competitive price.28 Thus, I am informed and instructed by the merger 

guidelines but not determined by those guidelines. As such our analysis is 

consistent with generally accepted practices of determining geographic markets.

HI. SWITCHING IMPAIRMENT AND TRIGGER ANALYSIS 

Q: What is local circuit switching?

Mr. Curry: Local circuit switching represents the provision of basic local switching equipment

in a customer’s community. This function is a key part of the provision of basic 

local telephone service, and is currently classified as an UNE in the FCC’s 

interconnection architecture. In the TRO, the FCC defines “local circuit switching 

to encompass line-side and trunk-side facilities, plus the features, functions and 

capabilities of the switch,” including “the basic switching function of connecting 

lines to lines, lines to trunks, trunks to lines, and trunks to trunks.”29 In addition, 

“the features, functions, and capabilities of the local circuit switching UNE also 

include the same basic capabilities that are available to the incumbent EEC’s 

customers, such as telephone number, directory listing, dial tone, signaling, and 

access to 911, and in [certain] cases...operator services and directory assistance.”30

28

29

/rf. f Ml.

Id, H 433.

Id H 433.30
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Q:

Mr. Curry:

Q:

Dr. Loube:

31

32

33

(The incumbent LEC must offer unbundled access to operator services and 

directory assistance services if it does not provide customized routing.31)

What does the TRO say about the availability of unbundled incumbent LEC 

local switching for the mass market?

Before addressing the issues of geographic markets and trigger analysis, the FCC 

found “on a national basis, that competing carriers are impaired without access to 

unbundled local circuit switching for mass market customers ... based on evidence 

in our record regarding the economic and operational barriers caused by the cut 

over process.”32 The FCC further directed states to “approve, within nine months of 

the effective date of this Order, a batch cut migration process to be implemented by 

incumbent LECs that will address the costs and timeliness of the hot cut process.”33 

We will discuss OCA’s position with respect to batch hot cuts in Section IV of this 

testimony.

Assuming that the hot cut process issue is resolved, what is the next step in 

evaluating impairment related to local circuit switching elements?

The FCC finds “on a national level that requesting carriers are impaired without 

access to unbundled local circuit switching when serving mass market customers. 

This finding is subject to a more granular review by the states pursuant to 

specifically enumerated triggers and other operational and economic criteria

TRO at footnote 1327.

TRO, H 459-

A/4 488.
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Q:

Dr. Loube:

Q:

Dr. Loube:

34

35

36

37

regarding facilities-based entry in specific geographic markets.”34 The TRO 

institutes “a more granular market-by-market analysis of impairment on a going 

forward basis.”35

Please elaborate on the granular review to be performed by state commissions.

In the TRO decision, as codified in new §5L319(d)(5)(i), the FCC directs “the 

states to identify where competing carriers are impaired without unbundled 

switching, pursuant to the triggers and analysis of competitors’ potential to 

deploy.”36 The TRO explains that state commissions should “follow a two-step 

process in determining whether to find “no impairment” in a particular market. In 

the first step, states will apply self-provisioning and wholesale triggers to a 

particular market to determine if the marketplace evidence of deployment of circuit 

switches serving the mass market requires a finding of no impairment.”37 If the 

triggers are satisfied, that is, if the states determine that the level of competition in a 

particular market is adequate to find that there is “no impairment”, then there is no 

need to go to the second step.

How many triggers does the first step of analysis include?

There are two triggers in the first step of the analysis. The FCC recognizes that “a 

more granular analysis may reveal that a particular market is not subject to

Id, 1J419.

Id 11424.

Id, H 473.

Id, 11 494.
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impairment in the absence of unbundled local circuit switching. We [the FCC] 

therefore set forth two triggers that state commissions must apply in determining 

whether requesting carriers are impaired in a given market.”38 The two triggers are 

the self-provisioning trigger and the wholesale trigger. The FCC clearly directs the 

state commissions to “examine these triggers first in their analysis.”39

Q: Please describe the self-provisioning trigger.

Dr. Loube: The first trigger, the self-provisioning trigger, considers “evidence of competitive 

LEG circuit switch deployment.”40 In the TRO, the FCC finds that “evidence of 

self-deployment is the best indicator of whether competitive LECs have been able 

to overcome barriers to entry with respect to facilities deployment.”41 “First, where 

a state determines that there are three or more carriers, unaffiliated with either the 

incumbent LEC or each other, that are serving mass market customers in a 

particular market using self-provisioned switches, the state must find “no 

impairment” in that market.”42

The FCC believes “the existence of three self-provisioners of switching 

demonstrates adequately the technical and economic feasibility of an entrant 

serving the mass market with its own switches, and indicates that existing barriers

Id, U461.

Id, T! 461.

Id, H 435.

Id, 1)435.

Id, K 462.
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Q:

Dr. Loube:

Q:

Dr. Loube:

43

44

45

time.

46

47 

4S

49

to entry are not insurmountable.”43 “The competitive switch providers should be 

actively providing voice service to mass market customers in the market.”44

Please describe the wholesale trigger.

The second trigger, the wholesale trigger, examines the availability of wholesale 

switching alternatives.45 “Second, a state must find no impairment when it 

determines that there are two or more competitive wholesale suppliers of unbundled 

local circuit switching, unaffiliated with the incumbent or each other.”46

The FCC finds that “this test will ensure that local circuit switching can readily be 

obtained from a firm using facilities that are not provided by the incumbent.”47 

“Identified carriers providing wholesale service should be actively providing voice 

service used to serve the mass market and be operationally ready and willing to 

provide wholesale service to all competitive providers in the designated market.”48

Do you have further comment regarding the triggers?

Yes. According to the TRO, both triggers require the competitive carriers to be 

“using or offering their own separate switches” and “should be actively providing 

voice grade service to mass market customers in the market.”49 Furthermore, the

/rf, 1(501.

Id. II 499.

“While the record shows that such wholesale alternatives are not generally available at this 
..such alternatives may well develop in the future.” TRO, U 504.

77?0, K 463.

Id K 504.

Id 1 499.

Id 1111 499 and 509.
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FCC prohibits state commissions from evaluating other factors, “such as the 

financial stability or well-being of the competitive switching providers.”50 “The key 

consideration to be examined by state commissions is whether the providers are 

currently offering and able to provide service, and are likely to continue to do so.”51

Q: Does the FCC’s errata change to paragraph 499 of the TRO alter the way state

commissions implement the trigger mechanisms?

Dr. Loube: Yes. The errata deleted the phrase “should be capable of economically serving the 

entire market.”52 This relieves the CLEC from the responsibility to completely 

duplicate the service capabilities of the existing incumbent carrier across the entire 

market.

Q: Is a state commission required to count every CLEC offering services in the

market when the state commission implements the trigger mechanisms?

Dr. Loube: No. The CLEC must actively seek to serve the market. For example, if the market 

covers an area of 20 exchanges, a CLEC serving only 18 of those exchanges could 

be counted as one of the trigger CLECs. However, if the CLEC is only serving 2 of 

the exchanges, the state commission may find that the CLEC is not actively serving

50 Id, 1500.

51 Id, H 500; “For instance, states should review whether the competitive switching provider has filed 

a notice to terminate service in that market.” TRO at footnote 1556.

'2 In (he Matter of Review of the Section 251 Unbundling Obligations of Incumbent Local Exchange 
Carriers, Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, 
Deployment of Wireline Sendees Offering Advanced Telecommunications Capability, CC Docket Nos. 01 - 
338, 96-98, 98-147, Errata, released Sept. 17, 2003, FCC 03-227, Number 21.
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the market. The state commission does not have to count such a CLEC, because the 

FCC noted:

For example, if the marketplace evidence shows that new entrants 
have deployed a certain type of facility, we will consider the facts as 
evidence that the barriers to entry in that market for that element are 
surmountable. In deciding what weight to give this evidence, we 
will consider how extensively carriers have been able to deploy such 
alternatives to serve what extent of the market, and how mature and 
stable that market is.53

If the state commission finds that a carrier is not serving the market to a sufficient 

extent, that commission can exclude the carrier from the count used to meet a 

particular trigger.

Moreover, in instances where two carriers serve significant parts of a market and a 

third carrier serves only a small segment of the market, the PUC should not 

determine that the trigger mechanism has been met for the entire market. Instead, 

the PUC should redefine the market to include only the small segment of the market 

served by the third carrier, and finding that impairment still exists in the large 

segment of the market.54

Q: What guidance does the FCC provide regarding whether a CLEC is serving a

sufficient portion of the market?

Dr. Loube: The FCC’s guidance regarding whether a sufficient portion of the market is being 

served is divided into two parts. First, the FCC requires the CLEC to have the

Id n 94.

77?O, footnote 1552.
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“ability to serve each group of customers” within the relevant geographic market.55 

The two groups of mass market customers are the residential and very small 

business customers served using DS0 lines.56 If the carriers are not serving one 

group, then that carrier should be eliminated from the trigger count. Moreover, it is 

more important that the carrier be serving the residential market because that is the 

largest part of the market.

While it has been hard to document the size of the business mass market in this 

proceeding, a proxy for that portion of the market is the number of single-line 

business access lines. In Pennsylvania, Verizon served 121,677 single-line business 

lines and 4,248,750 residential lines as of December 31, 2002.57 Thus, the single- 

line business group represents less than 3 percent of the mass market. The fact that 

a CLEC may be serving the smaller, but more lucrative business portion of the 

market does not provide evidence that carriers are not impaired in general, and if 

the carrier is only serving this small portion of the market, without also serving 

residential customers, the carrier should not be included in the trigger count. The 

elimination of access to unbundled switching, solely on the basis of CLECs that 

provide service to business customers, would discriminate against the larger group 

of mass market customers - residential customers. Thus, carriers serving only 

business and not residential customers should not be included in the self­

provisioning trigger count in the mass market analysis.

55 W, 1|495.

56 hi, H 127.
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Q: Please describe the FCC’s second guideline for evaluating whether a CLEC is

serving the market?

Dr. Loube: The FCC noted that 3 percent of the residential market represented only a small 

percentage of the residential voice grade market, and that this percentage of 

customers served did not demonstrate a lack of impairment.58 Stated differently, the 

FCC recognized that the presumption of impairment still holds even if some CLEC 

uses its own switching to serve a very small percentage of residential customers. 

This minimum is also important to each CLEC because of the pervasive existence 

of economies of scale and scope in the provision of telecommunications services.59 

Competitors serving small markets segments will not be viable and will not be able 

“to serve specific markets profitably.”60 CLECs serving the small niche markets 

may be doing so for a variety of reasons, but such service is not evidence of lack of 

impairment in the market. For example, a CLEC serving an enterprise customer 

might as part of that service provide lines to employees that are telecommuting, or a 

line to the corporate president at his or her residence. Such niche market service is 

insufficient to constitute service to the residential market and does not correspond 

to “actively providing voice service to mass market customers in the market.”61

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099

57

58

59

60 

61

ARMIS 43-01, Table II, rows 2090, 2100, 2110, summed across Verizon PA and Verizon North. 

TRO, 438-440.

Id, H 86.

Id, H 495.

Id. H 499.

29



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099

Q:

Dr. Loube:

To separate those CLECs that are actively serving and can serve the mass market 

profitably from those CLECs that are not able to serve the market profitably and are 

only functioning as niche players, I recommend that the PUC adopt a 3 percent rule. 

Such a rule would require that a CLEC provide service to approximately 3 percent 

of the mass market in a market area before that CLEC can be used in the count of 

self-provisioning CLECs under the trigger test. In implementing the rule, I have 

made it easier to be counted as a self-providing carrier. This is because, due to 

problems of identifying mass market business lines, I did not count Verizon mass 

market business customers. I also did not include Verizon’s wholesale customers 

and the CLECs’ customers to ensure that my minimum line requirement was less 

than 3 percent. Exhibit RL-1, Table B shows the results of my calculations. For 

each market area defined by Verizon, I provide the number of Verizon retail 

residential lines and show 3 percent of those lines. In Exhibit RC-1, we compare 

the minimum necessary line counts to the number of lines served by each CLEC in 

the individual markets.

How did Verizon count CLECs?

Verizon counted each and every CLEC that serves at least one customer in any 

market under Verizon’s estimation. It included five carriers that served only one 

customer per market as effectively providing service in those areas. Two of those 

carriers were serving an area where Verizon’s retail line count exceeded 486,000. 

Verizon included an additional 9 carriers that served more than one tine but less 

than 100 lines. Two of those carriers operated in an area where Verizon has over
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800,000 lines. Verizon’s counting method means that if three carriers each with

one customer operate in a market, then all CLECs operating in that market would

be denied access to the local circuit switch UNE as part of a UNE-P combination.

Thus, 3 carriers serving 1 mass market line each would eliminate UNE-P to more

than 800,000 lines.

Q: How did Verizon justify counting these tiny operations?

Dr. Loube: Verizon witnesses Peduto and West assert that the PUC must not make any

subjective decisions; that the PUC must rely only on objective data. They believe

that “this objectivity allows trigger determination to be made quickly and accurately,

and avoids the need for protracted proceedings.”62

Q: Should the PUC use Verizon’s counting method?

Dr. Loube: No. Verizon’s witnesses Peduto and West ignore the FCC’s statement that “the key

consideration to be examined by state commissions is whether the providers are

currently offering and able to provide service, and are likely to continue to do so.”63

Accordingly, the state commissions must determine what it means to serve, to be

able to serve and whether the carrier is likely to continue to serve. State

commissions must answer these questions using their judgment regarding the

markets in their states. Despite Verizon’s contention to the contrary, inevitably,

this Commission must use some subjectivity in making the necessary

Direct testimony of Debra M. Berry and Carlo Michael Peduto, II, on behalf of Verizon 
Pennsylvania Inc., adopted by Harold H. West III, page 9, lines 3-11.

65 7V?CM|500.
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determinations in this proceeding. As noted above, the FCC provided some 

guidance with regard to how to determine whether a carrier is actually serving the 

market, and I have provided a systematic and practical way to put that guidance into 

operation.

Q: How should the PUC consider cable telephony providers as trigger candidates?

Dr. Loube: The TRO expressly considers the availability of intermodal alternatives when 

determining ILEC unbundling obligations.64 65 The TRO cites that “some cable 

companies have begun offering local voice service. In mid-2002, cable telephony 

represented over 2.5 million access lines in 27 states, a 39 percent growth over the 

previous year. Industry sources state that over 10 million households have access to 

cable telephony. Cable companies’ voice service competes with the primary 

landline voice service...”65

However, the FCC warns that “although the existence of intermodal switching is a 

factor to consider...the limited use of intermodal circuit switching alternatives for 

the mass market is insufficient for us to make a finding of no impairment in this 

market, especially since these intermodal alternatives are not generally available to 

new competitors.”66

Moreover, cable networks were “built for other purposes, often under government 

franchise, and therefore have first-mover advantages and scope economies not

64 Id, H 5.

65 Id, 1 52.

66 /4H443.
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available to other new entrants.”67 The cable provider may not only self-provide its 

own switch, but also its loops. This strategy is only available to the franchised 

cable company. It is not available to other entrants and therefore, the existence of 

the cable company’s telephone service provides no “evidence of an entrant’s ability 

to access the incumbent LEC’s wireline voice-grade local loop and thereby self­

deploy local circuit switches.”68 Given the limited potential for CLECs to enter the 

cable telephony field, cable companies should not be counted as mass marketing 

triggering carriers.

Q: Should ILECs operating as CLECs or through ILEC subsidiaries be

considered as mass market triggering companies?

Dr. Loube: No. These ILECs have many of the same unique characteristics that cable 

companies have. ILECs have switches that serve the incumbent franchise territory, 

and therefore, enjoy the benefits of economies of scope not available to new 

entrants. (Begin Proprietary)

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099

69 (End Proprietary) If these ILECs have a rural exemption to the 

provision of UNEs, they also have a protected monopoly franchise that provides 

them with a secure base of operations to expand into other services. Such a secure 

base is not available to competitive carriers. For these reasons it is reasonable to

id. H 98.

Id. 1H1 98 and 446.

Response of CEI Networks, Inc. to Preliminary Data Request, A-6.
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establish a distinction and exclude these types of ILEC affiliates or subsidiaries 

from the trigger count. In some instances (e.g., SBC), the CLEC may be from an 

ILEC that does not operate in proximity to Pennsylvania, and does not have a 

switch nearby. In that case, the ILEC could be counted for the purpose of the self­

provisioning trigger analysis. The Commission should not allow ILEC-affiliated 

CLECs to be included in the competitive trigger analysis unless evidence is 

presented that shows its total independence from the ILEC’s switching equipment 

and operations.

Q: Are there exceptions to the two triggers?

Dr. Loube: Yes. The FCC recognizes “that exceptional circumstances may preclude a state 

determination that there is no impairment in a given market even when one of the 

triggers has been satisfied.”70 “Where the self-provisioning trigger has been 

satisfied and the state commission identifies an exceptional barrier to entry that 

prevents further entry, the state commission may petition the [FCC] for a waiver of 

the application of the trigger...”71 An example of an exceptional barrier to entry 

may be inadequate collocation space for additional competitive LECs.72

Q: What if neither of the two triggers is satisfied?

Dr. Loube: The TRO states, “[I]f the triggers are not satisfied, the state commission shall 

proceed to the second step of the analysis, in which it must evaluate certain

TRO dX footnote 1534. 

Id, ^1462 and 503.

Id, I] 462.
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operational and economic criteria to determine whether conditions in the markets 

are actually conducive to competitive entry, and whether carriers in that market 

actually are not impaired without access to unbundled local circuit switching.” 

Therefore, states should examine operational, economic, and potential deployment 

evidence.

I would note that Verizon has not filed any evidence of the operational or economic 

factors that need to be considered, nor has it filed any potential deployment 

evidence. Verizon has essentially filed a triggers-only case. However, I have 

provided this brief explanation, given the FCC’s admonition on this point. We have 

not performed any analysis on operational, economic, or potential deployment 

issues, since no testimony or data was filed by Verizon.

Q: Turning now from the general nature of markets and triggers to the specifics

of Pennsylvania, have you analyzed the Verizon proposal and realities that 

exist in the Commonwealth?

Mr. Curry: Yes, we have. We have examined the filings, data, and interrogatory responses 

from the carriers in this proceeding, and it is clear that the FCC’s self-provisioning 

triggers are not met in any of the MSAs identified by Verizon in its filing.

Q: Please describe the nature of Verizon’s filing.

Mr. Curry: As Dr. Loube has indicated, Verizon is seeking a PUC finding of “no impairment” 

in 12 density zones of 7 MSAs in Pennsylvania, based on their assertions that there 

exist three or more competitors in each MSA that provide local circuit switching via

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099
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Q:

Mr. Curry:

Q:

Mr. Curry:

the competitors’ own switches.73 Table 1 shows the MSAs and the number of 

switches that Verizon claims should be counted toward the self-provisioning trigger.

Table 1: Verizon-Proposed CLEC Mass Market Switch Providers

VISA
# Verizon-Claimed 

Competitive Switches

Allentown-Bethlehem-Easton 7

Harrisburg-Lebanon-Carlisle 5

Lancaster 4

Philadelphia 13

Pittsburgh 8

Reading 4

Scranton-Wilkes Barre-Hazleton 5

What is your position with respect to the Verizon trigger analysis?

We disagree with Verizon’s analysis. Verizon’s filing incorrectly concludes that 

the existence of alternative, self-provisioned local circuit switching in Pennsylvania 

is at a level where the FCC’s triggers are met. We do not find any markets in 

Pennsylvania in which those triggers are being met.

Why is it your position that Verizon has not met the trigger requirements in 

any of the market areas identified?

As Dr. Loube has previously discussed, there are reasonable instances in which 

competitive service providers should not be included in a count of self-provisioning 

carriers for the purpose of evaluating mass market switching:

Verizon Petition. Attachment 2.
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• The carrier does not serve both residential and small business mass market 

customers;

• The carrier does not serve at least three percent of the market area;

• The carrier offers intermodal (cable) service only; or

• The carrier is an ILEC affiliate or subsidiary.

Of the 15 competitive carriers shown in Verizon’s Petition, eight do not market 

their services to both residential and business mass market customers,74 and 

therefore cannot be included in the trigger analysis. Another two competitive 

carriers are cable providers,75 and as Dr. Loube has indicated, cannot reasonably be 

included in the trigger analysis. Three carriers included in Verizon’s listing are 

affiliates of incumbent local exchange carriers and share facilities or operations 

with their incumbent affiliate,76 and should not be included in the trigger analysis. 

In addition to those specific exclusions, all of the fifteen competitors counted by 

Verizon serve fewer than 3 percent of the lines in at least one of their markets, so 

they would be excluded in those specific markets. That leaves no independent or 

non-excluded competitive carriers operating in Pennsylvania that provide mass 

market services from their own local circuit switches in any market area, and 

obviously none of the MSAs identified by Verizon have three or more self-provided 

competitive switches.

(Begin Proprietary)

(Begin Proprietary)

(End Proprietary) 

(End Proprietary)
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1 Q:

3 Mr

MSA Name CLEC Name 
(Proprietary)

Meet Self- 
Provisioning 

Triggers?
Reason for Exclusion

Allentown-Bethlehem-Easton 
(Density Zone 3)

*** No R, %
*** No R, %
*** No %
*** No R, %
*** No I, %
*** No C
*** No R, %

Harrisburg - Carlisle 
(Density Zone 3)

*** No R, %
*** No R, %
*** No I
*** No I, S, %
*** No R, %

Lancaster 
(Density Zone 3)

*** No R, %
*** No I
*** No I,S
*** No R, %

Lebanon 
(Density Zone 3)

*** No R, %
*** No I,%
*** No I, S, %

Philadelphia 
(Density Zone 1)

*** No R, %
*** No R
*** No R, %
*** No R, %
**# No %
*** No C, S, %
*** No \,%
*** No %
*** No R, %

Please elaborate on your findings with respect to each of the competitive 

carriers listed in Verizon’s filings.

. Curry: Table 2, below, depicts the list of CLECs as shown on Verizon’s Supplemental 

Exhibit 1, Attachment A (Proprietary), along with information that shows whether 

the switches provided by these carriers should be excluded from consideration for 

the purpose of switching trigger analysis.

Table 2: Independent Analysis of CLEC Mass Market Switch Providers.

(Begin Proprietary) (End Proprietary)
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MSA Name CLEC Name 
(Proprietary)

Meet Self- 
Provisioning 

Triggers?
Reason for Exclusion

*** No R,%
Philadelphia 
(Density Zone 2)

*** No R, %
*** No R, %
*** No R, %
*** No R,%

No %
*** No R, %
*** No C, S, %
*** No R, %

Philadelphia 
(Density Zone 3)

*** No R, %
*** No R, %
*** No R, %
*** No R, %
*** No %
*** No C, S, %
*** No I, %
*** No I, s, %
*** No C,%
*** No %
*** No R, %
*** No R, %

Pittsburgh 
(Density Zone 1)

*** No R
*** No R, %
*** No R,%
*** No C, S, %
*** No I
#** No R, %

Pittsburgh 
(Density Zone 2)

*** No R, %
*** No R, %
*** No R, %
*** No C, S, %
*** No I, %
**# No R, %

Pittsburgh 
(Density Zone 3)

*** No R, %
*** No R, %
*** No R, %
*** No R, %
*** No C, S
*** No R, %
*** No I
*** No R, %

Reading
(Density Zone 3)

*** No I
*** No I, S
*** No C,%
*** No R, %

Scranton-Wilkes Barre-
Hazleton
(Density Zone 3)

*** No R, %
*** No R, %
*** No I
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MSA Name CLEC Name 
(Proprietary)

Meet Self- 
Provisioning 

Triggers?
Reason for Exclusion

*** No C,%
*** No R, %

Reason(s) for exclusion:

R Does not actively serve both residential and small business customers.

I CLEC is an ILEC subsidiary or affiliate.

C CLEC is a cable provider.

S CLEC does not own or operate its own switch.

% CLEC has de minimis number (less than 3 percent) of customers in market. 
(See detailed table. Exhibit RC-1.)

Q: Can you elaborate on some of the specific reasons why some of these carriers

might have been identified by Verizon as qualifying for the trigger analysis?

Mr. Curry: First, there appears to be disagreement among the parties in this proceeding with 

regard to the types of CLECs that should be included for the purpose of meeting the 

TRO's self-deployment trigger. Dr. Loube and I have explained the categories of 

CLECs that we believe must be excluded from the analysis.

Dr. Loube has also discussed and given examples of discrepancies between the line 

counts provided by Verizon and the CLECs. One of the more difficult aspects of 

performing the trigger analysis is the identification of mass market customers, 

specifically, residential customers. Verizon has indicated that it gathered its local 

switch identities from the LERG (Local Exchange Routing Guide), the number of 

UNE-L loops from internal databases, and the number of residential customers 

served by CLECs (such as cable telephony providers) using their own switching
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and loop facilities from the E911 database.77 While this approach appears 

reasonable, it clearly does not identify residential customers as well as CLEC 

records. One example of potential miscounting is multi-tenant dwellings and 

nursing or retirement homes; in those situations, a location might contain multiple 

residential customers that may not be properly counted. The building owner may 

be an enterprise customer of the CLEC, but may re-sell service to tenants who have 

their own directory listings and E911 data entries. Those residents should not be 

counted as mass market customers of the CLEC.

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099

IV. THE ISSUE OF BATCH HOT CUTS

Q: Does the TRO address the transfer of customers’ lines between carriers?

Mr. Curry: Yes. The TRO evaluates the current loop migration, or “hot cut,” process, and

directs state commissions to approve a low-cost batch cut process that mitigates the 

limitations of the current hot cut process.

Q: Please describe the current hot cut process?

Mr. Curry: When a customer decides to change service providers, certain processes must take

place to physically (or in some cases electronically) disconnect the customer’s line 

from the connection of the existing service provider and move it to the connection

Direct testimony of Debra M. Berry and Carlo Michael Peduto. II, on behalf of Verizon 
Pennsylvania Inc., adopted by Harold E. West III, pp 18-21.
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to the new provider. It is important that the activities are coordinated such that 

there is minimal interruption of the customer’s service during the cut-over.

The TRO explains that the “physical transfer of a customer’s line from the 

incumbent LEC switch to the competitive LEC switch currently requires a 

coordinated loop cut over or “hot cut” for each customer line.”78 “A hot cut is a 

largely manual process requiring incumbent LEC technicians to manually 

disconnect the customer’s loop, which was hardwired to the incumbent LECs 

switch, and physically re-wire it to the competitive LEC switch, while 

simultaneously reassigning {i.e. porting) the customer’s original telephone number 

from the incumbent LEC switch to the competitive LEC switch.”79 “From the time 

the technician disconnects the subscribers loop until the competitor reestablishes 

service, the subscriber is without service.”80 A hot cut is required regardless of 

whether the customer was previously serviced by the incumbent LEC or by a 

competitive LEC through unbundled network elements.81

Q: What is the relevance of “batch hot cuts”?

Mr. Curry: If states find that competitive carriers are not impaired without the provision of

local circuit switching elements, then all of the customers who are currently served 

by UNE-P must be migrated rather quickly to UNE - Loop elements and connected 

to the competitors’ local switches (and likely to transport facilities). If a

80

Id. 1 465.

TRO at footnote 1409. 

7'/?0 at footnote 1409.
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competitive carrier has hundreds or thousands of customers to migrate, then there 

must be a system of processing a batch, or large group, of the migration orders in a 

reasonably short time. Data filed in this case reveals that there are over 444,000 

total residential and business customers served by UNE-P in approximately 400 

Verizon-PA central offices throughout Pennsylvania,82 and all of those customers 

would need to be migrated to UNE-L platforms in an efficient manner if UNE-P is 

eliminated. The process is complex, but must be accurate and result in minimal or 

no disruption of customer service. Most incumbent carriers have never processed 

as large a batch as is envisioned if UNE-P is phased out, and regulators are 

justifiably concerned that customers are not displaced by this event. The number of 

hot cuts that must be accomplished if all markets are declared not impaired is over 

(Begin Proprietary) (End Proprietary) times as many as Verizon indicates 

that it has processed in any given month in 2003.83

Q: Once the initial migration is completed, is the process still needed?

Mr. Curry: Most experts agree that there will be an initial peak, but that sizeable batches may

continue to occur due to the chum of customers from one carrier to another. 

Currently (using UNE-P), chum is handled without manual hot cuts. The process 

for switching a customer from one competitor to another, or from a competitor to 

the incumbent is more complex in a UNE-L environment. With a hypothetical

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099

Id, U 465.

Verizon Pennsylvania Proposal, Appendix A. Part B. 

Docket M-00031754, Verizon Exhibit 15-4.
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annual chum of 25%,84 the number of hot cuts in a UNE-L environment in 

Pennsylvania would exceed 10,000 per month on an ongoing basis. That is 

approximately (Begin Proprietary) (End Proprietary) times as many line 

migrations per month than Verizon-PA has ever accomplished.85

Q: What did the TRO find with respect to batch hot cuts?

Mr. Curry: The TRO found “on a national level that requesting carriers are impaired without 

access to unbundled local circuit switching when serving mass market 

customers.”86

The FCC further found “that it is unlikely that incumbent LECs will be able to 

provision hot cuts in sufficient volumes absent unbundled local circuit switching in 

all markets.” The significant “issue identified by the record is an inherent 

limitation in the number of manual cut overs that can be performed, which poses a 

barrier to entry that is likely to make entry into a market uneconomic.”

Q: Please elaborate on the limitations of the current hot cut process.

Mr. Curry: The TRO lists several factors that contribute to the limited capacity of the current 

hot cut process, including “the labor intensiveness of the process, including 

substantial incumbent LEC and competitive resources devoted to the coordination * 87

Testimony in other jurisdictions has shown that chum may reach or exceed this percentage. See, 
e g.. Opening Testimony of AT&T Witness Van de Water, California PUC Docket Nos. R 95-04-043 and I 
95-04-044, at Section IIIA, Dec. 12, 2003.

8:5 Docket M-00031754, Verizon Exhibit 15-4.

8(1 74 11419.

87 Id. H 468.
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of the process, the need for highly trained workers to perform the hot cuts, and the 

practical limitations of how many hot cuts an incumbent LEC can perform without 

interference or disruption.”89

The costs associated with hot cuts, which are borne by competitive LECs, 

“contribute to a significant barrier to entry.”90 Furthermore, the TRO finds that “hot 

cuts frequently lead to provisioning delays and service outages, and are often priced 

at rates that prohibit facilities based competition for the mass market.”91

In summary, the FCC finds that “the overall impact of the current hot cut process 

raises competitors’ costs, lowers their quality of service, and delays the 

provisioning of service, thereby preventing them from serving the mass market in 

the large majority of locations.”92

Q: How does the FCC propose to mitigate this barrier to entry?

Mr. Curry: Clearly, the FCC finds that the current manual hot cut processes are problematic for

“transferring existing mass market customers in a cost-effective and operationally 

seamless manner.”93 In the TRO, the FCC finds that “the present impairment can be 

mitigated by an improved loop provisioning process.”94 Moreover, “the record

Id, H 469.

Id. K 465.

Id. H 470. 

Id. H 465.

Id, H 473.

Id H 467.

Id, U 475.
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evidence strongly suggests that the hot cut process could be improved if cut overs 

were done on a bulk basis, such that the timing and volume of the cut over is better 

managed. We [the FCC] expect that such improvements would result in some 

reduction of the non-recurring costs that, according to competitive carriers, prevent 

entry. Indeed, at this time, we find such improvements are likely to be essential to 

overcome the operational impairment that competitors face in serving mass market 

customers.”95 As a result, the FCC finds “that a seamless, low-cost batch cut 

process for switching mass market customers from one carrier to another is 

necessary, at a minimum, for carriers to compete effectively in the mass market.”96

Q: How does the FCC propose to implement a low-cost batch cut process?

Mr. Curry: In the TRO* and codified in new §51.319(d)(2)(ii),97 the FCC directs state 

commissions to approve a new low-cost batch cut process that mitigates the 

limitations of the current hot cut process in each state commission designated 

market. “State commissions must approve, within nine months of the effective date 

of this Order, a batch cut migration process to be implemented by incumbent LECs 

that will address the costs and timeliness of the hot cut process.”98

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099

Id. K 474.

Id. n 487.

See Part 51 of Title 47 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

TRO. H 488.
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Q: Does the FCC provide additional guidance regarding the new low-cost batch

cut process?

Mr. Curry: Yes. The FCC directs the state commission to determine the appropriate number of

loops to be included within a batch." In addition, the state commission shall 

evaluate whether the incumbent LEC can migrate loops from the incumbent LEC 

switch to the competitive LEC switch in a timely manner, and can establish quality 

of service standards with regard to the average completion interval for migrating the 

loops.100 The rate for a cut over shall be determined in accordance with the FCC’s 

pricing rules for unbundled network elements.101

The state commission must also approve the specific processes performed during 

the batch hot cut. In order to better manage the timing and volume of mass market 

customer migrations, the low-cost batch process divides the hot cut into a series of 

steps such that pre-wiring and dial tone verification can be performed 

approximately two days prior to the actual cut over. On the day of the physical cut 

over, the incumbent LEC and the competitive LEC coordinate their activities to 

minimize the possibility of service disruption. During a given time window the 

incumbent LEC and the competitive LEC can perform the physical cut over of a 

number, or “batch”, of customers.102 These processes will be dependent on the

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099

Id, H 489.

Id, U 489.

Id, H 489. 

Id, U 489.
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incumbent LEC network. For example, cutovers involving integrated Digital Loop 

Carrier (DLCs) equipment may differ from other cutovers.

Q: What is the current situation with respect to the implementation of a batch hot

cut process in Pennsylvania?

Mr. Curry: The PUC is considering batch hot cut process issues in Docket No. M-00031754.103

Verizon offered no testimony or other evidence regarding batch hot cuts in this 

TRO proceeding.

In the Loop Migration proceeding, Verizon has indicated it currently uses two 

separate, though closely related, hot cut processes: a “basic” hot cut process and a 

“Large Job,” or “Project” process. Verizon indicates in addition that it has 

developed “a new process that we refer to as a “Batch” hot cut process.”104

Q: What is your general position with respect to the proposed batch hot cut

process and the resultant effect on the TRO impairment proceeding?

Mr. Curry: Any premature acceptance of or dependence on Verizon’s proposed batch hot cut 

process, as a part of finding “no impairment” for local circuit switching elements, 

will create great problems. I anticipate that CLEC parties in this proceeding will 

provide more specific examples of the difficulties with respect to hot cut issues.

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099

Development of an Efficient Loop Migration Process, Pennsylvania PUC, Docket No. 
M-00031754.

,CIJ Docket M-00031754, Verizon Response to Data Request No. 3, Oct. 2, 2003.
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Q: Do you have preliminary concerns about the proposed process?

Mr. Curry: Yes, I do. To begin with, Verizon’s proposed batch hot cut process has not yet 

been implemented or tested. With respect to testing its new process, Verizon states 

“[t]he full scale and methodology of the proposed batch hot cut trial has not yet 

been determined nor has Verizon completed its review of the potential trial 

participants.”105 Verizon asserts that the process will be tested in 2004 and will be 

commercially available at the end of this TRO proceeding. The Commission should 

continue to encourage dialogue among the parties as to the implementation of this 

process, but should not rush to approve it unless it really works for customers.

Addressing the issue of performance monitoring, Verizon responds, “[c]urrently no 

metrics exist for the proposed batch hot cut process.”106 Once again, the PUC is 

called upon to trust Verizon’s ability to make the systems work. A proper process 

must be tested and monitored for a reasonable period of time. The Commission 

should not approve the proposal based on speculation and insufficient evidence.

Finally, with respect to the anticipated volume of hot cuts in their new batch 

process, Verizon responds:

“...with the appointment window of 6 to 26 business days for batch 

hot cuts, Verizon will have a better view of the orders that have been 

submitted. This will give Verizon more flexibility in planning its work

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099

Verizon response to OCA Set II, Interrogatory 3.

Verizon response to OCA Set II, Interrogatory 4.
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force to ensure that the orders are all completed within the batch hot 

cut window.”107

We urge the Commission to examine the scheduling issue very carefully. An 

appointment window of over 5 weeks constitutes a serious barrier, and may well 

drive a residential customer away from a competitive service provider. The 

Commission should ensure that the appointment mechanism and all other aspects of 

the hot cut process are performed with an eye on parity with the ILEC’s services.

We also ask the Commission to be mindful of individual customers, including those 

who may be in wire centers away from the downtown areas. Even the best batch 

hot cut process once it is perfected may constitute an entry barrier if a lone 

customer must wait until other customer orders are accumulated over time for batch 

processing.

At this point, we have not seen a firm proposal, implementation plan, performance 

monitoring metrics, or other details of the new batch hot cut process, only 

speculation. The Commission cannot decide that there is no impairment with 

respect to the local circuit switching until the batch hot cut issue is resolved and a 

lack of impairment is demonstrated.

Verizon response to OCA Set II, Interrogatory 6.

50



I

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Testimony of Loube and Curry
On Behalf of the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Docket No. 1-00030099

V. THE IMPAIRMENT OF MASS MARKET SWITCHING

Q: Will you please summarize your testimony with respect to the impairment of

local circuit switching in mass markets in Pennsylvania?

Dr. Loube: Yes. Mr. Curry and I have reached the following conclusions with respect to the 

issues of this proceeding:

• Provision of competitive services in Pennsylvania is heavily dependent on CLEC 

use of combined UNEs, or UNE-P.

• Economic market analyses (HHI) demonstrate that Verizon continues to dominate 

every Pennsylvania market under review.

• For the purpose of the switching trigger analysis, geographic markets should be 

defined as the density cells within the MSAs, with the exception of the City of 

Hazleton issue.

• There are reasonable instances in which competitive service providers should not 

be included in a count of self-provisioning carriers for the purpose of evaluating 

mass market switching:

o The carrier does not serve both residential and small business mass market 

customers;

o The carrier does not serve at least three percent of the market area; 

o The carrier offers only intermodal (cable) service only; or 

o The carrier is an ILEC affiliate or subsidiary.

• We do not find any markets in Pennsylvania in which the local circuit switching 

triggers are currently being met.

• Competition has not yet gained a strong enough foothold to eliminate the key 

local circuit switching element in jmy market in Pennsylvania.
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• Verizon’s proposed batch hot cut process has not yet been implemented or tested. 

There are continuing operational barriers based on the inability to effectively 

migrate customers; therefore, impairment caused by these barriers still exists.

Q. Does this conclude your direct testimony in this proceeding?

Dr. Loube: Yes, it does.

Mr. Curry: Yes, it does.
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Exhibit RL-1

Table A
HHI for Pennsylvania Markets

Verizon Market Area HHI Equivalent Firms

Allentown-Bethlehem-Easton 5,719 1.75

Harrisburg-Carlisle 8,408 1.19

Lancaster 7,835 1.28

Lebanon 8,659 1.15

Philadelphia - Zone 1 7,945 1.26

Philadelphia - Zone 2 9,238 1.08

Philadelphia-Zone 3 8,682 1.15

Pittsburg - Zone 1 7,460 1.34

Pittsburg - Zone 2 6,475 1.54

Pittsburg - Zone 3 5,963 1.68

Reading 8,075 1.24

Scranton- Wilkes-Barre 7,150 1.40

Table B
Determining minimum line count necessary to be a "trigger carrier1

Verizon Market Area
Verizon Residential Three percent of

Lines per Market Area Verizon Lines

Allentown-Bethlehem-Eastori 135,381 4,061

Harrisburg-Carlisle 135,326 4,060

Lancaster 59,674 1,790

Lebanon 23,307 699

Philadelphia - Zone 1 98,160 2,945

Philadelphia - Zone 2 486,441 14,593

Philadelphia - Zone 3 800,799 24,024

Pittsburg - Zone 1 68,875 2,066

Pittsburg - Zone 2 164,318 4,930

Pittsburg - Zone 3 255,883 7,676

Reading 83,602 2,508

Scranton- Wilkes-Barre 126,025 3,781
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Exhibit RC-1

Comparison of Line Counts with 3% Thresholds for Each Carrier in Each Market 
Source: Verizon’s Supplemental Exhibit 1, Attachment A 

(Contains Proprietary Information)

MSA Name CLEC Name 
(Proprietary)

Verizon Line 
Count

(Proprietary)

CLEC Line 
Count

(Proprietary)

Meets 3% 
Trigger 

Threshold?
Allentown-Bethlehem-Easton 
(Density Zone 3)

3% Threshold: 4,061

*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** #** **# No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** Yes
*** *** *** No

Harrisburg-Carlisle 
(Density Zone 3)

3% Threshold: 4,060

*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*#* *#* *** Yes
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No

Lancaster 
(Density Zone 3)
3% Threshold: 1,790

*** *** *** No
*** *** #** Yes
*** *** *** Yes
*** *** #** No

Lebanon 
(Density Zone 3)
3% Threshold: 699

*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No

Philadelphia 
(Density Zone 1)

3% Threshold: 2,945

*** *** *** No
*** *** *** Yes
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No

*** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** **# *** No
*** *** *** No

Philadelphia 
(Density Zone 2)

3% Threshold: 14,593

*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** **# *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No

Philadelphia 
(Density Zone 3)

3% Threshold: 24,024

*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
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MSA Name CLEC Name 
(Proprietary)

Verizon Line 
Count

(Proprietary)

CLEC Line 
Count

(Proprietary)

Meets 3% 
Trigger 

Threshold?
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** No
*** *** *** No

Pittsburgh 
(Density Zone 1)

3% Threshold: 2,066

*** *** *** Yes
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** **# No
*** *** *** Yes
*** *** *** No

Pittsburgh 
(Density Zone 2)

3% Threshold: 4,930

*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No

Pittsburgh 
(Density Zone 3)

3% Threshold: 7,676

*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** Yes
*#* *** *** No
*** *** *** Yes
*** *** *** No

Reading
(Density Zone 3)
3% Threshold: 2,508

*** *** *** Yes
*** *** *** Yes
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No

Scranton-Wilkes Barre-
Hazleton
(Density Zone 3)
3% Threshold: 3,781

*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** Yes
*** *** *** No
*** *** *** No

Note: CLEC line count used for threshold comparison when available. Otherwise, Verizon line 
count used.
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Appendix 1
Curriculum Vitae of Dr. Robert Loube

Personal Data:

Home Address: 10601 Cavalier Drive 
Silver Spring, MD 20901

Home Phone: 301-681-4987

Office Address: 10601 Cavalier Drive 
Silver Spring, MD 20901

Office Phone: 301-681-0338

Email Address: bobloube@earthlink.net

EDUCATION:

Ph.D., Economics, Michigan State University, 1983
M.A., Economics, University of Massachusetts-Amherst, 1971
B.S., Economics, University of Maryland-College Park, 1969

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE:

April 2001-Present, Director/Economic Research, Rhoads & Sinon, LLC, Washington, DC.
Responsibilities include:

■ Prepared an Affidavit for the National Association of State Utility Consumer Advocates in 
the Matter of the Review of Commission’s Rules Regarding The Pricing of Unbundled 
Network Elements And the Resale of Service by Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers, WC 
Docket No. 03-173 (with David Gabel).

■ Provided expert advice to the Cities of Austin, Dallas, Fort Worth, and Hereford in 
Southwestern Bell Telephone Company’s Filing To Establishing Surcharges Resulting From 
District Court Remand Of PUC Final Order In Docket No. 18509, SOAH Docket No. 473- 
03-1620, Texas PUC Docket No. 26719.

■ Filed expert testimony on behalf of the Staff of the Nevada Public Utilities in The Petition of 
Nevada Bell for an Order commencing a proceeding to determine the costs and rates for 
unbundled network elements, Docket No. 00-7012.

■ Prepared comments for the National Association of State Utility Consumer Advocates in the 
Matter of Cost Review Proceeding for Residential and Single-Line Business Subscriber Line 
Charge Cap, FCC CC Docket No. 96-262 (with David Gabel).
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■ Technical Adviser to the Alabama Public Service Commission in the Generic Proceeding to 
Establish Prices for Interconnection Services and Unbundled Network Elements, Docket No. 
27821.

■ Prepared reply comments for the Office of the People’s Counsel of the District of Columbia 
In the Matter of Developing a Unified Inter-carrier Compensation Regime, FCC CC Docket 
No. 1-92.

February 2001, Consultant to Booz, Allen & Hamilton, Inc., Telephone Organization of
Thailand, Bangkok. Conducted a tariff and cost workshop for senior management and staff.

August-September 2000, Consultant to Nathan Associates, Inc., Ministry of Communications,
Jakarta, Indonesia. Drafted a report on best practices guidelines for Universal Service
Obligations, and conducted round-table with the Ministry of Communications staff and with the
U.S. telecommunications community.

May 1996-April 2001, Federal Communications Commission (FCC), Washington, DC.

• Industry Economist, GS 301-15, Established the criteria for choosing the universal service 
economic cost model. Evaluated and modified telephone cost models. Determined the input 
values used in telephone cost models. Served on the FCC staff of the Federal State universal 
service joint board. Developed and evaluated alternative universal service funding proposals. 
Developed and compared alternative jurisdiction separations allocators with regard to the 
impact of the allocators on state and federal jursidictional responsibilities. Reviewed orders 
of other divisions to ensure that those orders complement the tasks and mandates of the 
Accounting Policy Division. Conducted special studies for use by the Chairman, 
Commissioners, Bureau Chief or Division Chief. Provided technical economic advice to the 
division legal staff regarding common carrier operations and regulatory policy.

May 1989-May 1996, Public Service Commission of the District of Columbia, Washington, DC.

■ Director, Office of Economics, Supervised the preparation of staff testimony in telephone, 
electric and gas utility cases. Represented the Commission on the Staff of Federal State 
Separations Joint Board. Prepared and presented testimony on the strategic approach to 
electricity demand side management and least cost planning principles. Represented the 
Commission on the National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners 
Communications Committee’s universal service and access reform working groups. (July 
1993-May 1996)

■ Acting Director, Office of Economics. Prepared comments on FERC Notices of Proposed 
Rulemaking. Represented the Commission on the telephone quality of service and low- 
income program working groups. (February 1993-July 1993)

• May 1989-February 1993, Senior Telecommunications Economist, Public Service 
Commission of the District of Columbia, Washington, DC. Prepared and presented testimony 
regarding telephone rate structure, competition in telephone markets, embedded cost studies,
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and long run incremental cost studies. Represented the Commission on digital deployment 
and generic cost manual working groups. Represented the Commission on the staff of the 
410B Joint Federal/State Conference on Open Network Architecture. Prepared comments on 
FCC Notices of Proposed Rulemaking.

January 1986-May 1989, Indiana Utility Regulatory Commission, Indianapolis, Indiana. Positions 
included:

■ Econometrician. Developed electric energy and demand forecasts. Supervised consultants 
developing economic and demographic models for utility service territories. Represented the 
Commission on the Executive Committee on Intrastate Access Charges. (March 1988-May 
1989)

■ Principal Utility Analyst. Prepared and presented testimony regarding demand forecasting 
for telephone and electric services, cost of equity and long run marginal cost. Contributed to 
staff reports on energy and demand forecasts. Developed financial forecasts for electric 
utilities. (January 1986-March 1988)

September 1979-December 1984, James Madison University, Harrisonburg, VA. Taught 
industrial regulation, industrial organization (undergraduate and M.B.A.), intermediate 
macroeconomic theory, economic analysis (M.B.A.), and principles of macro and 
microeconomics. Positions included:

■ Assistant Professor. (September 1983-December 1984)

■ Instructor. (September 1979-June 1983)

November 1972-September 1975, Economist in the Office of Director, Bureau of Economic 
Analysis, Department of Commerce, Washington D.C.

SELECTED PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS:

Publications
“Universal Service: How much is enough?” Journal of Economic Issues, forthcoming June 2003.

“Public Interest Regulation, Common Costs and Universal Service,” in Edythe S. Miller and 
Warren J. Samuels (eds.), An Institutionalist Approach to Public Utilities Regulation, Michigan 
State University Press, 2002.

“Price Cap Regulation: Problems and Solutions,” Land Economics, Vol. 71, Number 3, August 
1995.

“Measuring the Total Service Long-Run Incremental Cost,” with David Gabel and Mark Kennet, 
Ninth NARUC Biennial Regulatory Information Conference, September 1994.
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“The Proper Use of Stand Alone Cost Studies,” Ninth NARUC Biennial Regulatory Information 
Conference, September 1994.

“State Experience in InterLATA Toll Deregulation,” with Labros Pilalis, Journal of Economic 
Issues, Vol. XXVIII, No. 2, June 1994.

“Price Caps and Cross-subsidization,” Eighth NARUC Biennial Regulatory Information 
Conference, Ohio State University, 1992.

“The Institutional Conditions for Technological Change: Fiber to the Home,” Journal of 
Economic Issues, Vol. XXV, No. 4, December 1991.

“Fiber to the Home: A Competitive Analysis,” Seventh NARUC Biennial Regulatory Information 
Conference, Ohio State University, 1990.

“The Return of the Electric Utility Holding Company and the Future of the Electric Supply 
Industry,” Tbwrrtfl/ of Economic Issues, Vol.XXIII, No. 2, June 1989.

“Impact of the National Appliance Energy Conservation Act on Residential Energy 
Consumption within a Service Territory,” with Katri Clodfelder, Sixth NARUC Biennial 
Regulatory Information Conference, Ohio State University,1988.

A Summary of Future Demand Trends and Capacity Plans for Major Electric Utilities in Indiana, 
with Wayne Lash et al, Public Service Commission of Indiana, Indianapolis, Indiana, 1987.

Electric Demand and Supply Planning for the State of Indiana, with Wayne Lash et al. Public 
Service Commission of Indiana, Indianapolis, Indiana, 1985.

“District Heating and Regulatory Reform,” Proceedings of the Seventy-Fifth Annual Conference 
of the International District Heating Association, Washington D.C.: IDHA, 1984.

State and Local Regulation of District Heating and Cooling Systems: Issues and Options, with 
Philip Kier et al, Argonne, Illinois: Argonne National Laboratory, 1981.

“Michigan’s Hydroelectric Potential,” The Michigan State Economic Record, Volume 20, 
Number 7 (July-August 1978), Division of Research, Graduate School of Business, Michigan 
State University.
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Lectures

“The Evolution of Telecommunications Pricing,” NARUC Annual Regulatory Studies Program, 
August 2002.

“Federal Restructuring of the Telecommunications Industry,” “Federal Universal Service 
Programs,” and “State Universal Service Programs,” NARUC Annual Regulatory Studies 
Program, August 2001.

“Cost Modeling in Telecommunications,” NARUC Annual Regulatory Studies Program, August 
1997-2000.

“Policy Issues Raised by Performance-Based Incentive Systems,” Public Policies Toward 
Competition in the Electric Power Industry, Wisconsin Public Utility Institute, October 1994.

“Cost Allocations in Broadband Networks,” NARUC Annual Regulatory Studies Program, 
August 1994.

“Pricing Concepts and the Control of Price Discrimination in Advanced Telecommunications 
Networks: Issues and Methods,” NARUC Advanced Regulatory Studies Program, January 1994.

“Cost Allocation in Advanced Telecommunications Networks: Issues and Methods,” NARUC 
Annual Regulatory Studies Program, August 1993.

“A Review of Incentive Regulation,” CAMPUT 7th Annual Regulatory Conference, Banff 
Canada, May 1993.

“New Social Contracts: Telecommunications Policy for the 21st Century,” Annual Meeting of 
the Association of Evolutionary Economics, January 1993.

“Modernization: Who Pays? Who Benefits?” NARUC Annual Regulatory Studies Program, 
August 1992.

“Who Determines the Costs and Prices for Access to the Infrastructure,” Telecommunications 
Policy: Agenda for the 21st Century Conference, The Michigan Divestiture Research Fund, 
March 1992.

“The New Social Contract,” State Policies for Developing the Telecommunications 
Infrastructure Forum, Wisconsin Public Utility Institute, December 1991.

“RBOC Strategic Reactions to Entry,” Atlantic Economic Society Annual Conference, 
Washington, D.C., October 1991.
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Staff Testimony

January 1986 to May 1996 presented expert testimony in eight formal cases to the Public Service 
Commission of the District of Columbia, and in 18 causes for the Indiana Utility Regulatory 
Commission.

PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATIONS AND INDUSTRY COMMITTEES:

■ Federal Staff of the Federal-State Joint Board of CC Docket No. 80-286 (June 1999-ApriI 
2001)

■ Federal Staff of the Federal-State Joint Board of CC Docket No.96-45 (May 1996-April 
2001)

■ Staff Subcommittee on Communications, National Association of Regulatory Utility 
Commissioners (NARUC) (1994-1996)

■ State Staff of the Federal-State Joint Board ofCC Docket No.80-286 (1991-1996)
■ Member, American Economic Association
■ Member, Association for Evolutionary Economics
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Attachment 2
Curriculum Vitae of Rowland L. Curry

Personal Information

Address: 1509 Meams Meadow Blvd
Austin, TX 78758

Business Phone: (512) 835-1585
Business Fax: (512) 835-1586
E-mail Address: rcurry @ austin.rr.com

Education, Registration

Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering
Texas Tech University, 1969

Registered Professional Engineer in Texas (#37301)

Professional Experience

Rowland L. Curry Consulting (dba Curry & Associates) August 2001 - Present
Partial Client Listing

Public Service Commission of South Carolina
The Utility Reform Network
Florida Public Service Commission
Regulatory Commission of Alaska
Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate
Rhoads & Sinon Group, Universal Service Administrative Company
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, Clark County, Nevada

Public Utility Commission of Texas; November 1976 - July 2001

Chief Engineer: Office of Policy Development; October 1995 - July 2001
Monitored FCC proceedings; prepared filings on behalf of PUC
Served as senior advisor to PUC Commissioners on telecommunications issues
Acted as Co-Arbitrator in significant DSL interconnection proceeding, Docket No. 20226
Appointed as representative on Federal-State Joint Board on Universal Service
Elected as Chairman of NARUC Staff Subcommittee on Telecommunications

Division Director. Telephone Division; October 1988 - October 1995
Managed staff of 40 in analysis of telecommunications issues and rate cases
Primary role on senior management team of advising Commissioners, Legislative staff

Division Director. Operations Review Division: October 1986 - October 1988 
Responsibility for management audits, financial analysis, telephone service quality 
Developed earnings monitoring program for regulated utilities
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Assistant Director. Telephone Division: February 1983 - October 1986
Supervised staff in evaluation of telephone cases
Testified as expert witness in formal proceedings
Case coordinator on Southwestern Bell rate case in 1985

Engineer. Engineering & Enforcement Division; November 1976 - February 1983 
Developed and implemented program for telephone service quality evaluation 
Testified as expert witness in cases involving service quality, depreciation, costs, tariffs 
Served as Chairman, NARUC Staff Subcommittee on Telephone Service Quality

General Telephone Company (now Verizon); January 1971 - October 1976

Transmission and Protection Engineer: San Angelo, Brownwood, TX 
Designed EAS and toll trunk transmission systems 
Designed, tested new systems and special circuits in Texas and Oklahoma 
Instructor, system-wide training program on Protection Engineering 
Served on two performance improvement task forces

Southwestern Bell Telephone Company; January 1970 - January 1971

PBX Engineer. Area Plug-In Equipment Coordinator; Dallas, TX
Designed PBX equipment additions and modifications
Area-wide coordination of plug-in channel equipment distribution network

Committees and Professional Membership

• Staff Subcommittee on Telecommunications; National Association of Regulatory Utility 
Commissioners (NARUC); Member, 1980 - 2001; Committee Chair 1997 - 2000.

• Staff Subcommittee on Telephone Service Quality; NARUC; Member, 1978 - 2001; Committee 
Chair 1980- 1988.

• Federal-State Joint Board on Separations; CC Docket No. 80-286; Staff 1984 - 1995.

• Federal-State Joint Board on Universal Service; CC Docket No. 96-45; Staff 1996 - 2001; State 
Staff Chair 1998-2001.

• National Society of Professional Engineers; Texas Society of Professional Engineers (current)

Selected Presentations & Lectures

• Fundamentals of Telecommunications Regulation-, Anchorage, Alaska; Jan 2003.

• State Regulation of Telephone Service Quality, Pennsylvania PUC Collaborative Hearings; July
2002.

• DSL Collocation-, National Conference of Regulatory Utility Commission Engineers (NCRUCE); 
West Yellowstone, Montana; June 2001.

• The Impact of Competition on Service Quality for CLECs and ILECs: The Texas Perspective; 
NCRUCE; West Yellowstone, Montana; June 2001.
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• Performance Measures: It’s About Time, It's About Performance1, NCRUCE; West Yellowstone, 
Montana; June 2001.

• State Regulatory Perspectives on Service Costs1, Jamaican Office of Utility Regulation Workshop; 
Ocho Rios; January 2001.

• State Cooperation in Enforcement1, The New FCC Enforcement Bureau: Nuts, Bolts & Strategies 
(Wallman Consulting); Washington, DC; September 2000.

• Advanced Services in Telecommunications1, NCRUCE; Ashland, Nebraska; June 2000.

• IP Telephony: Regulatory Issues for the New Millennium1, National Cable Television Convention; 
New Orleans, LA; May 2000.

• Telecommunications: New Technologies & Convergence; NARUC Annual Regulatory Studies 
Program; Michigan State University; East Lansing, MI; August 1999.

• Competition, Convergence, and Innovation (§706): A State Perspective; NARUC Annual 
Regulatory Studies Program; Michigan State University; East Lansing, MI; August 1998.

• Jurisdictional Issues: Creating a Medium of Reform Between the States and the FCC; ICM 
Universal Service Conference; Washington, DC; September 1997.

• Telecommunications Service Quality: Measurement and Policy Implementation; NARUC Annual 
Regulatory Studies Program; Michigan State University; August 1994.

Selected Publications

• Report to the Seventy-Seventh Texas Legislature on Intrastate Switched Access Charges; Texas 
PUC; 2001; Principal Author, Editor.

• Report to the Seventy-Seventh Texas Legislature on the Availability of Advanced Services in 
Rural and High Cost Areas, 2001, Contributor, Design Team.

• Report to the Seventy-Seventh Texas Legislature on the Scope of Competition in 
Telecommunications Markets, 2001, Major Contributor, Data Analyst, Editor.

• Report to the Seventy-Sixth Texas Legislature on the Scope of Competition in 
Telecommunications Markets, 1999, Major Contributor, Data Analyst, Editor.

• Report to the Seventy-Fifth Texas Legislature on the Scope of Competition in 
Telecommunications Markets, 1997, Major Contributor, Data Analyst, Editor.

• Examination of the Deployment of Fiber Technology, Public Utility Commission of Texas, 1994, 
Editor, Director.

• Report to the Seventy-Third Texas Legislature on the Scope of Competition in 
Telecommunications Markets, 1993, Editor, Responsible Director.

• Rowland Curry (Chapter Contributor), "Service Quality", After the Break-Up; Assessing the New 
Post-AT&T Divestiture Era, ed. Barry G. Cole (New York: Columbia University Press, 1991), 
235 -253.

• Report to the Seventy-First Texas Legislature on the Scope of Competition in 
Telecommunications Markets, Principal Author, Editor.
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Formal Testimony

Rowland L. Curry / Curry & Associates - Contracts

Docket # Date Telco Issues

FLPSC 
981834-TP 
990321-TP

4/2003 BellSouth, Verizon - 
Florida, Sprint

Power plant costs and rates for collocation.

PA PUC 
P-0093071 

5F002

2/2003 Verizon - Pennsylvania Proposed revisions to Verizon’s Network 
Modernization Plan; Broadband; DSL 
Deployment

TX PUC 
24919

7/2002 Verizon - Texas Rate band rebalancing (Testimony prepared, not 
filed; stipulation)

NV PUC 
01-2045

9/2001 Sprint-Centel E9-1-1 Cost Studies: Cost and rate analysis and 
testimony on behalf of Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Department and City of Henderson.

Public Utility Commission of Texas (see note following)

Docket # Date Telco Issues

6200 1985 Southwestern Bell Rate Design and Cost Methodology, Affiliate 
Payments, Various Rate Change Proposals

6254 1985 Southwestern Bell Toll Service Tariff changes
6252 1985 Southwestern Bell Personal Signaling Service
6181 1985 Southwestern Bell Customer Specific Pricing Tariff
5952 1985 Southwestern Bell Local Resale - Dobie Mall
6095 1985 AT&T Cost and Rate Analysis - Private Line and FX
5610 1984 General Telephone Rate Design; Access Charges, Toll, EAS,

Overall Issues
5540 1984 AT&T Long Distance, Operator Rates
5264 1983 General Telephone Public Policy (Arco)
5220 1984 Southwestern Bell Rate case; Cost Analysis and Rate Design;

Access, Toll, Private Line, Local Service, other 
rates

5141 1983 Southwestern Bell Inside Wire Policy
5011 1983 General Telephone Service Quality
4545 1982 Southwestern Bell Private Line Costs & Rates, Service Quality
4300 1982 General Telephone Service Quality
3920 1981 Southwestern Bell Private Line Costs & Rates
3340 1980 Southwestern Bell Depreciation, Current Cost, Rates, Svc Quality
3094 1980 General Telephone Service Quality
3040 1980 Mountain States Tel & Tel Depreciation, Current Cost, Service Quality
2565 1979 Trinity Valley Tel Co Service Quality
1529 1978 Continental Tel Co Service Quality
1503 1978 Mountain States Tel & Tel Service Quality
120 1977 Gulf States - United Service Quality

Note - This listing does not include all of the proceedings in which Mr. Curry was involved; nor all in 
which he filed testimony. He was involved in the direction, strategy, review, and resolution of a large 
number of other cases during his tenure in management positions at the Texas PUC from 1985 until 2001.

Appendix 2 - 4



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Re: Investigation into the Obligations of Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers to Unbundle
Network Elements 
Docket No. 1-00030099

I hereby certify that I have this day served a true copy of the foregoing document, the 

Office of Consumer Advocate’s Direct Testimony of Dr. Robert Loube and Mr. Rowland Curry in 

Proprietary and Non-Proprietary form, upon counsel for parties of record in this proceeding in 

accordance with the requirements of 52 Pa. Code § 1.54 (relating to service by a participant), in the 

manner and upon the persons listed below:

Dated this 9th day of January, 2004.

SERVICE BY E-MAIL & INTER-OFFICE MAIL

Kandace Mehllo, Esq.
Office of Trial Staff 
Pa. Public Utility Commission 
400 North Street, FI. 2 West 
Harrisburg, PA 17120

SERVICE BY E-MAIL & FIRST CLASS MAIL. POSTAGE PREPAID

Julia A. Conover, Esq.
William Petersen, Esq.
Verizon Pennsylvania Inc.
1717 Arch Street, 32N 
Philadelphia, PA 19103

Alan Kohler, Esq.
Wolf, Block, Schorr & Solis-Cohen 
212 Locust Street 
Suite 300
Harrisburg, PA 17101

Robert C. Barber, Esq.
AT&T Communications 
3033 Chain Bridge Rd., Rm. 3-D 
Oakton, VA 22185

Angela Jones, Esq.
Office of Small Business Advocate 
300 North Second Street 
1102 Commerce Bldg.
Harrisburg, PA 17101

Zsuzsuanna Benedek 
Sprint
240 N. Third Street 
Suite 201
Harrisburg, PA 17101

Michelle Painter, Esq.
MCI
1133 19th Street, NW 

Washington, DC 20036



Charles V. Gerkin, Jr. *
Regulatory Counsel 
Allegiance Telecom, Inc.
9201 North Central Expressway 
Dallas, TX 75231

Russell M. Blau 
Robin F. Cohn 
Philip Macres
Swidler Berlin SherefF Friedman, LLP 
3000 K Street, N.W., Suite 300 
Washington, DC 20007

Renardo L. Hicks, Esq.
Anderson, Gulotta & Hicks, PC 
1110 North Mountain Road 
Harrisburg, PA 17112

Richard U. Stubbs, Esq.
Cavalier Telephone Mid-Atlantic, LLC 
965 Thomas Drive 
Warminster, PA 18974

Tom Koutsky 
VP Law & Public Policy 
1200 19th Street, NW 

Suite 500
Washington, DC 20036

Ross Buntrock
Steve Augustine
Enrico Soriano
Kelley, Drye & Warren, LLP
1200 Nineteenth Street, NW
Washington, DC 20036-2423

Philip F. McClelland
Senior Assistant Consumer Advocate
Barrett C. Sheridan
Joel H. Cheskis
Assistant Consumer Advocates
Counsel for
Office of Consumer Advocate 
555 Walnut Street 5th Floor, Forum Place 
Harrisburg, PA 17101-1923 
(717)783-5048 *77517

*Service via e-mail with confirmed receipt. 
Service of hard copy waived.



Verizon Cross Exhibit _

TRO PARAGRAPH 499 AS MODIFIED BY ERRATA 
(FOOTNOTES OMITTED)

7^ 7

499. The triggers we set forth rely on the number of carriers that self-provision 
switches or the number of competitive wholesalers offering independent 
switching capacity in a given market. In both cases, the competitive switch 
providers that the state commission relies upon in finding either trigger to be 
satisfied must be unaffiliated with the incumbent EEC and with each other. In 
addition, they should be using or offering their own separate switches. This 
requirement avoids counting as a true alternative a provider that uses the 
switching facilities of the incumbent LEC or another alternative provider that 
has already been counted. Moreover, the identified competitive switch 
providers should be actively providing voice service to mass market customers 
in the market. They must also Identified carriers providing wholesale service 
should be actively providing voice service used to serve the mass market and be 
operationally ready and willing to provide wholesale service to all customers 
competitive providers in the designated market. They should-be capable of

commission. This prevents counting switch providers that provide services that 
are desirable only to-a-partkmlar segment of the marketr-Ideirtified carriers 
providing wholesale service should be actively providing voice service used to 
serve the mass market, and providing it at a cost and-quality and geographic 
scope that allow resellers to serve the entire market. However, the competing 
carriers’ wholesale offerings need not include the full panoply of services 
offered by the incumbent LEC.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

GENERAL

AT&T Corp. was incorporated in 1885 under the laws of the State of New York and has its 
principal executive offices at One AT&T Way, Bedminster, New Jersey, 07921 (telephone number, 
908-221-2000; internet address, att.com/ir).

AT&T is among the world's communications leaders, providing voice and data communications 
services to large and small businesses, consumers and government entities. AT&T and its 
subsidiaries furnish domestic and international long distance, regional, local and Internet 
communications services. AT&T's primary lines of business are AT&T Business Services and AT&T 
Consumer Services .

RESTRUCTURING

On October 25, 2000, AT&T announced a restructuring plan to be implemented by various 
independent actions designed to fully separate or issue separately tracked stocks intended to 
reflect the financial performance and economic value of each of AT&T's then four major operating 
units: Broadband Services, Business Services, Consumer Services and Wireless Services.

On July 9, 2001, AT&T completed the split-off of AT&T wireless as a separate, independently 
traded company. All AT&T Wireless tracking stock was converted into AT&T Wireless common stock 
on a one-for-one basis and 1,136 million shares of AT&T wireless common stock, held by AT&T, 
were distributed to AT&T common shareowners on a basis of 0.3218 of a share (1.609 as adjusted 
for AT&T's November 18, 2002 one-for-five reverse stock split) of AT&T Wireless for each AT&T 
share outstanding.

On August 10, 2001, AT&T completed the split-off of Liberty Media Corporation as an independent, 
publicly-traded company. AT&T redeemed each outstanding share of Class A and Class B Liberty 
Media Group tracking stock for one share of Liberty Media Corporation's Series A and Series B 
common stock, respectively.

On November 18, 2002, AT&T completed the spin-off of AT&T Broadband and simultaneously merged it 
with Comcast Corporation. Each AT&T shareowner received a distribution of 0.3235 of a share 
(1.6175 shares reverse split adjusted) of Comcast Class A common stock for each share of AT&T 
common stock outstanding.

On July 10, 2002, AT&T shareholders approved an amendment to AT&T's charter to create a new 
class of AT&T common stock, the AT&T Consumer Services Group tracking stock. AT&T has not 
determined when or whether these shares would be issued, which would be dependent on sufficient 
market receptivity and support.

On July 10, 2002, AT&T shareowners approved a one-for-five reverse stock split of AT&T common 
stock. The reverse stock split was effected on November 18, 2002 immediately after the 
completion of the spin-off of AT&T Broadband.

DESCRIPTION OF AT&T BUSINESS SERVICES

OVERVIEW

AT&T Business Services is one of the nation’s largest business services communications 
providers, offering a variety of global communications services to over 4 million customers, 
including large domestic and multinational businesses, small and medium-sized businesses and 
government agencies. AT&T Business Services operates one of the largest telecommunications 
networks in the United States and, through AT&T's Global Network Services, provides an array of 
services and customized solutions in 60 countries and 850 cities worldwide.
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AT&T Business Services provides a broad range of communications services 
and customized solutions, including:

- long distance, international and toll-free voice services;

- local services, including voice private line, local data and special 
access services;

- data and Internet Protocol (IP) services for a variety of network 
standards, including frame relay and asynchronous transfer mode (ATM);

- managed networking services and outsourcing solutions; and

- wholesale transport services.

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The communications services industry continues to evolve, both domestically and internationally, 
providing significant opportunities and risks to Che participants in these markets. Factors that 
have been driving this change include:

- entry of new competitors and investment of substantial capital in 
existing and new services, resulting in significant price competition,-

- technological advances resulting in a proliferation of new services and 
products and rapid increases in network capacity,-

- the Telecommunications Act; and

- deregulation of communications services markets in selected countries 
around the world.

One factor affecting the communications services industry is the rapid development of data 
services. The development of frame relay, ATM and IP networks as modes of transmitting 
information electronically has dramatically transformed the array and breadth of services 
offered by telecommunications carriers.

Use of the Internet, including intranets and extranets, has grown rapidly in recent years. This 
growth has been driven by a number of factors, including the large and growing installed base of 
personal computers, improvements in network architectures, increasing numbers of network-enabled 
applications, emergence of compelling content and commerce-enabling technologies, and easier, 
faster and cheaper Internet access. Consequently, the Internet has become an important new 
global communications and commerce medium. The Internet represents an opportunity for 
enterprises to interact in new and different ways with both existing and prospective customers, 
employees, suppliers and partners. Enterprises are responding to this opportunity by 
substantially increasing their investment in Internet connectivity and services to enhance 
internal voice and data networks.

In the United States, the Telecommunications Act has had a significant impact on AT&T Business 
Services' business by establishing a statutory framework for opening the local service markets 
to competition and by allowing regional phone companies to provide in-region long distance 
services. In addition, prices for long distance minutes and other basic communications services 
have declined as a result of increased competitive pressures, governmental deregulation, 
introduction of more efficient networks and advanced technologies, and product substitution. 
Competition in these basic communications services segments has more recently been based more on 
price and less on other differentiating factors that appeal to the larger business market 
customers, including range of services offered, bundling of products, customer service, and 
communications quality, reliability and availability.

Furthermore, the introduction and growth of wireless carriers has also put additional 
competitive pressure on traditional voice long distance business services, particularly in the 
"dial 1“ long distance, card and operator services segments.
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SERVICES AND PRODUCTS

VOICE SERVICES

Dong Distance Voice Services. AT&T Business Services' long distance voice communication 
offerings include the traditional "one plus" dialing of domestic and international long distance 
for customers that select AT&T Business Services as their primary long distance carrier.

AT&T Business Services offers toll-free (for example, S00) inbound services, where the receiving 
party pays for the call. These services are used in a wide variety of applications, including 
sales, reservation centers or customer service centers. AT&T Business Services also offers a 
variety of value-added features to enhance customers' toll-free services, including call routing 
by origination point and time-of-day routing. In addition, AT&T Business Services provides 
virtual private network applications, including dedicated outbound facilities.

AT&T Business Services offers audio and video teleconferencing services, as well as web-based 
video conferencing. These services offer customers the ability to establish automated 
teleconference lines, as well as teleconferences moderated by an AT&T representative. Customers 
can also establish a dedicated audio conference number that can be used at any time without the 
necessity of a reservation.

AT&T Business Services also offers a variety of calling cards that allow the user to place calls 
from virtually anywhere in the world. Additional features include prepaid phone cards, 
conference calling, international origination, information service access (such as weather or 
stock quotes), speed dialing and voice messaging.

Business local services. AT&T Business Services' local services provides a wide range of local 
voice and data telecommunications services in major metropolitan markets throughout the United 
States. Services include basic local exchange service, Centrex, exchange access, private line, 
high speed data, pay phone and video services. AT&T Business Services typically offers local 
service as part of a package of services that can include combinations of other AT&T Business 
Services offerings.

Integrated Voice/Data/IP Offers. AT&T Business Services provides a variety of integrated service 
offers targeted at business customers. For small businesses, AT&T's All in One(R) service 
offering provides both local and long distance services through a single bill, providing 
discounts based on volume and term commitments. The AT&T Business Network service offers a wide 
range of voice and data services through a single service package. Among the features of the 
integrated services offering is the ability to enable customers to electronically order new 
services, perform maintenance and manage administrative functions.

AT&T also has a number of integrated voice and data services, such as Integrated Network 
Connections, that provide customers the ability to integrate access for their voice and data 
services and thereby qualify for lower prices.

DATA AND INTERNET SERVICES

Private Line Services. AT&T Business Services’ data services include private line and special 
access services that use high-capacity digital circuits to carry voice, data and video or 
multimedia transmission from point-to-point in multiple configurations. These services provide 
high-volume customers with a direct connection to an AT&T Business Services' switch instead of 
switched access shared by many users. These services permit customers to create internal 
computer networks and to access external computer networks and the Internet, thereby reducing 
originating access costs.

Packet Services. Packet services consist of data networks utilizing packet switching and 
transmission technologies. Packet services include frame relay. Asynchronous Transfer Mode, or 
ATM and IP connectivity services. Packet services enable customers to transmit large volumes of 
data economically and securely. Packet services are utilized for local area network 
interconnection, remote site, point of sale and branch office communications solutions. While 
frame relay and ATM Services are widely deployed as private data networks, AT&T Business 
Services offers customers the ability to connect these networks to the Internet through services 
such as IP-enabled frame relay. High speed packet services, including IP-enabled frame relay 
service, are utilized extensively by enterprise customers for an expanding range of 
applications.
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AT&T Business Internet Services. AT&T Business Services provides IP 
connectivity and managed IP services, messaging, and electronic commerce 
services to businesses. AT&T offers managed Internet services, which give 
customers dedicated, high-speed access to the Internet for business applications 
at a variety of speeds and types of access, as well as business dial-up service, 
a dial-up version of Internet access designed to meet the needs of small- and 
medium-sized businesses. AT&T’s web services consist of a family of hosting and 
transactional services and platforms serving the web needs of thousands of 
businesses; these offers include AT&T Small Business Hosting Services.

MANAGED SERVICES AND OUTSOURCING SOLUTIONS

AT&T Business Services provides clients with an array of managed networking services, 
professional services and outsourcing solutions intended to satisfy clients' complete networking 
technology needs, ranging from managing individual network components such as routers and frame 
relay networks to managing entire complex global networks. AT&T Business Services also works 
selectively with qualified partners to offer enhanced services to customers.

Enterprise Networking Services. With a presence in 60 countries and 850 different cities, AT&T 
Business Services1 enterprise networking services provide comprehensive support from network 
design, implementation and installation to ongoing network operations and lifecycle management 
of solutions for networks of varying scales, including Local Area Networks, Wide Area Networks, 
and Virtual Private Networks. These managed enterprise networking services include applications 
such as e-mail, voice over IP, order entry systems, employee directories, human resource 
transaction and other database applications.

Web Services. AT&T Business Services' managed web hosting services support clients' hosted 
infrastructure needs from the network layer up to managing the performance of their business 
applications. With 18 Internet Data Centers located on three continents and with a capacity of 
more than 1.8 million square feet of web hosting space, AT&T's hosting services provide a 
flexible, managed environment of network, server and security infrastructure as well as built-in 
data storage. AT&T’s suite of managed hosting services includes application performance 
management, database management, hardware and operating system management, intelligent content 
distribution services, high availability data and computing services, storage services, managed 
security and firewall services. AT&T's web hosting services also include a range of business 
tools, including client portal services that provide managed hosting customers with 
personalized, secure access to detailed reporting information about their infrastructure and 
applications.

High Availability and Security Services. AT&T Business Services' high availability and security 
services deliver integrated solutions to ensure the continuous operations of clients’ critical 
business processes and availability of critical data and includes business continuity and 
disaster recovery services.

Outsourcing Solutions. AT&T Business Services provides customers consulting, outsourcing and 
management services for their highly complex global data networks, including networking-based 
electronic commerce applications.

TRANSPORT

AT&T Business Services provides wholesale networking capacity and switched services to other 
carriers. AT&T Business Services offers a combination of high-volume transmission capacity, 
conventional dedicated line services and dedicated switched services on a regional and national 
basis to Internet Service Providers (ISPs) and facility-based and switchless resellers. AT&T 
Business Services' wholesale customers are primarily large tier-one ISPs, competitive local 
exchange carriers, regional phone companies, interexchange carriers, cable companies and systems 
integrators. AT&T Business Services focuses on ensuring optimal network utilization through the 
sale of off-peak capacity. AT&T Business Services also has sold dedicated network capacity 
through indefeasible rights-of-use agreements under which capacity is furnished for contract 
terms as long as 25 years.
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SALES AND MARKETING

AT&T Business Services markets its voice and data communications services through its global 
sales and marketing organization of approximately 6,800 sales representatives. The sales and 
marketing group also uses several outside telemarketing firms. In addition, the AT&T Solution 
Center provides a centralized resource for complex customer requirements.

CUSTOMER CARE AND SUPPORT

AT&T Business Services’ customer care handles contracting, collections, ordering, provisioning 
and maintenance processes worldwide. In the U.S. there are 12,133 customer care associates at 47 
customer care centers, of which 41 are company-owned and 6 are operated by outside customer care 
firms. For larger and multinational customers and government agencies, AT&T Business Services 
provides customer care services and support through dedicated account teams. Through a dedicated 
customer care website customers may submit questions or initiate service requests, including 
ordering new services or submitting maintenance requests.

RATES AND BILLING

AT&T Business Services provides the majority of its services through long-term contracts.
General descriptions of AT&T Business Services’ services, applicable rates, warranties, 
limitations on liability, user requirements and other material service provisioning information 
are outlined in service guides that are provided directly to prospective clients or are 
available on AT&T’s website. Customers enter into contracts, based on the service guides, 
detailing customer-specific terms and information, including volume discounts, service bundling, 
extended warranties and other customized terms. Through combined offerings, AT&T Business 
Services also provides customers with such features as single billing, unified services for 
multi-location companies and customized calling plans. Most intrastate services are provided in 
accordance with applicable tariffs filed with the states.

NETWORK

AT&T Business Services' U.S. network comprises 54,000 route miles of long-haul backbone 
fiber-optic cable, plus another 19,600 route miles of local metropolitan fiber, capable of 
carrying high speed (10 billion bits or 10 gigabits per second) of traffic. AT&T Business 
Services upgrades this fiber network, recently completing the installation of over 12,000 new 
route miles of the latest generation fiber-optic cable capable of carrying 40 gigabits per 
second when that technology is commercially available. This new fiber capacity provides AT&T 
substantial capacity for potential future growth of network traffic with low incremental capital 
expenditure requirements. In addition, AT&T Business Services also has over 700 
points-of-presence in the continental U.S. with the majority served by high-speed fiber-based 
technology offering high-speed data connectivity to the majority of U.S. business centers.

The AT&T Business Services’ network also supports AT&T Consumer Services. On an average business 
day, the network handles more than 300 million voice calls, as well as 3,000 trillion bytes 
(terabytes) of data. On the voice network, AT&T Business Services employs its patented Real Time 
Network Routing to automatically complete domestic voice calls through more than 100 possible 
routes. The reliability of certain portions of the network is maximized by using Synchronous 
Optical Network rings that can restore service following a network failure within 50 to 60 
milliseconds by reversing the flow of traffic on the ring. On other routes, AT&T uses its 
patented FASTAR technology to route traffic around a fiber-optic cable cut using spare transport 
capacity elsewhere on the network. Most recently, AT&T has deployed Intelligent Optical Switches 
across the network to expand AT&T's ability to rapidly and automatically restore network traffic 
that might be otherwise affected by cable cut or equipment failure.

AT&T Business Services has been deploying Dense Wavelength Division Multiplexing (DWDM) 
technology that divides an optical fiber into multiple wavelengths, each now carrying up to 10 
gigabits per second of information. When DWDM was introduced in 1996, the technology could 
transmit only eight
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different wavelengths on a fiber strand. AT&T Business Services is currently 
deploying 64- and 80-wavelength DWDM systems, as well as systems capable of 
carrying 160 wavelengths per strand.

Since digital switching was introduced in the late 1970s, the basic element of the AT&T 
long-distance voice network has been a circuit switch which was specifically designed for 
long-haul use. Currently AT&T Business Services employs 143 of these switches in the network. 
AT&T Business Services has recently installed more than 60 of the latest high-performance 
carrier-grade voice switches that allow AT&T to accommodate the transition from circuit-switched 
to packet networks. AT&T Business Services will continue to have both circuit and packet 
switching technologies for some time.

In addition to its long distance network, AT&T Business Services has an extensive local network 
serving business customers in 90 U.S. cities. AT&T Business Services' local network now includes 
155 local switches and reaches more than 6,300 buildings with approximately 7,500 miles of 
fiber. This network provides voice service and high-speed data connections to business users. In 
order to maximize asset utilization, AT&T's local network also handles consumer traffic, 
providing most of the dial-in numbers for AT&T Worldnet Service.

AT&T Business Services also operates one of the largest IP networks in the United States. As a 
tier-one provider, AT&T has direct peering relationships with other tier-one providers, 
providing service to carriers that route through public peering sites. AT&T offers multiple 
access choices to the IP network, including dial-up, dedicated private line, and digital 
subscriber loop IDSL), as well as IP-enabled access through ATM and frame relay networks.

AT&T Business Services has deployed Internet Data Centers across the U.S., offering web-hosting 
services. AT&T Business Services has 18 Internet Data Centers, with an aggregate 1.8 million 
square feet of space, all directly connected to AT&T Business Services’ high-speed IP backbone.

INTERNATIONAL

AT&T Business Services has entered into a number of agreements and alliances with international 
communications companies in order to provide customers end-to-end network management 
capabilities and highly customized solutions. AT&T also has investments with international 
operations including foreign communications companies. AT&T is also building out its Global 
Network (AGN) in over one hundred cities in various countries.

AT&T Latin America Corp. On August 28, 2000, AT&T established AT&T Latin America in connection 
with the merger of Netstream, a competitive local exchange carrier in Brazil, followed by the 
merger of FirstCom Corporation. AT&T Latin America provides voice, data and Internet access 
services in five countries, Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia and Peru. AT&T owns an 
approximately 69% economic interest (approximately 95% voting interest) in AT&T Latin America. 
AT&T and Che Southern Cross Group, LLC have entered into a non-binding letter of intent, 
effective as of December 31, 2002, pursuant to which AT&T has agreed to sell to the Southern 
Cross Group, LLC AT&T’s entire common equity interest in AT&T Latin America subject to the 
negotiation and execution of definitive documents and receipt of any necessary approvals.

Alestra. S. de R.L. de C.V. AT&T also owns a 49% economic interest in Alestra S. de R.L. de 
C.V., a competitive telecommunications company in Mexico. Alestra offers domestic and 
international voice, data and Internet services throughout Mexico to business and residential 
customers. Alestra’s network comprises 3,500 route miles, with four interconnection points to 
AT&T Business Services' network at the U.S.-Mexico border.

Alestra is currently in a liquidity crises and is overdue in making its November interest 
payment on its existing notes. To address this liquidity crises and maintain its viability, 
Alestra is seeking to restructure its existing indebtedness to reduce the outstanding aggregate 
amount of the notes, to lower interest payments and extend the maturity on the notes. If 
Alestra's current restructuring proposal is consummated, the restructuring will be financed by a 
capital contribution from Alestra's shareholders in the amount of $80 million, with AT&T's pro 
rata share being approximately $39 million.
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SIGNATURES
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATIONS

AT&T CORP.

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

CERTIFICATION

I, David W. Dorman, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of ATT

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any 
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under 
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other 
financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
annual report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible 
for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures {as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we 
have:

a} designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that 
material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is 
being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure 
controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing 
dace of this annual report {the "Evaluation Date"); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our 
evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, 
based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the 
audit committee of registrant's board of directors {or persons performing 
the equivalent function);

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of 
internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability 
to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have 
identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in 
internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or 
other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
controls; and

6. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have indicated in 
this annual report whether or not there were significant changes in 
internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect 
internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, 
including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies 
and material weaknesses.

/s/ DAVID W. DORMAN

Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 26, 2002
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CERTIFICATION

I, Thomas w. Horton, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form I0-K of ATT

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any 
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under 
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other 
financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
annual report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible 
for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and lSd-14) for the registrant and we 
have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure chat 
material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is 
being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure 
controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing 
date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our 
evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, 
bastfd on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the 
audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing 
the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of 
internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability 
to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have 
identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in 
internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or 
other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
oontrols; and

6. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have indicated in 
this annual report whether or not there were significant changes in 
internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect 
internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, 
including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies 
and material weaknesses.

Is! THOMAS W. HORTON

Chief Financial Officer

Date: Match 28, 2002
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Want a choice for local telephone service? In many parts of the Unltefl States there's no such 
thing. But with Digital Phone service from AT&T Broadband, 1 million customers in 15 
markets have a higher-value alternative to regional telephone monopolies — proving that Co 
when companies compete, consumers win.

"The customers I talk to really 
like Our AT&T Digital Phone 
service," says Jack Follmer, 
an AT&T Broadband service 
technician in Pittsburgh. "It 
gives them the same quality 
as a regular phone call at a 
price that's bettor than the 
competition."

In this race, AT&T Broadband Digital Phone service darted out of the blocks like a gold medal >' 
sprinter. We nearly doubled our customer base in 2001, and by year's end we passed the 
million customers mark. Today, AT&T Broadband is the world's leading provider of phone 
service delivered by a cable network.

That's because AT&T Broadband Digital Phone service combines digital clarity, functionality; /- 
reliability and affordability. And it sets us apart from other cable companies who haven't Db 
invested in the network technology that makes cable telephony possible. <__
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